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Transmittal letter

18
18 September
September 2019
2019
Senator
Senator the
the Hon.
Hon. Bridget
Bridget McKenzie
McKenzie
Minister
for
Agriculture
Minister for Agriculture
Deputy
Deputy Leader
Leader of
of The
The Nationals
Nationals
PO Box
Box 6100
6100
PO
Senate
Senate
Parliament
Parliament House
House
CANBERRA
CANBERRA ACT
ACT 2600
2600
Email:
Email: Minister.McKenzie@agriculture.gov.au
Minister.McKenzie@agriculture.gov.au
Dear
Dear Minister
Minister
In
In accordance
accordance with
with the
the requirements
requirements of
of Section
Section 28
28 of
of the
the Primary
Primary Industries
Industries Research
Research and
and
Development Act
Development
Act 1989
1989 (PIRD
(PIRD Act),
Act), section
section 46
46 of
of the
the Public
Public Governance,
Governance, Performance
Performance and
and
Accountability
Accountability Act
Act 2013
2013 (PGPA
(PGPA Act)
Act) and
and the
the Funding
Funding Agreement
Agreement 2015-2019,
2015-2019, II present
present the
the Annual
Annual
Report
Report of
of AgriFutures
AgriFutures Australia
Australia for
for the
the year
year ended
ended 30
30 June
June 2019.
2019.
Under
Under section
section 46
46 of
of the
the PGPA
PGPA Act
Act and
and in
in accordance
accordance with
with the
the Public
Public Governance,
Governance, Performance
Performance and
and
Accountability
Rule
2014,
the
Directors
of
AgriFutures
Australia
have
prepared
and
Accountability Rule 2014, the Directors of AgriFutures Australia have prepared and approved
approved the
the
content
content of
of the
the Annual
Annual Report.
Report.
The
The activities
activities of
of our
our organisation
organisation are
are reported
reported against
against the
the objectives,
objectives, strategies,
strategies, outputs
outputs and
and
outcomes of
outcomes
of AgriFutures
AgriFutures Australia’s
Australia’s Strategic
Strategic Research
Research and
and Development
Development Plan
Plan 2017-22,
2017-22, and
and are
are
consistent
consistent with
with AgriFutures
AgriFutures Australia’s
Australia’s 2018-19
2018-19 Annual
Annual Operational
Operational Plan
Plan and
and Portfolio
Portfolio Budget
Budget
Statement.
Statement.
In
In accordance
accordance with
with the
the requirements
requirements under
under paragraph
paragraph 39(1)(a)
39(1)(a) of
of the
the PGPA
PGPA Act,
Act, the
the Annual
Annual
Performance
Statement
contained
in
this
Annual
Report
is
based
on
properly
maintained
Performance Statement contained in this Annual Report is based on properly maintained records,
records,
accurately
accurately reflects
reflects the
the performance
performance of
of the
the AgriFutures
AgriFutures Australia,
Australia, complies
complies with
with sub
sub section
section 39(2)
39(2) of
of
the PGPA
PGPA Act,
Act, and
and is
is in
in accordance
accordance with
with 16F
16F of
of the
the PGPA
PGPA Rule
Rule 2014.
2014.
the
Yours
Yours faithfully
faithfully

Mrs
Mrs Kay
Kay Hull
Hull AM
AM
Chair
Chair
cc:
cc:
Senator
Senator the
the Hon.
Hon. Jonathon
Jonathon Duniam
Duniam
Assistant
Assistant Minister
Minister for
for Forestry
Forestry and
and Fisheries
Fisheries and
and Assistant
Assistant Minister
Minister to
to the
the Minister
Minister for
for Agriculture
Agriculture
AssistantMinister.Duniam@agriculture.gov.au
AssistantMinister.Duniam@agriculture.gov.au
Mr
Mr Daryl
Daryl Quinlivan
Quinlivan
Secretary,
Secretary, Department
Department of
of Agriculture
Agriculture
Daryl.Quinlivan@agriculture.gov.au
Daryl.Quinlivan@agriculture.gov.au
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About AgriFutures
Australia
Our purpose is to invest in research
and development that is adopted
and assists rural industries to be
productive, profitable and sustainable.
We are guided by an ambition to be
known as an organisation that places
our people, our rural industries and
regional communities at the heart of
everything we do.

AgriFutures Australia
Annual Report
This document is AgriFutures
Australia’s Annual Report
to government and industry
stakeholders, covering the
organisation’s operations for
2018-19. It is aligned with
AgriFutures Australia’s Strategic
R&D Plan 2017-2022, Annual
Operational Plan 2018-19 and
the Australian Government’s
research priorities. It complies
with mandatory and best practice
reporting and includes:
• An operational report
•	 An Annual Performance
Statement
• Financial statements
•	 The Auditor-General’s report
on the financial statements.
Our deliverable
To maximise the knowledge
outcomes for industry and
government from our research and
development (R&D) investments
in new and emerging industries,
established rural industries and
national rural issues.

>

Enabling legislation

• Rate of return on investment

AgriFutures Australia’s enabling
legislation is the Primary Industries
Research and Development Act 1989
(Commonwealth Government of
Australia) (the PIRD Act).

•	Extent to which investments address
government and industry priorities
and optimise partnerships with
other research agencies.

Responsible Minister
for the current and previous
reporting period
Senator the Hon Bridget McKenzie
Minister for Agriculture
The Hon David Littleproud MP
Minister for Water Resources,
Drought, Rural Finance, Natural
Disaster and Emergency Management
Senator the Hon Jonathon Duniam
Assistant Minister for Forestry and
Fisheries.
Our key performance indicators
AgriFutures Australia evaluates
performance by measurement of the:

Certification
On 10-11 September 2019, the
AgriFutures Australia Board
authorised this Annual Report with
the following resolution:
Approved the Annual Report for
the year ending 30 June 2019,
which includes the following
certification: “That the Board accepts
responsibility under Section 46 of
the Public Governance, Performance
and Accountability Act 2013 for
the preparation and content of this
report of operations in accordance
with the Public Governance,
Performance and Accountability
(Financial Reporting) Rule 2015.

• Level of stakeholder satisfaction
•	Degree to which the objectives
of five-year research and
development program plans are
achieved

2018-19
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Chair’s report

Welcome to another AgriFutures Australia year in review,
in order to reflect the “broad church” that is AgriFutures
Australia, we have changed this year’s Annual Report
2018-19 into easier to read categories which highlight the
great work of our arenas and industries. We’ve focused on
some of our impressive case studies to show you the power
of what can be achieved when we work together.
Within this report, you will find evidence of how our levied
industries as diverse as chicken meat, rice, export fodder,
thoroughbred horses, honey bee and pollination, ginger, tea
tree oil, pasture seeds, buffalo, kangaroo, goat fibre and
deer and their bodies, panels and stakeholders guide our
research, development decisions and expenditure.
Another important component of our responsibilities is to
encourage and assist emerging industries who also have
a vision of a vibrant future for their product. This has been
a particularly productive and active part of our business
development and emphasis over the past year. Despite the
ongoing drought wreaking havoc and devastation across all
of agriculture, our industries have stayed positive and have
worked cooperatively with us to ensure a productive future
for our nation. The team at AgriFutures Australia value,
appreciate and applaud that dedication and commitment
to regional, rural and remote Australia.

Annual Report 2018-19
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All of us at AgriFutures
Australia are focused
on strengthening and
growing our levied
industries into the future.

In addition to dealing with the effects of a record domestic
drought, those who have invested their lives in agriculture
continue to face mounting challenges such as the volatility
around international export markets, changing climate
patterns and the need to operate in an ever changing
agritech space. These challenges have been the catalyst for
our focus not just on research, development and extension
but to venture into activities that will expose our industries
to a wider audience and to have their expertise recognised in
order to increase the value of their investment.
Over the year we have continued to participate in crosssectoral research and engagement, designed by our
industries to help the entire agriculture sector to navigate
and capitalise on the opportunities and overcome the
challenges facing the sector.
A snapshot of our work shows in 2018-19, AgriFutures
Australia managed 105 new projects across all four arenas.
The total investment of the new projects is over $15 million.
In February, AgriFutures Australia staged evokeAG. 2019
an event designed to position industries in Australia, New
Zealand and the Asia Pacific region as active players in the
international agrifood tech ecosystem and to reinforce that

we are the critical link to the Asia Pacific’s food future
sustainability. evokeAG. showcased Australian agriculture
as a modern and dynamic rural innovation system.
evokeAG. 2019 was a sell out flagship agrifood tech event –
designed by industry for industry. Outcomes from evokeAG.
2019 demonstrate the power of placing global agrifood
networks in the one place.
Across our own levied industries, particularly ginger,
tea tree oil and honeybees, we have been informed that
attending evokeAG. has led to a distinct change in their
conversations and attitudes towards the development
and implementation of technology and innovation. These
areas are now key themes in their strategic plans. We look
forward to welcoming you to evokeAG. 2020 to be held in the
Melbourne Exhibition Centre on 18 to19 February 2020.
All of us at AgriFutures Australia are focused on working
closely with our levied industries to strengthen and
grow their future through value add programs like the
AgriFutures™ Rural Women’s Award, the AgriFutures™
Horizon Scholarship and our AgriFutures™ Ignite Network
of innovative operatives that care and share their optimism
for the future of agriculture in its many forms. In April, we

held our first combined levied industry forum wherein each
of our industries were able to interact with each other and
the AgriFutures Australia team, the board and I found this
to be a particularly informative and valuable experience.
We are proud of the role our industries have played in our
many achievements outlined in this Annual Report and on
a personal level, I am honoured to be reappointed as Chair
of AgriFutures Australia and to be part of a Board and team
that embraces the challenges and looks optimistically to
the future of Australian agriculture.

Kay Hull AM
Chair
AgriFutures Australia
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To grow the long-term prosperity
of Australian rural industries.

Vision

Goal
Four distinct arenas define our
broad commitments in delivering
on the priorities of the Australian
Government, our stakeholders, and
our ultimate goal which is to create
thriving rural industries and vibrant
regional communities.

15

1

People and
Leadership

To support the people
driving the future
prosperity of Australian
rural industries and
regional communities
by providing them with
learning opportunities and
experiences.

Priorities

Outcome

Approach
1

Attracting capable people
into careers in agriculture.
Building the capability of
future rural leaders.

Rural industries are
equipped with skilled
people and the
leadership to grow
and prosper.

Listening and
influencing

2

2

National
Challenges and
Opportunities

To identify and nurture
research and innovation
opportunities that are
synergistic across rural
industries.

Informing debate on issues of
importance to rural industries.
Adapting new technologies for
use across rural industries.
Working collaboratively on issues
common across rural industries.

Challenges and
opportunities that
are common across
rural industries
are identified and
addressed.

Delivering
results

3
Partnerships
and collaborations

3

Growing
Profitability

To enhance the profitability
and sustanability of our
levied rural industries.
Regional communities and
the broader Australian
economy depend on
profitable farms.

Engaging industry participants
in determining RD&E priorities.
Investing in innovation that
assists levied industries to be
more profitable.
Delivering outcomes to maximise
industry uptake and adoption.

Industry participants
are confident that
their levy investment
is delivering value.
4
Performance
culture

4

Emerging
Industries

To support new and
emerging rural industries.

Supporting the early stage
establishment of high
potential rural industries.

High-potential
emerging rural
industries
established.

5
Efficient business
practices

Section 1
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Investment and
impact
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AgriFutures Australia’s
programs by arena

In 2018-19, AgriFutures
Australia managed 105 new
projects across all four arenas.
The total investment of the new
projects is more than $15m.

1

331

43m

$

Emerging
Industries

AgriFuturesTM
Rural Women’s Award

National Rural Issues

Rice

•	evoke

Chicken Meat

New and emerging
rural industries

AgriFuturesTM
Horizon Scholarship
AgriFuturesTM
Ignite Network

AG.

• extensionAUS

Export Fodder

•	Rural Safety and
Health Alliance

Honey Bee and Pollination

TM

Nationally coordinated
initiatives:
•	Climate Research
Strategy for Primary
Industries
•	Biocontrol of Weeds
•	Securing Pollination
•	Q Fever
•	Australian Biomass and
Bioenergy Assessment

Thoroughbred Horses
Ginger
Tea Tree Oil
Pasture Seeds
Smaller levied industries:
• Goat Fibre
• Buffalo
• Kangaroo
• Deer
• Ratite

No. of new
projects

New project
expenses

No. of current
projects

Total allocated
expense (all current
projects over the life
of the projects).

4

Growing
Profitability

Country to Canberra

15m

3

National Challenges
and Opportunities

startup.business

$

2

People and
Leadership

AgriFuturesTM
Rural Women’s Award
Alumni

105

17
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Measuring success
Arenas

Priorities

Key Performance Indicator

Measure Units

Target

People and
Leadership

Attracting capable
people into careers in
agriculture

Annual intakes of students into
agriculture and agricultural science
courses at Australian universities

Australian Council
of Deans Agriculture
annual survey

Building the capability
of future rural leaders

Percentage of participants who
feel their confidence as a leader
has increased significantly or
very significantly as a result of
participation in an AgriFutures
Australia sponsored activity

Survey of participants

Results 2018-19

Notes

1,800
graduates
per annum

1,500

Only have 2016 data.

80%

82%

Leadership program participants rate the
professional development experience at 84%
(very significant) with 90% likely to recommend
the program to others working in agriculture.

Expose over 100 Year 9 and
10 students, nationally, to
entrepreneurial thinking and
agricultural problems through the
startup.business partnership

100

129 students

Expose over 200 students,
nationally, to career
opportunities within
agricultural via school visits
conducted by AgriFuturesTM
Rural Women’s Award and
AgriFuturesTM Horizon
Scholarship recipients

200

22 schools were visited

Develop and launch a meaningful
Alumni program for AgriFutures™
Rural Women’s Award

Achieved KPI

Launched Alumni Lunch,
Alumni Directory and Alumni
Travel subsidy

Over 25 Alumni participants confirmed
within the first year of the Alumni

25

80

Grow the AgriFuturesTM Ignite Network
to over 500 members

500

1,582 members

Engage the AgriFutures™ Ignite Network
through one major capacity building event

1 event

AICD Course May 2019

Section 1
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Measuring success
Arenas

Priorities

Key Performance Indicator

Measure Units

Target

National
Challenges and
Opportunities

Informing debate on
issues of importance to
rural industries

Impact of AgriFutures Australia
sponsored studies on debates of
national significance to rural industries

Number of significant National
Rural Issues (NRI) studies
published each year

Adapting new
technologies for use
across rural industries

New technologies adapted for use
in Australian rural industries

Working collaboratively
on issues common across
rural industries

Engaging industry
participants in
determining RD&E
priorities

Growing
Profitability

Achieved KPI

Results 2018-19

Notes

5

18 Reports

37 projects conducted and 17 projects
developed under the Emerging NRI Forum.

Number of new
technologies entering
commercialisation
phase with private
sector participation

1 per annum

2

AgriFutures Australia enters into
commerical agreement for novel vaccine
development and stockfeed manufacture.

Evidence of collaboration between
RDCs in cross sector investment
initiatives

Number of
collaborative initiatives
involving other RDCs

10 per annum

15

AgriFutures Australia led 9 including 2
successful Rural RD&E for Profit program bids.

Percentage of growers
comfortable or very comfortable
paying the R&D levy

Annual Stakeholder
Survey

80%

81%

Levy payers reported being satisfied that their
R&D levy was being invested to achieve the
outcomes they expected.
Levy payers reported a mean satisfaction rating of
7.2 (out of 10) with 81% of levy payers rating their
satisfaction at 6 or more (out of 10).
The feedback from levy payers also indicated that:
* 52% agreed AgriFutures Australia has provided
R&D outcomes that have directly contributed to
improving the long term profitability of their farm
business; and
* 54% agreed AgriFutures Australia has provided
R&D outcomes that have directly contributed to
improving product quality.

Investing in innovation
that assists levied
industries to be more
profitable

Degree to which the objectives
of the industry-based R&D plans
are being achieved

Percentage of KPIs
met in each industry
program R&D plan

85%

96%

239 of 248 planned project milestones
satisfactorily met objectives.

Section 1

22

Annual Report 2018-19

23

Measuring success
Arenas

Priorities

Key Performance Indicator

Measure Units

Target

Growing
Profitability

Delivering outcomes
to maximise industry
uptake and adoption

Stakeholders rate the value
of AgriFutures Australia’s
information, products and
services as high or very high

Annual Stakeholder
Survey

75%

Achieved KPI

Results 2018-19

Notes

66%

Levy payers confirmed the importance of having
an industry services body like AgriFutures
Australia for Australian agriculture (mean
importance rating of 9.1 out of 10, with 59% of
levy payers rating the importance at a 10 out of 10.
More than six in ten levy payers rated the value
of the following AgriFutures Australia products
as good or excellent:
* 69% for the project summaries | 63% for
fact sheets | 63% for research reports |61% for
industry updates; whilst
* 66% rated the information, products, services
and support from AgriFutures Australia at 6 or
more (out of 10, average rating of 6.1).

The management strategies
and practices of levy payers are
strengthened through targeted
research, development and
extension activities with change
practices and adoption of new
technology a result

Emerging
Industries

Supporting the early
stage establishment
of high potential rural
industries

Number of new rural industries
reaching or exceeding $10m per
annum threshold

51%

Levy payers were asked about their experiences
with AgriFutures Australia in the last 12 months:
* 70% agreed AgriFutures Australia has allocated
funding to support the R&D they need
* 45% agreed AgriFutures Australia has
encouraged translating R&D to on farm practices
* 51% agreed AgriFutures Australia has added
value to their farm business.

Number per annum

1 per annum

Hazelnuts (approximately
$10 million to $12 million
based on area of planting)

AgriFutures Australia is supporting the
development of plans for hazelnuts.

Identify 20 Emerging Industries
with potential for annual
earning over $10m in Australian
agriculture and communicating
the development opportunities
to stakeholders

Published two global scans
for Emerging Industries

Twenty potential industries identified and
5 new industry investments.

Develop five collaborative
investments in Emerging
Industries R&D that are
supported and funded

Twelve collaborative
investments

Industries include coffee, redclaw, quinoa,
sea urchin, truffles, working dogs, honey,
camels and hazelnuts.

Section 1
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Highlights and
achievements in 2018-19
Arena

Arena

1

2

July

January

July

October

January

April

Held inaugural joint workshop
between 36 AgriFutures™ Horizon
Scholarship recipients and seven
AgriFutures™ Rural Women’s Award
State/Territory Winners in Wagga
Wagga, NSW.

The Brilliant Business Kids Festival
was the successful culmination
of the startup.business pilot
program. The program funded seven
Australian secondary schools to
take part in an exciting education
program across one term that
taught high school students in rural
and regional Australia how to solve
problems facing agriculture, using
innovation and an entrepreneurial
mindset.

AgriFutures Australia held its
fourth Emerging National Rural
Issues Forum, a mechanism to
engage with the Rural Research
and Development Corporations, the
National Farmers’ Federation and
the Department of Agriculture on
cross-sectoral issues. The Forum is
a key opportunity to work together
to discuss ideas for possible
collaborative action on large or
small issues that impact Australia’s
agriculture sector. Twenty-four
possible collaborations were raised.

AgriFutures Australia releases a
report addressing the knowledge
gaps in Australia’s agtech ecosystem
titled ‘Accelerating the development
of agtech solutions worth adopting’,
specifically how farmers interact
with, and adopt, agtech solutions.

AgriFutures Australia partners’ with
ten RDCs to form the Rural Safety
and Health Alliance to improve rural
health and safety and address high
risk areas in the workplace through
targeted research.

The Annual Partner Forum for
climate research was hosted
in Adelaide to establish new
collaborative activities assisting our
primary industries in adaptation
and mitigation of climate change
factors and to integrate climate into
business and policy.

October
AgriFutures™ Rural Women’s
Award Gala Dinner and National
Announcement held at Parliament
House Canberra. Queenslander,
Krista Watkins was announced as
the National Winner and Western
Australian Darrilyn Gordon as
Runner Up.

December
AgriFutures Australia was the
Diamond sponsor in the Country
to Canberra Power Trip. An
opportunity that supports 18
young women from regional and
rural Australia to travel to Canberra
to participate in a leadership and
development program.

April
Twenty-five passionate rural leaders
participated in Australian Institute
of Company Director’s Foundations
of Directorship program. This
opportunity was offered through the
AgriFutures™ Ignite Network.

August
Work officially began on delivering
a large, joint-RDC project on
community trust in Australian
agriculture. The national, multiyear program aims to uncover
and understand the issues and
drivers relating to community trust
in agriculture, and develop best
practice solutions to build, rebuild
and maintain trust. AgriFutures
Australia manages the program on
behalf of the nine RDC partners and
the National Farmers’ Federation.
Research commissioned by
AgriFutures reveals that freight
logistics are the largest single cost
item in the production of many
agricultural industries, amounting to
as much as 48.5% of farm-gate cost.
It highlighted the need for improved
freight infrastructure as well as a
strategic planning and regulatory
framework.

The AgChem Priority Access
Forum was held in Melbourne.
This important industry forum,
managed by AgriFutures Australia
in partnership with the plant
based RDCs and Croplife, was
an opportunity to engage with
commercial chemical registrants
on uses of agricultural chemicals to
address priority pests and diseases
for agricultural industries.

A ten-year climate research
partnership between 19 industry,
government and research
institutions moves into its third
phase. The Climate Research
Strategy for Primary Industries
(CRSPI) shifted to a renewed
strategic direction, set to boost
industry preparedness for
a changing climate through
coordination of RDE into emissions
reduction and climate adaptation.

December

February

AgriFutures Australia released the
latest instalment from the Horizon
Scanning series. This series of
reports is useful in spotting new and
emerging technologies for use in
agriculture.

AgriFutures Australia held evokeAG.
2019 at the Royal Exhibition Building
in Melbourne. The two-day event
was a sell-out event.

AgriFutures Australia participated
in the RDC Science Symposium
which was a showcase of impactful
research and initiatives being
undertaken by the RDCs.

April
AgriFutures Australia supports
the Farmers2Founders workshops
enabling primary producers to better
understand and adopt emerging
technologies, new business models
and embracing changing consumer
models.

May
AgriFutures Australia released a
report by Deloitte Access Economics
investigating freight costs and
Australia’s competitiveness on the
international commodities market.
Logistics are the largest single cost
item in the production of many
agricultural products.
A report analysing global trade
wars and their resulting impacts
for Australia agricultural produce,
particularly the trade disruption in
US and China, provided key insights
for Australian agricultural exporters
on the possible impacts and assist
producers to prepare, manage and
respond to possible changes in trade
flows in international markets.
AgriFutures Australia releases topical
Bilateral Trade Wars: Understanding
the implications for Australian
agriculture report completed by ITS
Global. AgriFutures Australia worked
closely with a number of RDCs and
the National Farmers’ Federation in
delivering this important information
on the impact of the trade wars of
Australian commodities.
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Highlights and
achievements in 2018-19
Arena 4

Arena 3
July

October

March

July

December

April

Project established to drive
oaten hay production through
improved agronomic and disease
management.

Tea tree industry members gain
understanding of the benefit
of cloning in advancing the
development of new varieties at
annual field day.

AgriFutures Australia, Southern
Cross University and the Australian
Tea Tree Industry Association
establish a partnership to secure
long-term investment for the
breeding of new Tea Tree varieties.

Biosecurity plan developed
for coffee to prepare for exotic
plant pests.

Best practice recommendations
for alpaca meat identifies clear
pre-slaughter handling and carcass
processing techniques for enhancing
eating quality.

November

Annual Rice Field Day was
conducted with approximately 250
growers and industry members
attending. The day focused on what
growers can do now to improve
productivity and the impact of
the continuing dry conditions on
mental health of the community.

The newly appointed AgriFutures™
Emerging Industries Advisory Panel
has assessed 50 applications
under this EOI and AgriFutures
is currently consulting with
selected partner industries. As the
discussions progress, AgriFutures
Australia will seek applications
from research providers to address
key industry challenges.

August
Program established for an
environmental framework to
guide the development of new
and redevelopment of established
chicken meat farms.
Rice industry members
increase their understanding of
management options to improve
productivity at the annual rice
research RD&E update event.

September
RD&E Advisory Panel Chairs
develop the connection between
the AgriFutures Australia levied
industries at Melbourne meeting.
Development of new health
benefits messaging to drive
domestic consumption and
productivity of Australian ginger.

Additional opportunities for
improved pasture seed harvester
development identified following
industry consultation in first stage
of project.

January
New information and biosecurity is
made available for smaller animal
industries to prepare for exotic
animal disease.

June
AgriFutures Australia released
report which recommends
strategies to verify purity of
Australian honey.
Report emphasises the positive
impact of the thoroughbred horse
industry to the Australian economy.

August
The potential of Centipeda as
a valuable medicinal plant is
confirmed.

May

The potential of Centipeda as a
valuable medicinal plant with
medicinal benefits such as tonics
and skin treatments.

Practical methods developed for
plant production in tropical regions
to withstand cyclonic winds.

Truffle growers have access to
a new management guide that
assists in identification and
monitoring key pests and diseases
limiting production.

November

February

June

Producing the best quality
crocodilian skins in the world
supported by new research to
improve methods for skin cleaning
and reducing pathogen load.

AgriFutures™ Emerging Industries
Advisory Panel successfully
identified early phase development
for the scoping of a hemp variety
testing program and sponsored
the Industrial Hemp conference
to be held in Western Australia in
February 2020.

Kakadu plum identified as a native
food ingredient with valuable
bioactive characteristics including
as a food preservative.

March
Establishing a set of welfare
guidelines for game birds aims
to build community trust in niche
industries.
The AgriFutures™ Emerging
Industries Advisory Panel
commenced negotiations with
industry with a focus on insects,
hemp, redclaw, sesame, camel (meat
& milk), coffee and essential oils.
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AgriFutures Rural Women’s Award
TM

Goal

Outcome

Summary of program

Deliverable for 2018-19:

To support the people driving the future prosperity
of Australian rural industries and regional
communities by providing them with learning
opportunities and experiences.

Rural industries are equipped with skilled people
and the leadership to grow and prosper.

To build prosperous and sustainable rural industries,
we need rural leaders with the skills and knowledge
to make informed decisions about the future of their
enterprises and industries.

•		 AgriFuturesTM Rural Women’s Award

The AgriFutures™ Rural Women’s Award is Australia’s
leading award acknowledging and supporting the essential
role women play in rural industries, businesses and
communities. The Award provides a platform to inspire and
support Australian women to use and develop their skills
to benefit their industries and communities.

In 2018-19, the AgriFutures™ Rural Women’s Award
culminated with the Gala Dinner and National
Announcement at Parliament House on Monday,
15 October 2018. More than 500 guests including Alumni,
the private sector, industry, government and the media
were in attendance.

Over the past two decades, the Award has gained a
significant profile, and is recognised as a program of
influence among parliamentarians, industry and media.
Each state and territory winner receives a $10,000
Westpac bursary for innovative ideas and projects,
access to professional development opportunities and
Alumni networks.

The 2018 AgriFutures™ Rural Award National Winner was
Krista Watkins from QLD. Darrilyn Gordon from WA was
named Runner Up.

We believe that increasing and supporting the human
capacity to drive improvements in industry through
the adoption of RD&E outcomes and innovation is just
as important as the research itself.

Programs

•		 AgriFuturesTM Horizon Scholarship
•		 AgriFuturesTM Ignite Network
•		 AgriFuturesTM Rural Women’s Award Alumni
•		 startup.business
•		 Country to Canberra

While new technologies, systems, processes and
business models are important, people are the critical
element in ensuring the growth of Australian rural
industries.
As such, AgriFutures Australia is committed to
supporting rural people through continued investment
in leadership, capacity and skills development
programs like the AgriFutures™ Rural Women’s
Award, AgriFutures™ Horizon Scholarship and the
AgriFutures™ Ignite Network.

1,203,008

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17

1,441,255

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

1,331,437

$

Total program
expenses
2018–19

Applications for the 2019 AgriFutures™ Rural Women’s
Award opened on Monday, 3 September 2018 and closed
on Wednesday, 31 October 2018. Applications for NT
closed on Sunday, 27 January 2019. A total number of
101 applications were received.

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Increase applications for the program

The number of 2019 applications reached 101, an increase from 89 applications
in 2018.

Hold a four-day professional
development workshop

The 2018 AgriFuturesTM Rural Women’s Award state/territory winners came
together in July 2019 to participate in a workshop in Wagga Wagga, NSW in
conjunction with Horizon Scholars.

Host a sell-out Gala Dinner and
National Announcement event

A capacity crowd of 500 guests attended the event.

In the spotlight

2018 AgriFutures Rural
Women’s Award winner
TM

It has been an overwhelmingly successful year for Walkamin local
Krista Watkins, who was named the 2018 AgriFutures™ Rural
Women’s Award National Winner.

Waste crusader
Krista Watkin
embraces new
opportunities

Since taking home the prestigious
AgriFuturesTM Rural Women’s Award National
prize, Krista has turned her focus onto the
entire food industry and the issue of waste at
the farm gate.
Krista Watkins and husband Rob have built
the world’s first pharmaceutical-grade food  
processing facility – Evolution Industries –
which takes raw products such as bananas
and broccoli and transforms them into
nutritionally-rich flours.

“We get that excess produce
at the farm gate, which
is usually dumped, to the
customer. It’s the magic that
we make happen.”

Krista and Rob have designed a cooperative model where groups of farmers
can band together and process their
excess produce using Evolution Industries’
technology and expertise. The business has
experienced remarkable growth, expanding
into international markets and winning
sustainability and innovation awards in
Australia and overseas.
“We get that excess produce at the farm gate,
which is usually dumped, to the customer.
It’s the magic that we make happen. We
successfully commercialised into major
retail in four months – I think that’s a record!
“From processing design, identifying market
opportunities, product innovation based on
science and nutrition; we offer our services
to those seeking to implement a full vertical
integration model at the farm.”
Alongside the popular green banana flour,
the facility has now begun processing sweet
potato flour and broccoli powder which
Krista sells in major retail stores.

Krista’s interest in reducing waste and
finding uses for unsaleable produce has led
to partnering with distillery, Plantation Brew
Co. Together they are set to launch a range
of sustainably brewed products including
Sweet Potato Vodka and Green Banana Rum.
Krista is also currently working on an
Australian gifting website which will design
personalised Australian food hampers for
domestic and international markets.
Reflecting on her AgriFutures™ Rural
Women’s Award journey, Krista said the
professional development, the networks
and the Westpac bursary have allowed her
to not only break into new markets but have
given her the confidence to approach these
opportunities.
“I’ve accepted speaking opportunities at
various events, and these have provided me
with opportunities to grow my professional
network and meet many likeminded
individuals and organisations.”
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AgriFutures Ignite Network

AgriFutures Horizon Scholarship

TM

TM

Summary of program

Deliverable for 2018-19:

Summary of program

Deliverable for 2018-19:

AgriFutures Australia is committed to supporting the next
generation of leaders that will drive the future prosperity
of Australian rural industries and communities. The
AgriFutures™ Horizon Scholarship is awarded to students
studying an agriculture-related undergraduate degree or a
Science, Technology, Engineering, Maths/Finance (STEM)
degree with relevant majors aligning to agriculture.

The AgriFutures™ Horizon Scholarship applications opened
on Monday 7 January 2019 and closed on Friday, 1 March
2019. A total of 119 applications were received.

The AgriFutures™ Ignite Network is a program for
passionate rural leaders, innovators and entrepreneurs.
AgriFuturesTM Ignite Network members influence,
make changes, innovate and are interested in exploring
agribusiness trends. Their ideas and knowledge will shape
the future of agriculture and its long-term prosperity.

The aim for 2018-19 was to continually engage passionate
rural leaders in the AgriFuturesTM Ignite Network across the
following areas:

In partnership with industry sponsors, the AgriFutures™
Horizon Scholarship supports students enrolled in full-time
study at an Australian university by providing:
•

A bursary of $5,000 per year for the final two years of
their degree

•		 Professional development workshops
•		 Annual industry work placements aligned with the
scholar’s areas of interest and their sponsor’s industry

The Scholars had a busy year, with many of the students
seeking additional opportunities for networking and
experience within AgriFutures Australia events and other
industry events. There has been a proactive effort from
ABC and the National Farmers’ Federation (NFF) this year
to involve the Horizon Scholars in their programs – ABC
Trailblazers, the NFF Congress, Talking 2030 Pitches and
the NFF Leadership Program.
Horizon Scholars completed a two-week work placement
in late 2018 and early 2019. There has been a great variety
of placements, from finance and agribusiness settings to
placements in research and on-farm.

The AgriFutures™ Ignite Network is made up of two main
groups:
1. A Facebook group where members share information,
ideas, learning and development opportunities.
2. The AgriFutures™ Ignite Advisory Panel –10 members
who report directly to the AgriFutures Australia
Managing Director on trends, opportunities and 		
challenges facing Australia agriculture.

– Information and knowledge
– Ideas and collaboration
– Unlocking professional development and leadership
skills
– Uncovering emerging initiatives.
In 2018-19, consistent communications were the focus
for building the AgriFuturesTM Ignite Network. Members
contributed significantly, meaning opportunities were
regularly shared among the AgriFuturesTM Ignite Network.
The highlight of the year was bringing 25 AgriFuturesTM
Ignite Network members together in Sydney to participate
in the Australian Institute of Company Director’s
Foundations of Directorship. The three-day course ran from
Tuesday, 21 May to Thursday, 23 May 2019.

•		 Opportunities to network and gain knowledge at a
range of industry events.

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Hold a four-day professional
development workshop

The entire AgriFuturesTM Horizon Scholarship cohort came together in July 2019
to participate in a workshop in Wagga Wagga, NSW in conjunction with the 2018
AgriFuturesTM Rural Women’s Award state/territory winners.

Engage the AgriFuturesTM Ignite
Network through one major capacity
building event

25 AgriFuturesTM Ignite Network members attended the Australian Institute of
Company Director’s Foundations of Directorship course in May 2019.

Encourage the AgriFuturesTM Horizon
Scholars to speak to more than 200
people nationally regarding careers
in agriculture

The AgriFuturesTM Horizon Scholars performed a ‘Careers in agriculture’
presentation and primary school students received a ‘Where does my food
come from?’ presentation. These presentations were completed in
Term 4 2018 and Term 1 2019.

Grow the AgriFuturesTM Ignite
Network to more than 500 members

As of 30 June 2019, the AgriFuturesTM Ignite Network Facebook group
had 1,582 members.

Connect the AgriFuturesTM Horizon
Scholars to opportunities and building
their networks

The AgriFuturesTM Horizon Scholars attended or participated in ABC Trailblazers,
evokeAG., NFF Congress, Talking 2030 Pitches and NFF Leadership program.

The AgriFuturesTM Ignite Advisory Panel
as of June 2019:

Guy Coleman
Andrew Duver
Jessica Fealy
Joshua Gilbert
Susan Hall

Lucinda Hawkins
Simone Kain
Sally Leigo
Nicolas Lyons
Oli Madgett
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AgriFutures Rural Women’s Award Alumni
TM

Summary of program

•		 An online community to connect, inspire, share ideas,
information, opportunities and stories

The AgriFutures™ Rural Women’s Award Alumni program
focuses on fostering a vibrant and active community and
delivering tangible personal and professional benefits for
its members through engagement across three program
streams – Connect, Mobilise and Inspire.

•		 An online directory to access the skills and expertise of
Alumni

Deliverable for 2018-19:

•		 An Advisory Panel to ensure the Alumni program is
powered by Alumni, for Alumni.

The AgriFutures™ Rural Women’s Award Alumni program
was officially launched in July 2018. At that time,
AgriFutures Australia committed to creating:

•		 A travel subsidy program to encourage more Alumni
to travel to Canberra for the Gala Dinner and National
Announcement

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Develop and launch a meaningful
program for the Alumni

The official Alumni strategy was launched in July 2018. A number of activities
linked to this strategy have been delivered.

More than 25 participants
confirmed within the first year
of the program

The Facebook group was launched on Monday, 30 July 2018, As of 30 June
2019, there were 105 members. The Alumni are actively communicating
through this platform and sharing media activity featuring other Alumni.

Host an Alumni lunch
the day of the Gala Dinner

The Alumni Lunch was held at the National Arboretum in Canberra on
Monday 15 October 2018. There were 43 Alumni in attendance.

Launch the Travel Subsidy
to provide Alumni assistance to
attend the Gala Dinner and National
Announcement

The RWA Travel Subsidy was created for Alumni to attend the
2018 Gala Dinner & National Announcement. 12 Alumni accessed
the inaugural travel subsidy.

Launch the Advisory Panel

Applications for the 2019 Alumni Advisory Panel opened on
Monday, 24 June.

Host an online webinar

‘How to be an effective mentor’ was highlighted as the most desired skill the
Alumni wanted to learn about. A webinar was held on Tuesday, 18 September
2018 and attended by 9 Alumni, with 15 Alumni in total completing the
e-learning module. This training highlighted issues of insurance and liability
in the mentor-mentee relationship and received very positive feedback from
the Alumni who took part.

Develop a National
Alumni Directory

The Alumni online directory was officially launched at the Alumni Lunch in
Canberra on 15 October 2018.

2018 AgriFuturesTM Rural Women’s
Award National Runner Up
Darrilyn Gordon (WA).
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startup.business

Country to Canberra

Summary of program
AgriFutures Australia and startup.business have joined
forces to deliver an exciting education program to teach
high school students in rural and regional Australia how to
solve problems facing agriculture using innovation and an
entrepreneurial mindset.

Deliverable for 2018-19:
In 2018, 29 schools applied to be part of the startup.
business Pilot Program, from which the following seven
schools were selected:

The Pilot Program culminated with a Pitch Week from 17-23
September, where each school held an event for students
to pitch their ideas/solutions developed as part of the
program. The winning pitches from each school were then
selected to attend the Brilliant Business Kids Festival at
The University of Sydney on Sunday, 25 November 2018. All
pitches were based around an agricultural challenge and/
or opportunity.
After a successful pilot year, AgriFutures Australia and
startup.business have partnered again. Applications for
schools to receive first-year funding opened on Friday,
18 January 2019 and closed on Friday, 8 February 2019.

1. Kempsey High School, NSW – 21 students

The six schools AgriFutures Australia is supporting
in 2019 are:

2. Ulladulla High School, NSW – 25 students

1. Gympie State High School, QLD

3. Loxton High School, SA – 50 students

2. Manilla Central School, NSW

4. Wynyard High School, TAS – 13 students

3. Mount View High School, NSW

5. Gympie Secondary High School, QLD – 14 students

4. Kinross Wolaroi School, NSW

6. Pyramid Hill College, VIC – 17 students

5. Ballarat Grammar School, VIC

7. Boddington High School, WA – 12 students

6. Cleve Area School, SA

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Expose more than 100 Year 9 and 10
students to entrepreneurial thinking
and agricultural programs through the
startup.business partnership

More than 150 students from across Australia took part in the first Pilot Program
for AgriFutures Australia and startup.business.

Summary of program

Deliverable for 2018-19:

Founded in 2014, Country to Canberra is an award-winning
not-for-profit that runs nationwide programs providing
education, leadership and mentorship opportunities
to regional, rural and remote teenage girls. Country to
Canberra is a leading voice for young women committed to
strengthening rural communities into the future. In 2018,
AgriFutures Australia was a proud Diamond sponsor of
this important program.

In 2018, 18 young women participated in the five day
leadership program called “Country to Canberra Power
Trip”. AgriFutures Australia sponsored 10 spots on this
trip with young women travelling from all over Australia to
participate. The workshop commenced on 26 November
2018 and consisted of activities such as:
•

Public speaking training

•

A mental health and resilience workshop

•

A Leadership Development and “Life after school”
workshop.

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Create opportunities for cross
collaboration for Country to Canberra
to link to other AgriFutures Australia
programs.

Participants from AgriFuturesTM Rural Women’s Award, AgriFuturesTM Horizon
Scholarship, AgriFuturesTM Ignite Network and startup.business participated in
the Country to Canberra Power Trip workshop in Canberra.

Section 2

Arena

40

2

National Challenges and Opportunities

Annual Report 2018-19

41

National Rural Issues

Goal

Outcome

Summary of program

Priorities

To identify and nurture research and innovation
opportunities that are synergistic across rural sectors.

Challenges and opportunities that are common
across rural industries are identified and addressed.

1. Informing debate on issues of importance
to rural industries

Australian rural industries are faced with challenges
and opportunities that are both industry-specific and
common across rural sectors. Beyond the commodity
level, our rural industries require leadership to identify
and respond to national rural issues and enhance shared
benefits.

Research programs

This was the sixth year of the National Rural Issues
Program. The Program invests in research to inform
national policy development and debate on issues
important to rural industries. This includes taking
leadership on research where there may be cross-sectoral
and national interests.

Unlike other RDCs that represent one or a few similar
industries, AgriFutures Australia manages RD&E for a
diverse portfolio of plant and animal industries. As such,
it is uniquely placed to assist Australian rural industries
to prioritise and drive cross-sectoral RD&E.
Over the coming five years, AgriFutures Australia will
broker partnerships, facilitate priority setting and provide
advice to strengthen the national agricultural research
and innovation effort. It will also complement individual
industry RD&E by investing in research of cross-sectoral
value, in areas such as climate change, natural resource
management, and safety and welfare.

National Rural Issues:
•

extensionAUS™

•

evokeAG.

•

Rural Safety and Health Alliance

Nationally coordinated initiatives:
•

Biocontrol of Weeds

•

Securing Pollination

•

Q Fever

•

Australian Biomass and Bioenergy Assessment

•

Climate Research Strategy for Primary Industries

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes for 2018-19

Bilateral trade wars:
Understanding the
implications for Australian
agriculture

This report informed the agriculture sector of the economic implications for
agricultural produce, resulting from the US-China trade wars. It will assist Australian
producers to prepare, manage and respond to possible changes in trade flows in
international markets and inform how best to ameliorate the impacts of current and
potential trade measures in future.

The Program delivered a range of research aimed
at supporting policy and national decision making
by government and industry. This research included
engagement with stakeholder groups such as the
National Farmers’ Federation, the Australian Government
Department of Agriculture, the Department of Foreign
Affairs and Trade, the Australian Food and Grocery Council,
the National Rural Health Alliance and other Rural
Research Development Corporations.
Strong stakeholder engagement and involvement in these
research projects has helped identify key policy knowledge
gaps, and ensure that research outputs are relevant,
practical and able to be used by decision makers.

418,974

$

Intellectual property and related
legal issues facing the Australian
Native food industry

Over the past decade, awareness of the potential for the emerging native food industry
to contribute to the Australian economy and way of life has grown. In order to realise
this potential a number of issues need to be considered, including intellectual property.

Agriculture – A $100bn
sector by 2030

This work was undertaken by ACIL Allen and co-funded by nine RDCs. The report
was delivered in two phases – the first phase delivered an estimate of the current
growth trajectory of the sector and the second phase identified four drivers and four
risks the sector will likely need to manage if it is to reach the $100bn target by 2030.
The report will be published early in 2019-20 and be used to drive research and
development investment decisions.

Total program
expenses
2016–17

1,488,438

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

The Program delivered projects and reports across a range
of cross-sectoral issues including freight, trade, health and
safety, emerging technologies and agricultural technology.
The Program also delivered collaborative research corporation
activities and initiatives in agricultural and veterinary
chemicals, community trust and rural health and safety.
The results from research reports and other projects
undertaken as part of the National Rural Issues Program have
contributed to industry and government policy discussion and
debate on cross-sectoral issues influencing the sustainability
and profitability of Australia’s agricultural sector.
This work has also informed the future development of
the sector, particularly in projects that have identified
opportunities for continued growth as well as horizon
scans, which have been key to spotting emerging industry
and technology trends early and evaluating the potential
impact and benefits for Australian agriculture.

1,539,643

$

Total program
expenses
2018–19
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National Rural Issues

2. Adapting new technologies for use
across rural industries

3. Working collaboratively on issues common
across rural sectors

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes for 2018-19

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes for 2018-19

Horizon Scan

This report is part of a six-part Horizon Scan series conducted between 2016-2019
to forecast potential new and emerging technologies, and more recently, new and
emerging industries with the potential to be highly impactful in growing Australian
agriculture. The blue-sky findings are useful in communicating opportunities that exist
in other sectors of the Australia economy or overseas that may have relevance in the
context of the Australian agricultural sector.

Joint-RDC Community
Trust Program

Emerging technologies in
agriculture: Regulatory and
other challenges

The development and convergence of technologies in rural industries is occurring at
a faster rate than the related regulatory framework. Policy and regulation have not
necessarily kept pace with the rapid advancements in some technologies, and policy
makers must balance opportunities with issues like public safety. This project delivers
information to equip government, industry and RDCs with a better understanding of
regulations needed to manage the adoption and uptake of emerging technologies.

AgriFutures Australia works with nine RDCs and the NFF on a program to build,
rebuild and maintain community trust in the Australian agriculture sector. This work
contributes to a national narrative around community trust at a whole-of-sector scale.
The Program will provide industry with access to a suite of practical tools and products
designed to facilitate understanding of, and engagement in, monitoring, anticipating
and responding to shifts in the levels of trust the community has in Australia’s rural
industries. In 2018-19, work was undertaken by the University of Adelaide to scope
a large-scale community trust program for the RDCs. The roll out of the Program will
continue in 2019-20.

AgVet Chemical Forum

Development of a functional and sustainable system for growers to effectively share
their priorities for chemical access needs with other plant and animal producers, RDCs
and chemical companies.

Impact of freight costs on
Australian farms

This impact study provided analysis of the freight costs facing Australian farmers
when moving commodities from farm to processor, port and/or domestic market. The
domestic analysis combines with research from international agricultural supply
chains to provide a benchmark of Australia’s performance and its ability to compete on
agricultural transport costs at a global level.

Non-intentional farm
related incidents in
Australia

This work traces the non-intentional death and injury statistics over the 12 months
from January to December 2018. The report highlights the greatest risk areas and
tracks changes over time. This information is critical to understanding where the risks
for Australian farmers lie and whether efforts to ameliorate these risks are working.

Integrating NRM
with industry-led
swustainability

This report examines and builds the evidence base on the integration of the activities
of the Natural Resource Management regional bodies with industry-led sustainability
initiatives and identifies those areas of common value. The report also aims to identify
potential policy and program settings to facilitate and encourage greater collaboration
and integration for those common values.

Improving carbon markets
to increase farmer
participation

This report, undertaken by the Australian National University in partnership with the
Mullion Group, fills a knowledge gap relating to understanding the opportunities for
Australian agricultural producers to participate in carbon markets and the barriers that
are preventing these opportunities from being realised. It provides recommendations
on policy measures that can be used to mitigate these barriers and increase and
diversify agricultural participation in carbon markets.

Emerging technologies
in agriculture: Consumer
perceptions around
emerging agtech

The adoption of emerging technologies in Australian agriculture is expanding at a rate
greater than the consumer’s capacity to understand the associated opportunities. This
project provides an assessment of the top 10 emerging technologies with the greatest
potential impact across the agricultural sector to examine the real and perceived
barriers to technology adoption, and to ensure the agriculture industry is well equipped
to maintain social licence.

Farmers2Founders
initiative

Farmers2Founders (F2F) is a new farmer entrepreneurship program designed to
support Australian primary producers to initiate and manage emerging technologies
and new business models. F2F aims to close the gap between the agriculture and
technology communities. While in its pilot year, AgriFutures Australia has been a strong
supporter of the program to date and is working closely with partner industries to offer
participation in the program.
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extensionAUSTM

Deliverables for 2018-19

Positive collaboration

Summary of program

Deliverables for 2018-19

In 2018-19, AgriFutures Australia delivered:

AgriFutures Australia engaged with 12 of 15 RDCs, including
the Council of Rural Research and Development Corporations,
to deliver 13 projects, conduct three and co-fund an
additional three Rural R&D for Profit Program projects.

Born out of the Australian Government Rural RD&E for
Profit Program Extension and Adoption for Australian
Farmers and Fishers project and a pilot program based
on the eXtension model from the USA, the extensionAUS™
platform has evolved in the Australian context. It is led
by three partner organisations: AgriFutures Australia,
NSW Department of Primary Industries (NSW DPI) and
Agriculture Victoria.

In 2018-19, extensionAUS™ delivered:

•		 Four sponsored studies on issues of national
significance to rural industries and distributed
to key stakeholders through media releases and
publications
•		 Positive collaboration between Research and
Development Corporations, Government, industry
and the commercial sector in cross-sectoral
investment initiatives that positively impact the
rural sector
•		 Delivered one international agricultural technology
forum to lift the prosperity of Australian agrifood
industries that engaged people and business to share
ideas and connect. (Please read our evokeAG. case
study on pages 50-51).

Studies of national significance
In addition to the sponsored studies, five collaboratively
funded projects were also undertaken during the period
with engagement from 10 RDCs and the NFF.
This cross-sectoral work was initiated through the
Emerging National Rural Issues Forum, which is a
gathering of all the RDCs, the NFF and the Department of
Agriculture and Water Resources. The annual forum is an
opportunity to discuss and raise cross-sectoral projects
for collaborative action.
Now in its third year, the Forum has been responsible for
delivering close to 20 collaborative projects and initiatives
and supports direction-setting for the sector in terms
of identifying cross-sectoral opportunities and threats.
Examples of collaborative projects initiated as part of
the forum process include: Agriculture – A $100bn sector
by 2030, Improving carbon markets to increase farmers
participation, RDC Capacity Building Prospectus and the
Joint-RDC Community Trust Program.

AgriFutures contributed to the evaluation of impact at
the broader sector level through the Cross-RDC Impact
Assessment (May 2019), demonstrating the economic
impact of rural sector investment in RD&E with a total
present value of benefits for 11 project clusters at $8.44
billion. The results demonstrated that the investment
by the RDCs as a whole continues to deliver significant
benefits to Australian primary producers, government and
the broader Australian economy.

extensionAUS™ consolidates and organises existing
knowledge, tools and resources in an accessible way
so that they can easily be used to inform the design
and implementation of extension by public and private
providers.

In 2018-19, the Rural Safety and Health Alliance (RSHA) was
established with nine participating RDCs. A strategy was
endorsed to guide the development of RSHA activities and
investments in a range of initiatives that benefit Australia’s
health and safety record for agriculture and fishing
industries. Initiatives will begin rolling out in 2019-20.

A number of industries are represented on the digital
platform. In 2018-19, these communities included: apple
and pear (IPDM), dairy (automatic milking), poultry (chicken
meat), irrigation, bees (professional beekeepers), food
innovation, extension, Rural Women’s Network, precision
agriculture and young farmer business.

While AgriFutures Australia leads a number of crosssectoral, joint-RDC project and programs, it participates
in a number of other RDC initiatives including the Growing
Australia’s Digital Future Project run by the Cotton
Research and Development Corporation and the Plant
Biosecurity Research Initiative managed by Horticulture
Australia Limited.

This was an expansion from six communities. Foundation
partner GRDC has since worked with its own communities
to form an independent and industry-specific platform for
broadacre cropping.

In 2018-19, AgriFutures Australia also partnered with other
organisations, including the Australian Farm Institute and
Farmers2Founders, on projects outside of the RDCs.

•

47 people from five new Communities of Practice
attended a BootCamp induction to extensionAUS™ in
Sydney in September 2018 over two days

•

Five new Communities of Practice joined
extensionAUS™ in the financial year 2018:  
Australian Apple and Pear Integrated Pest and
Disease Management, Automatic Milking Systems,
Chicken Meat RD&E, Precision Ag and Professional
Beekeepers; bring the total on the site to ten
Communities of Practice

•

The Commonwealth Department of Agriculture joined
with extensionAUS™ to pilot three Communities
of Practice in the field of Biosecurity:  The Urban
Plant Health Network, Botanic Gardens Biosecurity
Network, NSW Peri-Urban Biosecurity Surveillance.
These are being coordinated by the extensionAUS™
partner Agriculture Victoria.
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Bilateral trade

New research shows uncertainty from ongoing bilateral
trade wars between China and the United States have
set the global trading environment back decades and
undermined Australian agricultural exports.

Roadmap to
navigating new
trading environment

A comprehensive AgriFutures Australia
funded report gives policy makers, industry
peak bodies and primary producers a
roadmap as to how this less predictable
trading environment may impact export
markets.

“While on the flip side, a prospective USJapan free trade agreement could negatively
impact the dairy industry. For other industries
such as wool, sheep and goat meat and
beef, the bilateral trade wars may not have a
noticeable impact.”

AgriFutures Australia Managing Director, John
Harvey said the ITS Global analysis, Bilateral
trade wars: Understanding the implications
for Australian agriculture, provides a firm
footing for policy creation.

“For other industries such as wool, sheep and
goat meat and beef, the bilateral trade wars
may not have a noticeable impact.”

“The findings show that unilateral moves
by the Trump Administration to renegotiate
existing trade agreements have threatened
World Trade Organisation (WTO) principles
of a rules-based trading system, creating
uncertainty for Australian agriculture.
“This robust analysis gives Australian
exporters the knowledge they need to take
a leadership role in attempting to restore
stability for agricultural commodities in the
current global trading environment.”
Released in May 2019, the report identified
a wide range of risks and opportunities for
Australia’s agricultural interests arising
from the current trade wars, finding some
Australian products are likely to fare better
than others.
“Australia’s dairy could potentially benefit
from trade opportunities with China on the
back of additional tariffs imposed on US dairy
products,” said Mr Harvey.

Mr Harvey said the take-away message
from the research is that trade wars breed
uncertainty.
“Uncertainty is bad for business and leaves
agricultural producers, traders and buyers
struggling to manage a shifting policy
landscape.
“As a medium-sized, open economy
dependent on trade to underpin economic
growth, Australia benefits significantly from
the confidence and predictability inspired
by the smooth operation of the international
trade regime.
“The longer this period of uncertainty
lasts, the more commercial decisions will
need to be made by Australia’s agricultural
stakeholders facing the prospect of sudden
and unpredictable policy changes at the
global level. This report will inform Australian
industry input on how best to ameliorate
the detrimental side effects of current and
possible future trade measures.”

Read the full report here:
www.agrifutures.com.au/product/bilateraltrade-wars/

“Uncertainty is bad for
business and leaves agricultural
producers, traders and buyers
struggling to manage a shifting
policy landscape.”
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evokeAG.

Summary of program

Some of the key program elements were:

By bringing together producers, agribusiness, investors,
government and international delegates evokeAG. aims to
drive a culture of innovation and investment in Australian
rural industries.

•

evoke was held for the first time in February 2019,
delivering a dynamic event that attracted 1,191 delegates
including several international delegations to connect
with producers, innovators, industry, government and 115
speakers, including 33 international speakers.

•

Startup Alley – the perfect platform for startups to
showcase their business to a room full of local and
international investors, corporates, government,
producers, researchers and other entrepreneurs

•

Future Young Leaders – identifies emerging thought
leaders within the agriculture and food industries in
Australia and New Zealand.

AG.

2,028,456

$

Total program
expenses
2018-19

Pitch Tent – 13 high quality pitches across three
streams – Investment Ready, Seed Funding and
Producer Problem

1,621,321

$

Total program
income
2018-19

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes for 2018-19

Receive 50 applications for Pitch Tent with
at least four international applications

A total of 57 applications for Pitch Tent were
received. Six of these were international.

Receive 15 applications for Startup
Alley with at least three international
applications

A total of 60 applications were received for Startup
Alley. Six of these were international.

Host four international delegations

evokeAG. hosted seven international delegations
from Israel, United States, China, New Zealand,
Japan, Singapore and the United Kingdom.

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes for 2018-19

Host 50 speakers across the entire
program including 10 international
speakers

A total of 115 people presented at evokeAG.
including 10 Future Young Leaders, six five-minute
Thesis participants and 12 Pitch Tent participants.
33 speakers were international.

Receive 10 applications for global
research thesis

A total of 15 applications were received.

Receive 15 applications for Future Young
Leaders with at least one international
application

A total of 20 applications were received. Two of
these were international.

Reach or exceed 650 delegates

A total of 1,191 delegates attended evokeAG.,
including speakers and media.

Connect 150 delegates through the event app

There were 230 Braindate connections, including
105 onsite meetings.

Total evokeAG. income and expenditure to
be within 20% of budget

This goal was met.

80% of partners and sponsors to rate their
experience and value of the contribution
of evokeAG. as high or extremely high

86% of partners and sponsors rated the evokeAG.
experience as very valuable or extremely valuable.

Host one venture capitalist roundtable meeting

A venture capitalist meeting was hosted on 20
February 2019, with 13 investors participating.
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evokeAG.

The best and brightest in agriculture planted seeds of
inspiration with a sold-out crowd at a first-of-its-kind event
held in Melbourne in February.

A rich harvest of
agriculture, innovation
and technology at
evokeAG.

Close to 1,200 delegates including
farmers, entrepreneurs and innovators
from 20 different countries filled the
city’s Royal Exhibition Building for
evokeAG. – the inaugural international
agrifood technology event powered by
AgriFutures Australia.
AgriFutures Australia Managing Director,
John Harvey said evokeAG. is the only
event of its kind in Australia, conceived
by industry professionals who saw a
need and filled it.
“With the help of like-minded experts
in the agrifood tech sector, AgriFutures
Australia decided to bring to life a
concept that places innovation at the
heart of the agricultural sector.
“Our desire was to highlight the great
things happening in this part of the
world, to inspire by hearing from
provocative world-leading thought
leaders and connect people across
the globe.”
Connecting Australian primary
producers with global insights, more
than 100 thought-leaders took to the
stage over the two days, each renowned
for changing the very notions of how
we will feed the world’s rapidly growing
population. In his keynote address, Cofounder and Chief Executive Officer of
AeroFarms, David Rosenberg affirmed
his commitment to the preservation and
health of the world’s water resources
and urged delegates to fundamentally
change the way they think about the
future of food and agriculture as a
matter of urgency.
Future agtech trends were highlighted
by Silicon Valley venture capitalist,
Spencer Maughan, who gave a
nuanced perspective on the shifting

landscape in the agrifood tech sector.
Estimated as a $100 billion industry by
2030 — rivalling Australia’s mining and
construction sectors – Mr Maughan
said greater investment flow is critical
for the industry’s success, but credited
agtech’s first batch of unicorns with
enormous potential.
evokeAG. also saw thirteen Pitch
Tent finalists take to the stage, with
participants going head-to-head in front
of a live audience, sharing their pain
points and agricultural challenges. From
barriers to bee production to the lack
of abattoirs with export accreditation,
the three minute pitches were met with
world-class propositions from a panel
of judges including Dr Christine Pitt,
Founder and CEO of the Food Futures
Company, Will Dalton from Agriculture
Victoria and Ben van Delden from KPMG
Australia.
Mr Harvey said the level of engagement
from a global audience, as well as
shared innovation insights are the real
measure of the event’s success.
“It’s tremendously exciting to see the
world’s brightest minds, innovators
and industry leaders take to the stage
sharing their stories; from automation
traceability from field to plate,
consumer-driven change through storytelling and provenance, robotics, and
biological discovery platforms.
“evokeAG. has created a new benchmark,
and one that will allow our farmers
and entrepreneurs the opportunity to
take charge and maintain our status as
one of the world’s leading agricultural
communities, armed with the latest
tools and strategies.”

“Our desire was to highlight
the great things happening
in this part of the world,
to inspire by hearing from
provocative world-leading
thought leaders and connect
people across the globe...”
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Biocontrol of Weeds

Summary of program

Deliverables for 2018-19

Project resources

The program aims to improve the long-term profitability of
primary producers by developing novel biocontrol solutions
that will reduce recurrent costs of control for farmers

Key deliverables for 2018-19 included:

AgriFutures Australia has been awarded a grant through the
second round of the Rural R&D for Profit program to deliver
the project called New Biocontrol Solutions for Sustainable
Management of Weed Impacts to Agricultural Profitability.

affected by the target weeds.
AgriFutures Australia has been awarded a grant through the
second round of the Rural RD&E for Profit program to deliver
the project called New Biocontrol Solutions for Sustainable
Management of Weed Impacts to Agricultural Profitability.
This project aims to improve the long-term profitability of
primary producers by developing novel biocontrol solutions
that will reduce recurrent costs of control for farmers
affected by the target weeds.
AgriFutures Australia has contracted three departments
of agriculture in NSW, QLD and VIC and CSIRO to undertake
the research. Research participants include CSIRO,
NSW DPI, QLD DAF and VIC DEDJTR, with a further 21
organisations engaged as funding partners.

•		 Application to release the sagittaria fruit
feeding weevil
•		 Hosting tests on bio-agents for prickly acacia, 		
cabomba, mother-of-millions, and ox-eye daisy.
•		 Hosting specificity testing for agents on cabomba,
fleabane, sowthistle (France), African boxthorn,
ox-eye daisy (Switzerland), mother-of-millions 		
(Madagascar), giant rat’s tail grass (South Africa)
and prickly acacia (Australia and South Africa).

1,833,099

Total program
expenses
2016–17

2,160,407

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

Grant funding

•		 A preliminary study of agents for silverleaf 		
nightshade in the US, prickly acacia in India and
novel fungi in giant rat’s tail grass.
Partner cash
contributions

The project will focus on 10 weeds of importance to many
different agricultural industries in Australia: African
boxthorn, cabomba, prickly acacia, sagittaria, silverleaf
nightshade, fleabane, sowthistle, mother-of-millions, giant
rat’s tail grass and ox-eye daisy.

$

In-kind
contributions

$6,230,437
Total project resources
$13,013,890

1,869,639

$

Total program
expenses
2018–19

$3,179,818

$3,603,635
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Securing Pollination

Summary of program

Deliverables for 2018-19

Project resources

This program aims to provide detailed scientific
information on pollinator effectiveness and densities,
bee movements and pollination distances. It is hoped
the assessment of pollinator habitats, particularly
foraging and nesting plants, will also assist in developing
strategies against the Varroa mite.

In 2018-19, AgriFutures Australa collaborated with project
partners and coordination of field research activities.

AgriFutures Australia has been awarded the grant through
the second round of the Australian Government’s Rural RD&E
for Profit program to deliver the project called Securing
Pollination for More Productive Agriculture: Guidelines for
Effective Pollinator Management and Stakeholder Adoption.

Australian agriculture and horticulture relies on pollination
from honey bees. It’s estimated that 65% of horticultural and
agricultural crops produced in Australia require pollination
services. Some of the most important questions and
concerns currently facing pollination-dependent industries
will be answered in an Australian first multi-million-dollar
research project.
This project will support collaboration between Australia’s
most knowledgeable bee and pollination researchers to
assess the contribution of pollinators to nine Australian
crops (apples, pears, lucerne, almonds, canola, melons,
blueberries, raspberries and mangoes), investigate reestablishing native vegetation to support pollinator food
and nesting resources, and use new technologies to
communicate the findings to farmers.

Field research activities progressed well throughout the
2018-19 fieldwork season including:
•

Conservation (reverse) auction opened for expressions
of interest in November 2018 and closed in March
2019. Three landholder information sessions were
held around target lucerne growing areas in SA and
information packs were written and distributed

•

Investigation of vegetation management and
engineering of pollinator habitat to support bee health
in temperate fruit crop growing areas of eastern VIC

•

Two full seasons of assessments in apples and lucerne,
which demonstrated the positive relationship between
crop yield in lucerne and quality in apples, and the
number of floral visitors during flowering periods

•

A standardised methodology being developed to
evaluate floral visitors in apple and their association
with resulting fruit quality across multiple production
areas in Australia.

In-kind
contributions
Grant funding

Partner cash
contributions

$5,255,000
Total project resources
$13,799,904

2,541,606

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17

2,800,906

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

1,977,543

$

Total program
expenses
2018–19

$3,409,447

$5,135,457

Section 2

56

Annual Report 2018-19

57

Q Fever

Summary of program

Deliverables for 2018-19

Q Fever is a disease of humans and livestock caused by
Coxiella burnetii bacterial infection. A research project
will develop a better understanding of factors influencing
the risk of Q Fever spread within and between Australian
ruminant livestock enterprises, and develop national
guidelines for an emergency response plan to be used in the
event of Q Fever outbreak in humans.

The project aims to develop a better understanding of
the risk of Q Fever spread within and between Australian
ruminant livestock enterprises; and develop national
guidelines for an emergency response plan to be used in the
event of Q Fever outbreak in humans.

Taking the ‘Q’ (query) out of Q Fever: Developing a Better
Understanding of the Drivers of Q Fever Spread in Farmed
Ruminants project will improve understanding of Q Fever
reservoirs, amplification and transmission pathways to help
direct biosecurity resources more efficiently. In turn, this will
reduce the burden of an extremely debilitating disease in
rural communities.

•		 Commenced bulk-milk sampling to determine the
prevalence of Q Fever among goat herds producing milk
for human consumption in QLD, NSW, VIC, TAS and SA

This project will also provide knowledge that can be used
to develop policies that will limit the likelihood of a large
and prolonged Q Fever outbreak in Australia. This will help
to maintain Australia’s position as an exporter of premium
agricultural produce.

The deliverables for 2018-19 were:

•		 Prepared a systematic review and critical appraisal
of sampling methods to detect Coxiella burnetii in the
environment and commenced laboratory studies to
further refine environmental sampling methods
•		 Published a paper investigating shedding of
Coxiella burnetii from does at the time of parturition
and its association with milk yield. Submitted a paper
for peer review, validating serological Coxiella burnetii
testing methods in bovine serum

•		 Engaged staff from QLD Department of
		 Agriculture and Fisheries, NSW DPI, VIC DEDJTR,
QLD Health, NSW Health, VIC Department of Human
Services, at a face-to-face workshop in March 2019
•

Showcased the project’s findings with a total of 10
presentations at three national and one international
conference

•		 Established the project’s social media accounts.

Project resources

In-kind
contributions
Grant funding

•		 Commenced a pilot macropod sampling study in
February 2019
•		 Administered a Knowledge, Attitude and Practices
survey to small ruminant veterinarians, and performed
preliminary descriptive analysis of the data

Partner cash
contributions

$514,500
Total project resources

359,899

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17

105,472

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

51,451

$

Total program
expenses
2018–19

$2,866,800

$735,000

$1,617,300
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Embracing agtech

Australian farmers are considered among the most innovative in the
world, but new research has uncovered barriers to agtech adoption.

Practical ways to
develop agtech
solutions worth
adopting

The AgriFutures Australia funded
report Accelerating the development
of agtech solutions worth adopting, by
advisory firm AgThentic, addresses the
knowledge gaps in Australia’s agtech
ecosystem, specifically in relation to how
farmers interact with and adopt agtech
solutions.

can better work together to achieve
mutual benefits.
“At AgriFutures Australia, we are on an
ambitious path to support the maturity
of the agtech ecosystem in Australia. Key
to this is ensuring the value of agtech is
recognised and the best products are
brought to market.

Acknowledging the barriers farmers
face interacting with agtech, the report
explores the push and pull factors
associated with agtech and highlights
opportunities for entrepreneurs,
farmers, researchers and the service
sector to understand the needs of each
group and build relationships to drive the
development of better technologies.

“Australia is on the cusp of realising the
opportunities agtech brings. To date
we have focused on the end product.
This report offers new insights into
the engagement model between end
users and startups, and highlights
opportunities to improve technology
development for the sector.

It also questions agtech value
propositions, suggesting they are
missing the mark, but digs deeper to
understand the challenges associated
with the complex agricultural
environment.

“We know digital technologies alone
hold the potential to increase the gross
value of production by over $20 billion,
an increase of 25 per cent. We’ve only
just begun to scratch the surface when
it comes to the benefits agtech can offer
our rural industries.”

The result is nine practical and
actionable opportunities that have
the potential to accelerate the
development of agtech solutions worth
adopting. These opportunities include
producers building awareness of
emerging technologies, entrepreneurs
communicating transparently about
what technology is being built and how
sector supporters can reduce barriers
for producers to experiment in agtech.
AgriFutures Australia Program Manager,
Research and Innovation, Jennifer
Medway said the report helps unpack
how all parts of the agtech ecosystem

Read the full report here:
www.agrifutures.com.au/product/
accelerating-the-development-ofagtech-solutions-worth-adopting

“We know digital technologies
alone hold the potential to
increase the gross value of
production by over $20 billion,
an increase of 25%.”
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Australian Biomass and Bioenergy Assessment

Summary of program

Plan for 2018-19

Australian farms and land managers produce
biomass that can be used for production of bioproducts or energy. Making the most of this resource
involves understanding where it is and developing
integrated regional solutions.
AgriFutures Australia manages a project with the
Australian Renewable Energy Agency (ARENA) to map
where the biomass resources in Australia are on the
Australian Renewable Energy Mapping Infrastructure
(AREMI). AgriFutures Australia also funds the
Biomass Producer website to showcase how regional
solutions are developing to make the most of these
available resources.

648,381

$

Workshop/forums in Sale, Bendigo and Swan Hill, Mildura (May
2019), Hamilton (April 2019), Ballarat and Ararat VIC.

546,114

$

Catalyse investment in renewable energy
sector from detailed information about
biomass resources across Australia
Total program
expenses
2017–18

Outcomes in 2018-19

Total program
expenses
2018–19

An industry forum was held at Lion-Heritage Cheese Factory in Burnie
TAS. This site has one of the largest Anaerobic Digesters in Australia.

Presentations during the development of the Collie Bioenergy Hub,
with several presentations to the Collie Futures steering group on the
potential for a bio economy industry based in Collie WA.

Further analysis work as part of the Valley Central Bioenergy Hub TAS.

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Communicate the existence of the
Australian Biomass and Bioenergy
Assessment (ABBA) on the Australian
Renewable Mapping Infrastructure (AREMI)

Hunter Bio-Valley Forum presented on biomass opportunities for the
Hunter Valley NSW, including an overview of ABBA.

Bioenergy Industry Development Forums in Balaklava and Mt Gambier
SA, opened by the SA Minister for Energy and Mining and scoped out
interest in a BioHub for the south east region of SA.

Continuation of SA Government activity around the Bioenergy Industry
Development Program (formerly Bioenergy Roadmap) for SA, including
seed funding to bring forward the development of bioenergy projects.

Partnered with the Circular Head and Wynyard local councils to deliver a
Bioenergy Forum in Smithton TAS. This forum generated genuine interest in
Bioenergy solutions across local industry and within both councils. The forum
also allowed local businesses with complimentary needs in the bioenergy
space to exchange details and begin a mutually beneficial dialogue.

The communication of the AREMI
website (https://www.nationalmap.
gov.au/renewables/) in 2018-19
provided access to renewable energy
and general information, with many
workshops undertaken across the
country. The ABBA project and the AREMI
is regularly mentioned in the media.
Many stakeholders, including potential
investors, large corporations, policy
makers, and biomass producers, are now
aware of the AREMI and use it

ABBA co-hosted with Department of State Development,
Manufacturing, Infrastructure and Planning (DSDMIP) a oneday industry forum at Maryborough in the Wide Bay area QLD in
early December 2018. The forum was attended by approximately
100 delegates from a range of industries and Local Government
organisations from across the Wide Bay region and beyond.

Integration of ABBA at the Australian National Field Days (ANFD) in
Orange NSW, as a component of a NSW DPI Bioenergy and Forestry stand.

The ABBA team also received the Bioenergy Innovation Award in the
Category of Bioenergy Research Leadership for the Australian Biomass
for Bioenergy Assessment Project at the 2018 Bioenergy Innovation
Awards during 2018-19.
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Climate Research Strategy for Primary Industries

Summary of program

Deliverable for 2018-19

The program is in its second year of a new three-year
research strategy.

The goal for 2018-19 was to confirm operational and
partnership arrangements for CRSPI 2017-2020 to
drive Phase 3 to develop and guide activities of industry,
governments and research providers.

The goal of the Climate Research Strategy for Primary
Industries (CRSPI) is to prepare primary industries for
adaptation to our changing and variable climate and
mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions from the sector
through collaborative investment and coordinated
response in primary industries RD&E.

Partner involvement was re-established with CRSPI
through a Partners Forum that considered Australian
agriculture in a changing and more extreme climate.

The role of CRSPI is to coordinate and communicate
the RD&E effort among partners in order to stimulate
collaboration and co-investment.
CRSPI has three focus areas: adaptation to a changing
and variable climate; emission intensity and markets; and
climate change in business and policy.

161,975

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17

7,241

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

44,196

$

Total program
expenses
2018–19

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Partner Forum

Re-establishment of the network across the 19 partner organisations within CRSPI.
The Partner Forum established 10 areas of interest across a broad range of the
primary industry sector from new technology through to impact on the financial sector.  
Development of research proposals within the partners to address the key priority
areas identified at the forum.  
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Climate research
collaboration

An eight-year climate research partnership is set to boost industry
preparedness for a changing climate.

Climate research heats
up with new strategic
direction.

For Australian primary producers, the
variability of the Australian weather
and climate is one of the most
difficult risks to manage.
Enter the Climate Research Strategy
for Primary Industries (CRSPI), a
partnership aimed at introducing
strategies and innovations related to
climate and climate change impacts,
adaptation and mitigation.
The eight-year climate research
partnership between industry,
government and research institutions
is moving into its third phase with a
renewed strategic direction set to
boost industry preparedness for a
changing climate.
AgriFutures Australia General
Manager Research John Smith said
the value for industry and community
lies in the collaborative nature of
the program.
“The unprecedented rate of change
makes collaboration even more
important, as the resources required
to address climate change are beyond
the capacity of any one organisation
to fund or implement.
“CRSPI provides a forum for
partners to share knowledge, draw
on capability and co-invest where
a collaborative response is the
most efficient and effective way of
addressing a particular research,
development and extension need.”

A Coordination Group has been
established to oversee CRSPI, Chaired
by NSW Department of Primary
Industries’ Jason Crean. It includes
representatives from the Australian,
State and Territory governments,
Research and Development
Corporations and CSIRO.
Dr Crean said the revised CRSPI
strategy will focus on industry
adoption and application of research
outcomes that build industry
preparedness.
“Through CRSPI we’re looking to
build the resilience of our primary
industries by making well informed
choices about responding to climate
signals and investing in the research
that’s going to make improvements
in industry productivity and
sustainability.”
The CRSPI partnership involves
the Australian, State and Territory
Governments, Rural Research
Development Corporations (RDCs),
CSIRO and universities and supports
the National Primary Industries RD&E
Framework which has been in place
since 2007.

“...we’re looking to build the
resilience of our primary
industries by making well
informed choices about
responding to climate
signals.”
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Collaboration
At AgriFutures Australia, we
understand that the key to
developing real and lasting
solutions for our rural industries
is to take a shared approach to
shared challenges. That is why we
collaborate with a range of industry
and government stakeholders
to develop and implement RD&E
initiatives with benefits across the
agricultural sector.
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Examples of AgriFutures Australia collaborations
across industries and the sector

The AgriFutures Australia Strategic Plan 2017-2022
reflects reflects our strong commitment to collaboration,
specifically focussing on cross-sector and cross-regional
approaches to research.
We believe that adopting a collective approach to RD&E not
only results in greater resources for individual projects, but
also helps to achieve a shared commitment to nationally
significant challenges such as biosecurity, climate change,
natural resource management and capacity building.

What

Who

Aim

Climate Research
Strategy for Primary
Industries

A joint initiative of rural RDCs, state
and territory governments, Australian
Government, DAWR and the CSIRO – 19 in
total.

To promote a strategic and
collaborative approach to
climate change RD&E for
primary industries.

Primary Industries
Health and Safety
Partnership

AgriFutures Australia, Australian Egg
Corporation (AEC), Australian Meat
Processor Corporation (AMPC), Australian
Pork Limited (APL), Australian Wool
Innovation (AWI), Cotton Research and
Development Corporation (CRDC), Dairy
Australia (DA), Fisheries Research and
Development Corporation (FRDC), Grains
Research and Development Corporation
(GRDC), Horticulture Innovation Australia
(HIA), Meat and Livestock (MLA), Sugar
Research Australia (SRA) and Wine
Australia (WA).

Healthy, safe and productive
working lives in the primary
industries through investment
in RD&E to drive sustainable
improvements to work health
and safety outcomes.

Rural Safety and
Health Alliance

AgriFutures Australia, Australian Eggs,
Australian Pork Limited, Australian
Wool Innovation, Cotton Research and
Development Corporation, Dairy Australia,
Fisheries Research and Development
Corporation, Grains Research and
Development Corporation and Meat and
Livestock Australia.

Healthy, safe and productive
working lives in the primary
industries through investment
in RD&E to drive sustainable
improvements to work health
and safety outcomes.

AgriFuturesTM Horizon
Scholarship

AgriFutures Australia, Dairy Australia,
AgriFutures Chicken Meat, Grains Research
Development Corporation, Cooton Research
and Development Corporation, AgriFutures
Rice, Australian Wool Innovation, Hort
Innovation, Australian Eggs, Meat and
Livestock Corporation, McCaughey
Memorial Institute and Westpac

To support the next generation
of agriculture leaders who will
take up the challenge of farming
for the future. In partnership
with industry sponsors, the goal
of the scholarship is to enhance
the future supply of graduates
available for employment in the
rural sector.

National cross-sectoral RD&E strategies
AgriFutures Australia plays a lead role in one of the national
cross-sectoral RD&E strategies. For the Climate Research
Strategy for Primary Industries cross-sectoral strategy,
AgriFutures Australia coordinates activities across
19 partners including the Australian Government,
state and territory governments, CSIRO and other RDCs.
A key deliverable in 2016-17 for the Climate Change
strategy was the development of new strategy to take
effect in 2017-18, and the coordination of partners.
AgriFutures Australia is also an active member of the Water
Use in Agriculture, Soils, Animal and Plant Biosecurity and
Animal Welfare cross-sectoral RD&E strategies.
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What

Who

Aim

What

Who

Aim

AgriFuturesTM Rural
Women’s Award

AgriFutures Australia, Westpac
Agribusiness, ABC Rural, Fairfax
Agricultural Media, RM Williams Outback
Magazine and state/territory governments.

To identify and support the
capabilities of emerging rural
women leaders to increase their
participation and contribution
to Australia’s primary industries
and rural communities.

Biomass Producer
website

AgriFutures Australia, Australian Bioenergy
RD&E Forum member agencies, Australian
and state government departments,
universities, relevant research and
development corporations, CSIRO and
Econnect.

To develop and manage a
knowledge hub website to inform
primary producers of their
opportunities in the bioenergy
supply chain.

ABARES Science and
Innovation Awards
for Young People in
Agriculture, Fisheries
and Forestry

AgriFutures Australia, ABARES and other
sponsors.

To provide recognition to
innovative scientific projects
that will contribute to
the ongoing success and
sustainability of Australia’s
agricultural, fisheries and
forestry industries.

Poultry Hub Australia

AgriFutures Australia, AEC and University of
New England.

AgVet Collaborative
Forum

AgriFutures Australia, GRDC, DA, HIA, CRDC,
AWI, SRA, WA, Forest and Wood Products
Australia, CropLife Australia and Animal
Medicines Australia.

To identify solutions to key
industry challenges in relation
to accessing agvet technologies,
and highlight areas of business
opportunity for agvet chemical
registrants by providing a
priority list of industry needs
and a process to identify
potential partnerships and coinvestment opportunities with
industry.

The Poultry Hub Australia was
established at the conclusion of
the Poultry CRC in mid-2017. The
key objective PHA is to provide
leadership in coordinating
collaborative projects
essential to the Australian
poultry industry’s long-term
sustainability and deliver
practical solutions in a nimble
and timely manner.

Feed Grains
Partnership

AgriFutures Australia, Chicken Meat Program,
AEC, GRDC, MLA, APL, DA, Pork CRC and Stock
Feed Manufacturers’ Council of Australia

Established to integrate and
identify collaborative research
and development initiatives
across participating R&R funding
agencies involved with the feed
grain and livestock supply chain.

Honey Bee and
Pollination RD&E

AgriFutures Australia Honey Industry
Association and HIA.

Support RD&E that will secure
a productive, sustainable and
more profitable Australian
beekeeping industry and secure
the pollination of Australia’s
horticultural and agricultural
crops.

Section 2

70

Annual Report 2018-19

71

What

Who

Aim

What

Who

Aim

Managing Climate
Variability Program

AgriFutures Australia, GRDC, MLA, CRDC,
and SRA.

To help primary producers and
natural resource managers
manage the risks and exploit
the opportunities resulting from
Australia’s variable and changing
climate.

Rural R&D for Profit
program – New
Biocontrol Solutions
for Sustainable
Management of
Weed Impacts
to Agricultural
Profitability

The project aims to improve
the long-term profitability of
primary producers by developing
novel biocontrol solutions that
will reduce recurrent costs of
control for farmers affected by
the target weeds.

Rural R&D for Profit
program – Improved
Use of Seasonal
Forecasting to
Improve Farmer
Profitability

AgriFutures Australia, GRDC, MLA,
CRDC, SRA, NSW DPI, Victorian DEDJTR,
Monash University, University of Southern
Queensland, Birchip Cropping Group,
Department of Agriculture and Food
Western Australia, South Australian
Research and Development Institute,
Bureau of Meteorology, and HIA.

The program aims to define the
critical seasonal climate risk
information needed by Australian
farmers and to improve
understanding of the usefulness
of seasonal climate forecasts
and how to incorporate these
into business decision making.
It also aims to provide seasonal
climate information that can
be tailored to individual needs,
and to improve seasonal climate
forecast skill in agricultural
areas.

GRDC, CSIRO, NSW DPI, QDAF, VIC
DEDJTR, PIRSA, SEQ Water, Shire of
Ravensthorpe, NSW Weed Biocontrol
Taskforce, North West LLS, NSW Office
of Environment & Heritage,Bundaberg
Regional Council, Gladstone Regional
Council, HQ Plantations, Goulburn Murray
Water Corporation, Murrumbidgee
Irrigation Ltd, Coleambally Irrigation
Cooperative Limited, Goulburn Broken
CMA, Murray LLS, USDA-ARS, Australian
Biological Control Laboratory, Wyong Shire
Council, NSW National Parks Service,
Central Murray County Council and
Murrumbidgee Landcare Inc.

Rural R&D for Profit
program – Taking the
‘Q’ (Query) out of ‘Q’
Fever

Meredith Dairy, University of Melbourne,
and University of Queensland, University
of Sydney, Australian Rickettsial Research
Laboratory, University of Adelaide,
Charles Sturt University and Goatvetoz.

This project will improve the
understanding of Q Fever
reservoirs, amplification and
transmission pathways to help
direct biosecurity resources
more efficiently. In turn, this
will reduce the burden of an
extremely debilitating disease in
rural communities.

Australian Pastures
Genebank

AgriFutures Australia, GRDC, AWI, MLA,
DA, and state departments of agriculture.

To acquire, document, conserve,
maintain and distribute plant
genetic resources of pasture
and forage species of actual or
potential value to Australian
agriculture.

Rural R&D for Profit
program – Securing
Pollination for
More Productive
Agriculture:
Guidelines for
Effective Pollinator
Management and
Stakeholder Adoption

AgriFutures Australia, HIA, University of
Adelaide, University of Sydney, University
of New England, Australian National
University, PIRSA, SA Department
Environment, Water and Natural Resources,
O’Connor NRM, Native Vegetation Council,
Trees for Life and Apple and Pear Ltd,
Lucerne Australia, SA Apiarist Association,
Northern and York NRM Board, Costa Group,
Australian Melon Association, Australian
Mango Industry Association, Terrestrial
Ecosystems Research Network, Greening
Australia, Almond Board of Australia,
Adelaide and Mount Lofty Ranges Natural
Resources Management Board, Apple and
Pear Growers Association (SA), Raspberries
and Blackberries Australia, Eco-informatics

This project will increase the
profitability and security of
pollinator dependent crops by
improving the health, diversity
and abundance of pollinators on
farms. It will do so by managing
and improving natural resources,
in particular critical food
resources to support managed
and wild crop pollinators, and
in doing so will manage and
mitigate the biosecurity risk
posed by the Varroa mite.

AgriFutures Australia Board Directors,
Dr William Ryan and Dr Anthony
Hamilton onsite at Prather’s Tea Tree
Plantation, Northern Rivers NSW.
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Growing Profitability

Goal

Outcome

To enhance the profitability and sustainability of
our levied rural industries.

Industry participants are confident that their levy
investment is delivering value.

Regional communities and the broader Australian
economy depend on profitable farms and industry.
There is a clear link between economic prosperity
and our capacity for innovation and uptake of new
technology. Rural industries that are well placed
to adopt new ideas and use technology to create
productivity benefits, are more likely to establish a
competitive advantage and are better structured for
sustainable growth.

Research programs:

That’s why AgriFutures Australia invests in research,
innovation and learning initiatives that enhance the
profitability and sustainability of the agriculture,
fisheries and forestry sectors.

•		 Tea Tree Oil

AgriFutures Australia supports rural industries with
an RD&E levy across a range of industries which
do not have a specific RDC such as Australian rice,
chicken meat, and honey bee industries.
AgriFutures Australia also supports farmers
producing export fodder, pasture seeds, ginger,
kangaroos, buffalo, goat fibre and deer.
AgriFutures Australia empowers our levy-paying
industry participants to shape RD&E priorities,
encourage industry uptake of innovation and
support our rural industries to adapt to changing
environments at operational, market and
regulatory levels.

•		 Rice
•		 Chicken Meat
•		 Export Fodder
•		 Honey Bee and Pollination
•		 Thoroughbred Horses
•		 Ginger
•		 Pasture Seeds
Smaller levied industries:
•		 Goat Fibre
•		 Buffalo
•		 Kangaroo
•		 Deer
•		 Ratite
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Industry Advisory Panels

The role of Industry Advisory Panels
AgriFutures Australia currently partners with eight key
levied agricultural industries for the delivery of RD&E
through Industry Advisory Panels. These panels perform
key tasks to guide and assist AgriFutures Australia with
investments, including:
1.

Advising on the industry requirements for research
and development through the development and
monitoring of RD&E Plans

2.

Advising on proposals for RD&E investment in
accordance with the objectives and strategies of
industry-specific RD&E Plans

3.

Monitoring, reviewing and advising on research
support for the relevant industry

4.

Advising on, and assisting in, the dissemination,
adoption and commercialisation of the results of
RD&E activities.

Industry Advisory Panels are representative of the RD&E
programs implemented by AgriFutures Australia. Panel
members are selected on a skills-basis and may contribute
with capacities in strategic management, governance,
industry-specific knowledge, science, technology, leadership
and ethics. AgriFutures Australia encourages diversity
through age, gender and geographic location, working
with specific industry sectors to foster leadership skills to
support succession planning for future panel members.
Industry Advisory Panels typically meet quarterly or as

Industry Advisory Panel members (2018-19)*
business needs require. Panels convene for the purpose
of research proposal assessment in investment areas
identified in the RD&E Plan for their individual industry.
Members are encouraged to be advocates for their
industries, be active in extending research outcomes for
their industry, and maintain engagement within rural
communities and their business networks to better inform
AgriFutures Australia in service delivery.

Chicken Meat
Guy Hebblewhite (Chair)
Sheridan Alfirevich
Katherine Balding
Peter Chrystal
Anthony Keyburn
Susy Klein
Greg Underwood
Export Fodder
Peter Baker (Chair)
Sean Blechynden
Pat Guerin
Andrew Hayward
Munro Patchett
Steve Woods
Ginger
Shane Templeton
(Chair until October 2018)
Nicole Christodoulou
(Appointed Chair October 2018)
Jason Keating
Scott Kirkwood
Mike Smith
Henricus Stevens
Ethan Graham
(Appointed June 2019)
Honey Bee and Pollination
Dr Doug Somerville (Chair)
Tiffane Bates
Prof Saul Cunningham
James Kershaw
Dr Diana Leemon
Danny Le Feuvre
Sam Malfroy
Ashley Zamek

Pasture Seeds
Lisa Anderson
(Chair appointed April 2018)
David Brown
(Appointed April 2018)
Brian Field
(Appointed April 2018)
Joe Cook
Dr Mary-Jane Rogers

Rice
Drew Braithwaite
(Appointed Chair March 2018)
Michele Groat
Brian Dunn
(Appointed November 2017)
Russell Ford
Barry Kirkup
(Member until February 2019)
Laura Kaylock
(Appointed March 2019)
Garry Knagge
(Member until February 2019)
Dr Laurie Lewin
Dr Vito Burtardo
(Appointed November 2017)
Dr Ben Ovenden
(Appointed November 2017)
Dr John Sheppard
(Member until November 2017)
Antony Vagg
(Appointed March 2019)

Thoroughbred Horses
Nigel Perkins (Chair)
Catherine Chicken
Derek Field
Judith Medd
(Member until May 2019)
Tas Rielley
Jacqueline Stewart
Animal Industries*
(new, developing and maturing)
Retired panel in 2018
Dr Paul Donnelly (Chair)
Prof David Falepau
Douglas Jobson
Joanna Robertson
Dr Doug Stapleton
Dr Fiona van der Beek
Plant Industries
(new, developing and maturing)
Retired panel in 2018
Professor David McNeil (Chair)
Russell Glover
Christopher Joseph
Dr Prue McMichael
Dr Ian Southwell

Tea Tree Oil
Michael Flanagan (Chair)
Philip Butlin
Digby Gowns
Dee-Ann Prather Seccombe
Jerry Vanclay
*Advisory Panel members are appointed
at different times throughout the
financial year.  
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Rice

Summary of program
The Australian rice industry has the capacity to produce
up to 1 million tonnes of rice per annum and feed 20
million people per day. Over the past 20 years, the industry
has significantly improved its water use efficiency,
using 50 per cent less water than the global average per
kilogram of rice produced.

Success is likely to require cross-sectoral research to
achieve 1.5 t/ML by 2030 (Objective 1), new rice varieties
from the rice breeding program (Objective 2), new irrigation
management practices (Objective 3) and a comprehensive
extension plan (Objective 4).

The GVP for Rice in 2018-19 was $174 million, down from
$220 million in 2017-18 due to continued dry conditions
that significantly reduced water allocations in the rice
production areas of the southern Murray Darling Basin.

Deliverable for 2018-19

The program is now in its third year of the five-year
strategic plan. A review of the current strategic plan by the
advisory panel and industry was completed and approved
by the AgriFutures Australia board in September 2018.
The updated plan placed greater emphasis on the need
to improve water productivity for the industry, highlighting
that this may require cross-sectoral investment to achieve.
The plan focusses on RD&E to improve rice industry water
use productivity and achieve the Dry Rice target of 1.5 t/
ML by 2030. The plan also recognises that the adoption
of reduced irrigation rice production needs to deliver
commercially acceptable yields and quality with reduced
duration or intensity of irrigation.

4,107,219

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17

3,675,621

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

•		 To improve the productivity and sustainability of the
Australian rice industry through ongoing improvement
in water use efficiency to deliver gains in on-farm
productivity as well as contributing to environmental
and social sustainability in rice growing areas.

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Australian rice partnership II

Greater incorporation of molecular technology into the breeding program
to maximise the selection intensity for selected characteristics.

Traits of importance for aerobic
‘dry rice’ varieties

Establishment of field screening facilities to define critical plant
characteristics that can be utilised to determine variety suitability to
reduced irrigation management strategies.

Rice variety nitrogen and
agronomic management

Further refinement of phenology information for current varieties
resulting in changes to sowing recommendations that reduce the risk of
cold-induced sterility and will mean varieties mature in conditions more
conducive to higher grain quality.

In 2018-19, the program established research investigating
the key physiological characteristics important to rice
production with changed water management strategies,
continued development of new rice varieties and further
developed techniques for efficient fertiliser, water use, rice
management techniques and precision agriculture. It has
also supported the research community and future leaders
through PhD scholarships and leadership training.
There was no Research Open Call for new investment
proposals in 2018-19 due to current commitments and
RD&E investment, the continued dry conditions limiting
water allocation and the resulting reduction in the RD&E
levy income for the program.

3,679,158

$

Total program
expenses
2018–19

Changes to the Panicle Initiation (PI) decision support tool with the
inclusion of different water management practices that enable wider
application and more accurate PI prediction from the tool.
Panicle initiation nitrogen topdressing recommendations were modified
for Viand to maximise grain yield with reduced lodging potential.

Next generation healthy rice

Application of the new in vitro estimate of GI in rice to enable rapid
screening within a breeding program.

Rice pest and disease
biosecurity II

Investigation of the impact of early army worm infestation on rice grain
yield and the requirement for control. Evaluation of a new formulation
and establishment of application rates of an existing chemical for the
control of snails.

Rice weed management
in Australia

Evaluation of new herbicides for their selectivity and efficacy in reduced
irrigation (aerobic, drill seeded culture) and water seeded (pregerminated and dry sown) rice. Development of new programs for weed
control that deliver multiple modes of action concurrently on the same
cohort of weeds.
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Northern Australia Rice

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Improving mid-season
nitrogen management
of rice

Further development of remote sensing for the prediction of the mid-season nitrogen
topdressing requirement. Understanding the impact of the technology on accuracy of
nitrogen prediction and the management required for remote sensing to be applied
practically across the industry.

Supporting the research
community through PhD
scholarships

Nine PhD scholarship ‘top-ups’ were funded during 2018-19 across grain quality, heat
tolerance, allelopathic control of barnyard grass, management impact on grain quality,
potential health benefits of different grain types and bran.

Industry leadership
programs

Development of leaders across the industry conducted in collaboration with
Ricegrowers’ Association and SunRice. Programs for next generation, emerging and
established leaders were held.

Extension for improved
efficiency and
sustainability in the
rice industry

Coordination of on-ground extension activities to ensure adoption of best management
practices and research and development activities between researchers, agronomists
and growers. The project also provided a conduit for reporting grower and industry
issues back to AgriFutures Australia and the Rice Program Advisory Panel to ensure
RD&E investment provides productivity outcomes for the industry.

Deliverable for 2018-19
•

To improve the productivity of the Northern Australian
rice industry through on-going investment in variety
evaluation; development of the understanding of
the interaction between genotype, environment and
management; and identification of key pests and
disease and conditions favouring incursions.

Northern Australia Rice is funded through a
Commonwealth Government grant and does not involve
any Rice Program Levy funding.

In 2018-19, the program has delivered advancements
towards a new rice variety with improved disease
resistance, developed information on efficient fertiliser
management techniques, identified key pests and disease
that allow development of management packages and
increased understanding on the impact of heat on key grain
quality characteristics.

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Developing and building capacity

Delivery of new information on variety and management impact on grain
yield and quality to growers through field experiment and extension
program.

Developing high quality rice for
Northern Australia

Growing region identified as a key influencer of grain quality compared to
crop management strategies.

Developing varieties with
agronomic integrity/market
acceptance

EPR application made to IP Australia for release of new variety with
improved disease resistance. New potential varieties in four grain types
identified though the variety evaluation program.

Developing rice growing packages
for tropical north Australia

Nitrogen management strategies and fertiliser application rates to
maximise grain yield identified.
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Chicken Meat

Summary of program

Deliverable for 2018-19

Ninety per cent of Australians eat chicken meat at
least once a week with a third of Australians eating
chicken three or more times a week. Total consumer
expenditure related to chicken meat is estimated to be
$5.6 billion at retail.

•

The Australian chicken meat industry GVP was $2.78 billion
in 2018-19, compared to $2.72 billion in 2015-16.
The current five-year strategic plan is nearing
completion.
The current RD&E plan focussed on five key objectives:
•		 Deliver safe food and good animal welfare outcomes
•		 Manage the environment for sustainable
development
•		 Create foundations for the future, including capacity
and market insight
•		 Ensure research adoption via extension and
communication
•

Increase the productivity and efficiency of chicken
meat production.

To achieve significant benefits to the Australian
Chicken Meat industry within its available
resources through the implementation of
targeted and high-impact RD&E projects.

In 2018-19, the program built upon the foundations
created in 2017-18 with a focus on consolidation
and transition of the knowledge and information
that has come out of the RD&E program over the
past 15 years.
The year saw an increased focus on key areas
including extension outputs and capacity building
and internal environments including litter
management and litter resources. The National
Planning Guidelines Project Stage 1 looked at the
external environment of chicken production. Stage 2
is now in progress.
Work continued to consolidate information and
build extension outputs, including the launch of a
website and a quarterly industry RD&E newsletter.
Other key focus areas included food safety with the
program investments aligning with the Australian
Government’s Food Borne Illness Reduction
Strategy.

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Economic worth project

Economic information from primary and secondary sources highlighted the importance of the Australian chicken meat industry to state and Australian economies.

Streamlined planning and
development in the chicken
meat industry national planning
guidelines

The first stage identified important issues and a range of solutions for the
planning and development approvals process for meat chicken farms. The
second stage of the project is currently underway and will develop National
Planning Guidelines for the Australian chicken meat industry.

2019-2022 RD&E strategy
development

The three-year plan has been developed by AgriFutures Australia, in
consultation with Australian chicken meat industry stakeholders, to outline
the program’s RD&E objectives until June 2022. The National RD&E Strategy
has been considered in developing the plan.

Extension and communication
to industry

A dedicated website platform was launched in late 2018 as a repository for
information from the RD&E program and to ensure extension elements are
built into all research.

Review of fresh litter supply,
management and spent litter
utilisation

Fresh litter is a small but appreciable cost for industry, with costs increasing at
levels above the Consumer Price Index (CPI) over past decades.
The project identified five major issues with litter, relating to cost, quality, supply,
management and RSPCA standards (in order of significance). All issues are
interlinked, and can influence each other in different ways.

To ensure sufficient focus on animal welfare,
the program ensured that elements of animal
welfare were incorporated into every project with
a husbandry focus.
Through capacity building and stakeholder
engagement at all stages of the proposal and
project cycle, the number of rejected projects
dropped from 73% proposal rejection in 2015 to
a 29% rejection rate in 2018-19, with 84% of the
planned research priorities fulfilled in the current
2018-19 investment plan.
To ensure that the program can continue to improve
the opportunity to fulfil all research priorities for
the industry, capacity building with the research
community remains an area of focus.

3,502,523

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17

4,196,902

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

4,725, 532

$

Total program
expenses
2018–19
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Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Evaluating sanitisers for
widespread use in the Australian
chicken meat industry project

In April 2017, the Australia and New Zealand Ministerial Forum on Food
Regulation agreed the food regulation system is producing strong food safety
outcomes overall and identified three priority areas for 2017–2021 to further
strengthen the system.
One of these priorities is to reduce foodborne illness, particularly related
to Campylobacter and Salmonella, with a nationally-consistent approach.
Ministers requested the development of an Australian strategy, noting New
Zealand has an existing Campylobacter strategy.
The AgriFutures™ Chicken Meat Program runs twice yearly teleconferences to
present new information from our research program to industry and share new
developments between companies. Government regulators at state and national
level share information regarding food safety and quality assurance.

Nutrition program

Alignment of four nutrition projects to encourage cross collaboration towards
the development and refinement of two main commercial diets based on
Wheat and Sorghum.
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Export Fodder

Summary of program
The GVP for Export Fodder in 2018-19 was
$427 million, up from $404 million in 2017-18.
The program is in its third year of the five-year
strategic plan.

Deliverable for 2018-19

In 2018-19, the program established national
agronomy research to improve production and fodder
quality through improved variety selection, nutrition,
and disease management guidelines.
Key investments for the industry this year focussed
on the oaten hay-breeding program, improving the
understanding of agronomy for hay production,
chemical use integrity, and workplace health and
safety in the processing sector.

•		 Implementation of targeted and high-impact
RD&E projects to achieve far-reaching benefits to
the export fodder industry.

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

National Hay Agronomy
Project

Establishment of the program across WA, SA, VIC and NSW to improve
production and quality.

Improved oat varieties for
hay production

Seed increase of advanced line ready for release in September 2019.

Export fodder workplace
safety standards

Assessment of WHS across the processing sector enabling development of
strategies to mitigate identified risks.

Fodder Safe

Maintenance and improvement of the online chemical recording system following
consultation with hay exporting companies to ensure the system matches their needs.

503,318

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17

791,799

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

1,159,468

$

Total program
expenses
2018-19
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National Hay
Agronomy Project

Currently, gaps exist in Australian export fodder agronomic and
pathology knowledge. This includes hay variety responses to
nutrition and plant density, effect of time of sowing, impact of
diseases on hay quality and yield, optimum timing of disease
management intervention and the impact on farm productivity.

The 2019 cropping
season represents
the first full year of
field experiments for
the project with an
extensive network
of experiments
implemented across
WA, SA, VIC and
southern NSW.

The oaten hay agronomy
project aims to reduce the risk
to growers and exporters by
facilitating specific management
requirement guidelines through
a collaborative and targeted
approach to understand the
genetic-environment-management
interactions for all export fodder
producing areas of Australia.
The project will provide growers
with variety selection and
nutrition advice, updated disease
management guidelines for oaten
hay crops and will assess the role
of plant growth regulators as a tool
to manage lodging in high yielding
environments.
Foliar fungal diseases of oats
are widely documented, and this
research will outline the impact
of various diseases on yield and
quality of oaten hay, and provide
access to quality data supporting
improved management practices
and registration of new fungicides.

The 2019 cropping season
represents the first full year of field
experiments for the project with an
extensive network of experiments
implemented across WA, SA, VIC and
southern NSW. The experiments
include investigating the influence
of sowing date, plant density, variety
and nitrogen management on hay
yield and quality, and understanding
the role of Plant Growth Regulators
in hay production, fungicide and
disease surveys across the industry.
The project has been set up with
flexibility across the states and
regions to ensure the work being
carried represents a priority for the
growers at the locations.
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Honey Bee and Pollination

Summary of program

Deliverable for 2018-19

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

The GVP for Honey in 2018-19 was $129 million,
up from $117 million in 2017-18.

•		 To support RD&E that will secure a productive,
sustainable and more profitable Australian beekeeping
industry and secure the pollination of Australia’s
horticultural and agricultural crops.

Consider how to detect honey
adulteration

Determination of adulteration in honey, using two methods – isotope
ratio mass spectrometry (IRMS) and Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR)
spectroscopy. The inherent limitations of the methods were considered in the
development of a test appropriate to the Australian honey industry.

In 2018-19, the program delivered detailed reviews on the
chemistry of honey, the honey bee and pollination industry
levies, and the production and market potentials for propolis,
and also initiated discussion and supported the industry to
consider issues associated with access to floral resources
across Australia.

Understand the potential of propolis

Examination of the status of propolis production in Australia and New Zealand,
investigation of the market for Australian produced propolis and determination
of the potential for additional profitable Australian propolis production.
Profitable production of propolis by Australian beekeepers is possible, with a
market for Australian produced propolis that is forecast to grow. New Zealand
provides a useful model for the creation of a propolis sector in Australia.

Consider the current levy structure
and what possible changes to the
levy system may be considered
acceptable

The National Honey Levy is reliant on honey production, a static/possibly
declining sector of the industry, but collects no revenue from pollination
services, a growth area for the industry. The levy collects a flat cents per
kilogram rate from honey producers. It does not recognise current and
forecast growth in high value honey products nor capacity to pay. There are no
funds available for the promotion of the Australian honey category including
medicinal honey.

The program will see the completion of the 2014-2019
Five-Year Strategic Plan. The next five-year plan is
undergoing final editorial changes prior to publication.
The current plan focussed on reducing the incidence and
impact of pests and diseases on the beekeeping and
pollination services industries, increasing the productivity
and profitability of beekeepers, increasing understanding
of the role of flora in honey bee management,
understanding the role of pollination in delivering
more productive systems, and promoting extension,
communication and capacity building.

The program has also continued to research pests and
diseases, and generate advancements in the genetics of honey
bees. It has also supported industry development through
the sponsorship of state conferences across Australia and
continued support of the Cooperative Research Centre for
Honey Bee Products.

Viable options for honey bee industry levy reform are described in the report.

1,032,358

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17

620,595

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

932,056

$

Total program
expenses
2018–19

Industry capacity building through
sponsorship of state beekeeping/
apiarist association annual
conferences

Sponsorship was provided for conferences and meetings held by beekeeping/
apiarist associations based in QLD, TAS, WA, VIC, NSW and SA.

Development of the next five-year
plan for the AgriFuturesTM Honey
Bee and Pollination Program

A workshop with industry experts and AgriFuturesTM Advisory Panel members
was held to discuss issues and opportunities for the Honey bee and pollination
industry. A plan has been drafted for presentation to industry and to the
AgriFutures Australia Board for approval.
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Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Increasing the value of Australian
honey as a health food

The top two eucalypt honeys by volume of honey production across
Australia were chosen for this study –yellow box and stringy bark. Analysis
of some preliminary in vitro microcosm data revealed that in the presence
of honey, gut bacteria produce compounds with inhibitory effects against
a range of pathogens capable of infecting the gut and causing disease.
The effects on these gut pathogens have been studied and Salmonella
typhimurium, Escherichia coli and Clostridium difficile are susceptible
to the inhibitory compounds produced by the gut population in the
microcosms following the addition of honey.

Probiotic development for bees:
Analysing gut bacteria in
health bees

There is good correlation in the variation of bee gut bacteria in different
bees over time. From current sampling, researchers have noticed that a few
bacterial species seem to dominate in isolations from the bee gut. These
have an ability to inhibit chalkbrood for future testing in field experiments.
The researchers have presumptively isolated Melissococcus pluton, the
causative organism of European Foul Brood (EFB), as well as some secondary
bacteria that are associated with EFB and are currently characterising these
EFB bacterial isolates.

Investigating factors that influence
chalkbrood outbreaks in Australia

Samples were collected from chalkbrood-infected colonies and uninfected
colonies. Follow up assessments were carried out. Colony genetic diversity
analysis is being carried out with microsatellite markers optimised and
individuals genotyped. Genetic markers for chalkbrood strain detection
have been optimised. Initial tests indicate spore detection with all of these
markers can offer a high level of sensitivity and should be effective for pollen
testing. Pollen is also being prepared for DNA extraction and amplicon
sequencing to determine floral diversity utilised by colonies.

Photo credit:
University of Sydney

Annual Report 2018-19

In the spotlight

93

Honey Bee
program abuzz

According to AgriFutures Australia, the final year of the current
five-year RD&E plan has seen a significant amount of research
undertaken to benefit the honey bee industry.

New research has
honey bee and
pollination industry
abuzz

One project in development is
investigating the market and
potential for profitable production
of Australian produced propolis.
It is a product in demand as a
natural therapy treatment for
wounds, cold sores, mouth ulcers,
and has potential as an immune
system booster.
Health benefits are a reoccurring
theme in the honey bee industry.
A second project is investigating
the positive impacts of Australian
eucalyptus honeys on gut health, as
previous studies demonstrate their
significant promise as a prebiotic.

One project in development
is investigating the market
and potential for profitable
production of Australian
produced propolis.

Aligning with the Program’s RD&E
Plan, bee health is of importance
and a research project has
commenced that will examine the
factors influencing chalkbrood
outbreaks in Australia. Chalkbrood
is a detrimental honey bee
pathogen that can significantly
reduce hive productivity and cause
colony losses.
Another research project delivered
the most comprehensive seasonal
data to date on the Small Hive
Beetle (SHB). The SHB is the
predominant apiary pest in the
warm, moist regions of eastern
Australia and Dr Diana Leemon
investigated and developed an
external attractant trap for the SHB
to reduce numbers affecting hives.

Along with vital projects being
developed in the research space,
the AgriFutures™ Honey Bee and
Pollination Program met with
program stakeholders at the third
Australian Bee Congress held on the
Gold Coast in June, 2018.
The event was informative and
innovative, with many topics of
importance to the honey bee
industry covered.
The next major focus of the
AgriFutures™ Honey Bee and
Pollination program is reviewing the
current five-year RD&E plan and
identifying research objectives and
priorities for the next plan, to be
finalised by mid-2019.
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Thoroughbred Horses

Summary of program

Deliverable for 2018-19

The GVP for Thoroughbred breeding in 2018-19 was
$428 million, down from $431 million in 2017-18.

Advancements in detection and treatment of diseases
and parasites in breeding horses, improve jockey safety
through developing concussion recovery, understand the
breeding and racing industry horse movements through the
development and delivery of surveys, initiate development
of early pregnancy detection and stallion fertility tools, and
consider environmental effects on breeding horses.

The program is in its second year of the interim five-year
strategic plan. The plan is currently being finalised to be
provided to the thoroughbred breeders for consultation.
The plan focuses on improving breeding outcomes with
foal health and development, reducing the incidence and
impact of diseases and parasites in horses, improving the
safety of industry participants and the welfare of horses,
and enhancing the sustainability of the industry. It also
focusses on promoting education and training for the horse
industry through opportunities for training researchers and
by effective communication of RD&E to thoroughbred horse
industry stakeholders.

In 2018-19, the program delivered an Open Call for
Research to consider projects outside of the priority
projects, which received 32 high quality applications.
This is a significant number of applications indicating a
high degree of interest in the research and development
program.
The applications received addressed the following key
priority areas:

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Rapid diagnosis of
infectious agents of
equine reproductive loss

Current progress in this study has delivered the first stage of research that will develop
and evaluate rapid nucleic acid tests for two important causes of equine reproductive
loss in Australia, an emerging cause of reproductive loss as well as zoonotic disease of
veterinarians and stud workers. Accurate detection of the infectious agents is important
for the management of affected mares. While nucleic acid testing is considered the ‘goldstandard’, testing is normally only performed by well-equipped veterinary diagnostic
laboratories with molecular capabilities. This restriction means significant delays before
diagnostic results are available. This research is delivering rapid assay tests and it is
envisaged that the availability of these assays will support the rapid diagnosis of these
diseases and timely management of affected animals by veterinarians and breeders.

Understanding the
epidemiology of
Chlamydia psittaci
infections in mares

This research aims to reduce pregnancy losses in Australia’s thoroughbred industry by revealing
basic information on the epidemiology of this disease, focussing on two key aspects of this
disease, the C. psittaci-infected mare and the potential avian reservoirs of C. psittaci infection.

Improved bacterial
identification
and antimicrobial
susceptibility testing

In 2018-19, this study completed its first stage of research which will inform improved
diagnosis and treatment of bacterial disease in horses. Targeted antimicrobial treatment,
based on accurate identification of organisms present and precise knowledge of their
likely antimicrobial susceptibility, has been shown to improve the outcome of clinical
cases and reduce the emergence of antimicrobial resistance. This research will contribute
to better care of horses with bacterial disease, as well as supporting the judicious use of
antimicrobials, with important implications for both human and horse health.

A novel device for the
on-farm assessment of
stallion sperm fertility

This study will assist the thoroughbred horse industry by developing strategies to increase
reproductive performance, producing a commercially available device capable of measuring
the metabolic rate of spermatozoa in a post-breeding ‘dismount’ semen sample to identify
samples which are unlikely to produce a pregnancy.

•		 Development of a highly effective vaccine against
Strangles infection in horses and the identification of
S. equi. subsp. equi. carrier-state horses
•		 Diagnosis and/or reduction of pre-term losses in
mares including the possibility of an industry-wide
aborting investigation program
•		 Early diagnosis of pregnancy in mares.

342,189

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

904,931

$

Total program
expenses
2018–19

Emerging results from this study have undertaken molecular typing on samples across both
horses and parrots. This study will reduce pregnancy losses in Australia’s thoroughbred industry
as well as reduce the risk of future zoonotic natured events to humans, thereby improving
health and wellbeing of the horses and protecting Australian public from this zoonotic infection.

This study will help researchers gain valuable insights into the basic biology of the stallion
spermatozoon and will be able to investigate potential associations between sperm
metabolism and fertility with external factors such as environmental fluctuations, changes
to management practices and stallion health. This information will be pivotal in guiding both
device modifications and stallion management strategies as the project proceeds.

Developing a novel
diagnostic test for early
pregnancy in the mare

The 2018-19 Open Call for Research projects resulted in contracting this study which
will work towards the development of a novel, simple and robust on-farm test for the
detection of early pregnancy in mares. The project will enhance breeding efficiency in the
thoroughbred horse industry.
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Ginger

Summary of program

Deliverable for 2018-19

The GVP for Ginger in 2018-19 was $50 million, up from
approximately $40 million in 2017-18.

Key investments for the industry have included the
improved tissue culture production of ginger clean planting
material, the extension program and a project to look at
the genetic diversity within ginger to identify possible
sources of disease tolerance and incorporating those into
current varieties.

The program is in its third year of the five-year
strategic plan.
The five-year RD&E Plan aligns with the Australian
Ginger Industry Association to enable Australia to be
recognised globally for the production of ‘Food Safe Quality
Ginger’. This is done through RD&E that targets on-farm
productivity, lifting the demand for ginger and encouraging
industry engagement.

In 2018-19, the program delivered a greater understanding
of the requirement of the tissue culture system to better
replicate rhizomes produced in the field and Freshcare
accreditation across the industry. An Open Call for
Research was conducted that has provided investment
in innovative management techniques for the control
and management of weeds and disease that will start in
2019-20.

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Improved tissue culture
production of ginger clean
planting material

Improvement in rhizome quality, reducing the time to achieve commercial size
rhizomes, reducing costs and developing a commercially viable process to produce
clean ginger planting material.

Ginger development and
extension

Assistance with Freshcare accreditation and development of the management
package for growers to adopt tissue culture rhizomes.

Lift the demand for
Australian ginger: Consumer
requirements for industry

Gaining a better understanding of attitudes, behaviours, usage and purchasing of
fresh ginger among Australian consumers to increase demand.

Improving ginger to future
proof the industry against
pests and diseases

Undertake a scoping study to investigate options for the genetic improvement of
ginger to future proof the industry.

Review of the biosecurity
plan for the ginger industry

Review of the Biosecurity Plan and identification of the industry’s most significant
pests to provide a mechanism for industry, in collaboration with governments, to
identify, assess, and prioritise biosecurity threats and provide a framework for risk
mitigation and preparedness activities.

268,767

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17

328,872

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

288,426

$

Total program
expenses
2018–19
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Clean Planting Material

A key priority for the ginger industry is to prevent introduction and
further spread of ginger pathogens. Disease-free planting material is
required to do this. Commercial and cost-effective quantities of ginger
clean planting rhizome had not been available to the industry, however
this project was able to develop a new method to produce disease free
planting material using tissue culture.

On-farm biosecurity
practices to eliminate
or reduce movement
of soil borne disease
can be improved when
growers have access to
pest and disease-free
planting material.

The project improved clean rhizome
production from first generation
tissue culture plants and reduced
cycle time and cost so that growers
can access clean planting material
in commercial quantities to improve
production systems and establish
disease free farms and clean
mother blocks.
Current tissue culture clean
seed production constraints
were addressed, and the project
developed a new method enabling
clean rhizome from tissue culture
plants to be produced in a costeffective way for commercial
volumes.
The time taken to produce clean
ginger rhizome with increased size
has been substantially reduced
and the limitations to access and
uptake of disease-free rhizome
derived from tissue culture have
been removed.

The project also provided a better
understanding of the Fusarium
pathogen and ginger host relationship
that will allow industry to better
manage disease impacts.
On-farm biosecurity practices to
eliminate or reduce movement of
soil borne disease can be improved
when growers have access to pest
and disease-free planting material.
The uptake of clean tissue culture
planting material using methods
developed through this project will
assist to improve quality and yield in
the industry overall.
Better practice biosecurity can be
facilitated by using methods and
information from this project. By
ensuring growers establish and
maintain disease free mother blocks
and plant with disease free rhizome
in clean fields and employing farm
hygiene practices the Ginger industry
will improve quality and yield, reduce
waste and move toward its 12,000
tonne annual production target.
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Tea Tree Oil

Summary of program

Deliverable for 2018-19

The GVP for Tea Tree Oil in 2018-19 was $40 million.
This is an increase from $36 million in 2017-18. The number
of growers is around 150, with plantation areas ranging
from five to more than 700 hectares.

To improve the productivity and sustainability of the
Australian tea tree oil industry through reducing barriers
in the market and improved production system with the
development of new varieties.

The program is in its first year of the five-year strategic
plan. Continuing to increase the demand for high quality
Australian tea tree oil through increased market access
will require an increase in supply. Higher yielding varieties,
with improved agronomy, and a reduction in input costs will
allow continued increases in production. The achievement
of the industry goals will be successful through the
adoption of RD&E outputs with effective extension.

In 2018-19, the program delivered advancements towards
new and valuable tea tree varieties, assurance of highquality product and opened up new overseas markets
through the initiation of a number of new RD&E projects.

174,926

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17

443,814

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

425,808

$

Total program
expenses
2018–19

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Five-Year Tea Tree Breeding
Program working closely with
the CRC-P for enhanced market
agility for Australian tea tree.

The CRC-P is developing clonal propagation techniques to produce
new cultivars available to growers in a much shorter timeframe than
with seedlings. Clonal propagation will reduce the time to production
for new tea tree oil products to less than half that currently possible
with seedling cultivars. Clonal propagation will also give benefits
of product uniformity and greater flexibility to respond to changing
market demands.

Pyrgo beetle management
in tea tree

More sustainable, integrated and organic options for the management of
Pyrgo beetle. This beetle is a serious insect pest of tree tea causing yield
losses as high as 80%. A project is investigating the opportunity to use a
fungus which naturally occurs in tea tree plantation soils to control Pyrgo
beetles without harsh chemicals.

Integrated weed management
scoping study

Effectively managing weeds in a sustainable way is the focus of another
newly contracted project working with producers and agronomists in the
Tea tree oil industry. The project is conducting a far ranging survey of tea
tree producers to understand weed issues. The report will recommend
future RD&E pathways for developing integrated weed management in
Australian tea tree plantations.

Photo credit:
Researcher, Mirza Shoaib
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“The establishment of the Tea
Tree Oil RD&E Plan 2018 - 2022
is a big win for industry and
provides the structure needed
to guide RD&E investment and
grow the industry.”
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Tea Tree cottage industry
to major exporter

One of Australia’s emerging industry success stories – tea tree oil
– is celebrating 25 years of growth, expansion and research and
development innovation.

Export
powerhouse
emerges

Over the past 25 years, the tea tree
oil industry has seen a doubling
in production and established
international markets, with success
built on a platform of better oil
quality, plantation productivity and
reliable and uniform planting of
stock from the breeding program
From early oil yields of 100-150
kilograms per hectare to new
cultivars which consistently yield
350-450 kg/ha, the increase in
productivity has delivered an
estimated annual $4.5 million
benefit to growers and $75 million
to the Australian economy over the
past 17 years.
Globally, Pure Australian tea tree oil
is an iconic product sold throughout
the world and tea tree oil now
generates more than $35 million a
year in export sales.
Australian Tea Tree Industry
Association Ltd (ATTIA) CEO, Tony
Larkman welcomed the milestone,
saying a number of contributing
factors have taken the industry from
strength to strength.
“The establishment of the Tea Tree
Oil RD&E Plan 2018 – 2022 is a big
win for industry and provides the
structure needed to guide RD&E
investment and grow the industry.
“Ongoing RD&E funding will ensure
the industry continues to develop

and tea tree oil retains its status
as a key ingredient in healthcare,
cosmetic, pharmaceutical,
veterinary and industrial products.”
The burgeoning industry is the latest
to join AgriFutures Australia’s levied
programs, which sees producers
contribute to RD&E that will boost
the profitability, sustainability and
productivity of the industry.
AgriFutures Australia General
Manager, Business Development,
Michael Beer said the $6 million
breeding program has been a
significant contributor to the
industry’s success.
“Investment in RD&E has
already delivered efficiencies in
harvesting, distillation, storage and
marketable oil benefits. The levy
arrangement will help overcome
key challenges the industry faces,
including staying competitive as
international plantations grow in
size and maturity.
“What producers, industry leaders
and Australia Tea Tree Industry
Association Ltd (ATTIA) members
have achieved over the past
25 years is extraordinary. We’re
proud of their achievements and
look forward to ensuring ongoing
RD&E investment continues to
grow the industry.”
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Pasture Seeds

Summary of program

Deliverable for 2018-19

The GVP for Pasture Seeds in 2018-19 was $42
million, down from $50 million in 2017-18.

To enhance productivity and sustainability of the pasture
seeds industry through researching pests and diseases,
improving variety knowledge and selection for the industry,
and developing new technology to address ongoing
production concerns within the industry.

The program completed its first year of the 20192023 five-year strategic plan.
The plan focuses on production and processing
efficiency and profitability, sustainable certified
temperate pasture seed production, industry
connectivity and communication, and building
industry capability and capacity.

In the 2018-19, the program delivered insights into exotic
virus threats and how to manage these threats, better
understanding of disease resistance through genetic
sequencing, continued support for the lucerne variety
development, and commenced technology innovation to
enable profitable and environmentally sustainable sub
clover and medic seed harvesting.

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Lucerne Seed Wasp
management

Identification of Lucerne Seed Wasp control strategies and control methods for other
seed pests and closely related wasps, including of parasitic wasps. A soil-based
assay during autumn (post-harvest) was found to most likely be unfeasible due to the
mortality rates of the Lucerne Seed Wasp over the winter period depending on winter
environmental conditions.

Assessment of size and
scope of the certified
temperate pasture seeds
industry

This project focussed on understanding who produces temperate pasture seed and where
producers are based within Australia. It generates an understanding of what varieties and
species are grown, how many hectares are sown down to specific pasture seed varieties,
and what tonnages are harvested by these producers. Exports of pasture seeds as both
tonnages and destinations are also being investigated.
This research aims to develop an industry contact database and collate up-to-date
industry data that can enable effective engagement with the pasture seed industry,
and actively plan, manage and monitor the RD&E program.
This study will compile industry data and assess the size and scope of the certified
pasture seed industry. This will enable the program to measure outcomes and impact
of the RD&E Program.

431,768

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17

464,590

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

487,992

$

Total program
expenses
2018-19

Ensuring lucerne seed
production in the absence
of bees

This project will identify genotypes of lucerne that have the ability to self-pollinate in the
absence of bees.

Profitable and
environmentally
sustainable sub clover and
medic seed harvesting

The project is still in its early stages but in 2018-19 it conducted three workshops,
a grower survey and nine case studies. These activites have led to a greater understanding
of harvesting techniques and machinery modifications undertaken by growers.

The study has found individuals from a significant number of plants that did not require the
pollination services of insects. Seed from these cultivars will be planted to further define the
varieties and genotypes that will survive and thrive in the absence of bees.
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Profitable and
Environmentally Sustainable
Sub Clover and Medic
Seed Harvesting

This project comprises of a team with skills in agricultural
engineering, pasture agronomy and breeding and plant physiology,
and an enthusiastic PhD student.

The research team is working with a
range of leading seed growers and
pasture seed companies in WA, SA,
NSW and VIC to develop innovative
solutions to increase subterranean
clover and annual medic seed
harvesting efficiency and reduce
environmental impacts.
The ideas and experiences of seed
growers and agronomists will be
captured in an initial workshop
to refine project directions and
identify key collaborators. The aim
is to develop solutions that can
be adopted on different soil types
across the main seed growing
regions.
Two approaches will be taken:
1.

1. Engineering/mechanical, to
modify current machinery

2.

2. Agronomic, to improve
harvesting efficiency and
reduce soil erosion.

This project aims to overcome the
environmental damage caused by
suction harvesting of subterranean
clover and annual medic seeds.
Specific project objectives are to:
•

•

• Assess and identify
engineering recommendations
for modification of current
harvesting machinery to
improve harvesting efficiency
and environmental outcomes

•

• Identify design
recommendations for the
development of a new
prototype harvesting machine
that will further improve
harvesting efficiency and
environmental outcomes

•

• Develop agronomic and soil
management packages to
reduce soil erosion prior to,
during and following seed
harvesting.

PhD student Wesley Moss selected
this project because of the
cross-sector collaboration and
the uniqueness of the Australian
Pasture seed industry.
“On the engineering side, there is
a great deal of opportunity to be
innovative and explore different
ideas that could have real practical
benefits. This flows into agriculture
where we are able to collaborate
with farmers and industry in order
to develop tangible solutions with
positive outcomes.

“My ultimate motivation is to make
my small contribution to helping
improve agricultural practices
and advancements toward a more
sustainable future.
“The coolest thing about the
Pasture seeds industry is its
unique Australian history. This is
essentially the only country in the
world with a commercial production
of these seeds and the technology
which supports the industry was
developed right here in Australia. I
feel very privileged to be working in
this industry and to be involved in
the next chapter of its rich history.”
This team has already conducted
workshops in WA, NSW and SA
to hear growers’ experiences,
concerns and ideas. The survey
conducted by University of
Western Australia and Mr Moss
has also delivered very interesting
insights into subterranean clover
harvesting, harvesting machinery,
and grower driven innovation.
The AgriFuturesTM Pasture Seed
Advisory Panel is excited to see
how this research develops and the
outcomes of the study.

PhD student Wesley Moss
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Buffalo

•

Summary of program

Deliverable for 2018-19

Summary of program

The GVP for Goat Fibre in 2018-19 was $1.4 million,
compared to $1.5 million in 2017-18.

There were no active investments in Goat Fibre in 2018-19.

The GVP for Buffalo in 2018-19 was $5.5 million,
compared to $4.1 million in 2017-18.

The Goat Fibre Program aims to enhance industry success
through targeted industry-specific RD&E, with the
following areas of priority:

Most of the RD&E undertaken in the industry to date has
focussed on improving the genetic base via cross-breeding,
AI and semen importation. There has also been a focus on
branded meat products and gaining a better understanding
of buffalo milk composition and processing characteristics.

•		 Genetic evaluation and improvement: building upon
previous work, with a focus on increasing fibre yield
and quality
•

•

Compilation of specific information for buffalo
management (meat and milk)

•		 Distribution of milk composition information to industry
and the general public
•		 Monitoring genetic improvement in buffalo dairying and
providing support as possible (e.g. encouraging producer
input of data into Breedplan to identify superior dairy
genetics in Riverines).

Areas of focus for the industry include:

Goat-specific husbandry advancements, such
as label extensions of animal health products,
disease management more broadly and nutrition (in
collaboration with the AgriFutures Australia dairy
goat research and MLA meat goat program)

•		 Reinvigoration of the live export program, especially
stunning procedures, to allow compliance with ESCAS
and Halal
•		 Examination of opportunities for local processing
facilities (including Halal)

Deliverable for 2018-19
Investigations are ongoing into best practice methods for
Halal stunning and slaughtering for local processing which
are in line with community expectations.

Market research into on-shore fibre processing (in
collaboration with other rare natural fibre industries)

•		 Extension of outcomes from previous projects,
especially through the consolidation of online
resources.

7,253

$

2,129

$

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Developing appropriate
stunning methods for Halal
slaughter of water buffalo

Research was undertaken to develop recommendations and guidelines for
the effective stunning in Halal and non-Halal produced Buffalo to cover both
Indonesian and other potential South-East Asian markets.

2,520

$

27,939

Total program
expenses
2016–17

Total program
expenses
2017–18

38,699

23,965

$

$

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17

Total program
expenses
2017–18

Total program
expenses
2018-19

Total program
expenses
2018–19
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Kangaroo

Deliverable for 2018-19

The GVP for Kangaroo in 2018-19 was $32 million,
compared to $34 million in 2017-18.

•		 To provide RD&E to support a sustainable industry
with particular focus on enhancing the licence to
operate and consumer appeal.

2018-19 was the final year of the current RD&E plan
under the AgriFuturesTM Animal Industries – New,
Developing and Maturing strategic plan.
The plan focussed on:
•		 Research into potential for expanding existing or
developing new markets

In 2018-19, the program continued to invest in
development for the sustainable harvesting of animals
and animal welfare impacts on the sustainability of the
industry. A draft AgriFuturesTM Kangaroo Program RD&E
strategic plan has also been developed.

Understanding and meeting market specifications
with a focus on lower value and high-quality cuts for
western Europe

•		 Capacity building of industry participants through
training programs
•		 Extension of project information on improving
the welfare of and humaneness of commercially
harvested kangaroos
•		 Reinforcing the licence to operate
•		 Enhancing manufactured leather product
development.

31,966

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17
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Kangaroo

Summary of program

•

Annual Report 2018-19

129,117

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

68,675

$

Total program
expenses
2018-19

Plan for 2018-19

Outcomes in 2018-19

Animal welfare and
sustainability of the
Australian kangaroo
harvesting industry

Compiling current expert knowledge and robust evidence on the animal welfare
impacts and sustainability of the kangaroo harvesting industry. Specifically,
it examines the impacts and issues associated with a male-only harvesting
approach.

Kangaroo Commercial
Code Review

Revision of the National Code of Practice for the Humane Shooting of Kangaroos
and Wallabies for Commercial Purposes. The findings and recommendations
from recent scientific research included: welfare impacts on dependent kangaroo
young; euthanasia methods for in-pouch young and young-at-foot; and male-only
harvesting strategies. These are now being incorporated into a code to ensure that
harvesting is conducted in the most humane manner.
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Deer

Summary of program

Deliverable for 2018-19

The GVP for Deer in 2018-19 was $1.9 million,
compared to $1.4 million in 2017-18.

There were no active investments during 2018-19 period.

The Deer program operates within the AgriFuturesTM
Animal Industries RD&E plan with areas of priority specific
to the industry.
The plan focusses on:
•		 Improved handling and restraint facilities
•		 Improved genetics
•		 Research to identify impediments to deer processing
•		 Research on opportunities for multi-species
processing
•		 Extension/training for producers on working with
processors to facilitate deer handling and slaughter.

1,896

$

Total program
expenses
2016–17

11,632

$

Total program
expenses
2017–18

5,756

$

Total program
expenses
2018-19
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Emerging industries

Goal

Outcome

Key performance indicators

To support new and emerging rural industries.

High-potential emerging rural industries established.

With global environmental and market trends
impacting food consumption, Australian rural
industries have an opportunity to identify new
food types and to connect with and drive new and
expanding markets.

Investment budget for 2018-19

1.		 Identify 20 emerging industries with
potential for annual earning over $10m in
Australian agriculture and communicating the
development opportunities to stakeholders

As such, AgriFutures Australia is dedicated to
identifying and supporting the development of new
rural industries that can meet changing demand and
make an economic contribution to Australia.
Over the course of the AgriFutures Australia
Strategic Plan 2017-2022, AgriFutures Australia
will focus on identifying new industries with high
potential. This will result in a strong alignment
of research activities that address AgriFutures
Australia’s legislative requirements and the
government’s research priorities.
AgriFutures Australia will build partnerships with
key stakeholders, including partners in the private
sector, to support the development of these highpotential emerging rural industries.

Emerging industries are those new industries with high
growth potential. Emerging industries play an important
part in the Australian agricultural landscape and
contribute to the national economy. They will be key to
meeting changing global food demands.
In 2018-19, AgriFutures Australia supported RD&E in a
number of emerging rural industries including quinoa,
truffles, hazelnuts, coffee, plantago, sea urchin, camel
milk, working dogs, alpaca and redclaw.

In 2018-19, an industry scoping campaign for RD&E was
conducted based on 20 high priority rural industries identified
by Coriolis (December 2017). These industries were assessed
on their ability to reach and exceed an annual turnover of $10m
GVP per annum realisable within a five-year timeframe. This
recognises an emergence through growth of typically hobby,
micro or wild collect industries in Australia or global agricultural
industries with no significant activity currently in Australia.
The identified rural industries with potential to reach this
financial production goal were categorised as follows: meat,
aquaculture, dairy, vegetables, nuts, fruit, coffee/tea/spices/
cocoa, arable crops, oilseeds and vegetable oils, fibre/hides,
and essential oils.

2.		 Develop five collaborative investments in
emerging industries RD&E that are supported
and funded
Collaborative investments for 2018-19 included:
•		 Coffee – identified new high quality Arabica varieties for
sub-tropical production that suit machine harvesting
and significantly lower the costs of production for
Australian growers.

1,644, 300

$

Total program
expenses
2017-18

1,217,133

$

Total program
expenses
2018-19
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•		Redclaw – developed new farming methods for breeding
consistent stock and significantly increase the growth
rate of craylings resulting in a shorter period of production.
Novel research has developed new sanitisation techniques
for the harvest of eggs, identification of the bacterial
pathogens and two viruses responsible for egg and adult
mortalities, and feeding and habitat modifications that
increase the early growth stage for craylings.
•		Truffles – produced two key industry publications for pest
and disease management aimed at truffle growers that
details the options for minimising the negative effects on
production. The manuals detail the controls for invertebrate
pests utilising host tree management, integrated pest
management and phytosanitary techniques all aimed at
addressing current real industry problems.

3.		 Number of new rural industries reaches or
exceeds $10m per annum threshold
•

Coffee – Australian Subtropical Coffee is grown
between Noosa and Coffs Harbour. There are
approximately 35 growers on 300 ha with potential
production of 600 tonnes of dry green bean per annum
from 850,000 trees (ASTCA, 2019) with a value of
$11.4m (2016).

•

Truffles – There are about 300 truffle producers
across Australia and orchards vary in size from just
a few hundred trees to over 40,000 trees. The area
under truffles in Australia is about 700 ha, and from
mature trees, about 12 tonnes were harvested in 2018,
with a farm gate value of about $12m. When taking
into account the multiplying factor of truffles as an
enhancement to food and the festivals it engenders
such as the Canberra Truffle Festival, the Melbourne
Truffle Festival and Manjimup Truffle Kerfuffle, it is
worth considerably more. An estimate of the current
total economic impact of the industry is estimated at
$54m (based on a commonly used multiplier of 4.5).
(Learmonth, S. et al 2019).

•		Sea urchins – demonstrated that it is possible to collect
H. erythrogramma by wild harvest from barrens and
enhance urchin roe through managed feeding over a
12 week period. This would provide a positive benefit to
establish a sea urchin aquaculture industry, manage
native stocks and greatly assist in the restoration of kelp
forest areas in protected environments.
•		Alpaca – demonstrated the benefits of post slaughter
processing techniques of electrical stimulation and
tenderstretching (carcass hanging) should be applied
in combination to alpaca carcases as a standard
processing procedure to improve meat tenderness.
•		Camel industry development – investigated the
case for future investment as a vehicle for indigenous
employment, proactive management of camels as
a pest, and value adding opportunities and product
diversification.
Newly supported investments for RD&E in 2018-19 included:
essential oils, pomegranates, camels, industrial hemp,
sesame and coffee.
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New emerging
industries panel

Ten leaders with a passion for Australian agriculture have
been appointed to the newly established AgriFutures™
Emerging Industries Program Advisory Panel following a
nation-wide search.

New advisory panel
to drive strategic
direction for high
potential emerging
industries

The Emerging Industries Program
Advisory Panel members have
expertise in a range of areas including
investment across the agricultural
value chain, research management
and business development.
AgriFutures Australia Managing
Director John Harvey said the
Advisory Panel is an exciting
development for the sector.
“The AgriFutures™ Emerging
Industries Program Advisory Panel
will offer a wealth of advice, insights
and perspectives on the future of our
new rural industries – industries that
are tipped to be the ‘next big thing’.
“We’ve set an ambitious goal of
identifying and supporting the
emergence of agricultural industries
that can reach or exceed a $10m
per annum threshold in the next five
years. The new Advisory Panel will
be key to guiding our investment
decisions and encouraging people
developing these industries to
ensure their future sustainability and
profitability.”
Panel Chair Brian Ruddle said the
panel is a creative, open minded team
who will make a valuable contribution
to the future of Australian agriculture.
“Supporting emerging industries,
such as hemp, marron, camel milk
and pomegranates, to realise their
full potential is an exciting prospect.
It’s industries such as these that
can drive the future prosperity of
Australian agriculture.

“The 2018-19 panel has an
impressive skillset, fresh ideas and
new perspectives that can help
navigate industry R&D challenges.
We’re looking forward to delivering
on the new strategic direction and
showing Australia what some of our
little-known rural industries are
capable of achieving.”
• AgriFutures™ Emerging Industries
Program Advisory Panel members:
• Brian Ruddle, Chair (Impact 		
Innovation Group)
• Susan Wilson, Deputy Chair 		
(Bounce Partners)
• Angeline Achariya (Monash Food
Innovation Centre)
• William Taing (Beanstalk AgTech)
• Christopher McLoghlin (Mycelia
Organics)
• Ian Smith (Office of Regional 		
Economic Development NSW)
• Mila Bristow (Northern Territory
Department of Primary Industry
and Resources)
• Ann Ross (Hive Haven)
• John Lever (Koorana Crocodile
Farm)
• Duncan Farquhar (AgriFutures
Australia)

“The AgriFuturesTM Emerging
Industries Program Advisory
Panel will offer a wealth
of advice, insights and
perspectives on the future of
our new rural industries.”
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Investments
Overview of R&D investments

In 2018-19, AgriFutures Australia invested in 83 new
research projects as we continued our strategy to invest in
fewer but larger projects. The average AgriFutures Australia
investment per research project increased slightly from
2017-18, continuing the steady upward trend.
When deciding on which research programs to invest in,
AgriFutures Australia evaluates, among other things, the
likely level of industry adoption of the research outputs,
together with the expected economic, environmental and
social effects of the project outputs.
In 2018-19, 40 of the 83 new research projects were
procured through an open call for proposals.

Expected impact of R&D projects

A balanced R&D portfolio

Cost Allocation Policy

The main elements of the RD&E investment framework
for 2018-19 were:

AgriFutures Australia invests its RD&E funds through new,
developing, maturing and established industry programs,
along with several national and cross-sectoral programs
and initiatives.

AgriFutures Australia has a Cost Allocation Policy for
allocating direct and indirect costs across its programs.
Direct research and development program costs are
allocated at program level and corporate costs are
allocated through a program management fee. This fee
is based on a three-year rolling average of expenditure
including the current year forecast and the previous two
years’ actual expenditure. This is then weighted and capped
at a pre-determined proportion of research expenditure
to ensure the variance in effort between small and large
programs is captured as accurately as possible.

• 		 An annual review of performance against the
RD&E Plan
•		 External evaluation of Honey Bee and Pollination
and New animal and plant industries.
• 		 External evaluation of Chicken Meat with a cross
RDC evaluation of investments over the period
2014-2019
• 		 Setting strategic directions for the coming year
• 		 Preparing Annual Operational Plan (AOP)
proposals with input from AgriFutures Australia’s
R&D advisory panels through an annual review of
progress against their five-year R&D plans
• 		 Setting funding allocations for 2018-19

Expenditure is allocated using a range of measures that
ensure a balanced, financially responsible approach to its
investment of both industry and core funds.
Our investments integrate the triple bottom line objectives
of economic, environmental and social responsibility. The
majority of investment is aligned with short-to-mediumterm adaptive research outcomes and investment returns,
with the remainder contributing to long-term strategic
research objectives.
Our industry advisory panels provide advice as to the
appropriate balance of investment between industryspecific RD&E priorities and cross-sectoral investment,
including:

• 		 Aligning program strategies within portfolios
against R&D five-year plans, and allocating predetermined budgets that are funded subject to
performance

•		 Government research priorities

• 		 Implementing programs through a combination of
open call and commissioned projects

•		 Levels of risk, return and leverage.

• 		 Initiate digital extension platform for the Chicken
Meat Program within extensionAUSTM
• 		 Developing communication strategies for all levied
industry programs.

•		 Program objectives
•		 Project length

Industry advisory panels assist in identifying and advising
on specific RD&E priorities to implement the RD&E
plans. Financial investment is determined by industry
contribution, Australian Government where appropriate,
and our own evaluation of the RD&E needs against
investment priorities.
Where AgriFutures Australia is the appropriate lead agency,
we manage and develop collaborative investment programs
with partners. Areas that are well suited to collaborations
include climate change issues, natural resource
management, health, safety and welfare, capacity building
and leadership.
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Financial snapshot

Financial and operational summary ($M)
Revenue

2018-19

2017-18

2016-17

2015-16

2014-15

Revenue as %

2018-19

2017-18

2016-17

2015-16

2014-15

Commonwealth appropriation

11.5

9.3

9.2

8.6

9.4

Commonwealth appropriation

34%

32%

40%

31%

41%

Industry levies

5.3

5.8

3.2

4.0

4.5

Industry levies

15%

20%

14%

14%

19%

Commonwealth matching

5.3

4.7

4

3.3

3.3

Commonwealth matching

15%

16%

17%

12%

14%

External contributions

10.4

7.1

4.7

11.0

4.6

External contributions

30%

24%

20%

39%

20%

Interest

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.7

Interest

2%

2%

3%

2%

3%

Other income

1.4

1.6

1.5

0.5

0.6

Other income

4%

6%

6%

2%

3%

34.5

29.1

23.2

28.0

23.1

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Expenditure

2018-19

2017-18

2016-17

2015-16

2014-15

Expenditure as %

2018-19

2017-18

2016-17

2015-16

2014-15

Research programs

26.0

24.7

22.9

17.3

15.9

Research programs

84%

87%

86%

81%

80%

Communications

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

Communications

2%

2%

2%

2%

2%

Corporate

4.4

3.0

3.1

3.6

3.7

Corporate

14%

11%

12%

17%

18%

31.0

28.2

26.5

21.4

20.0

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Expenses

Arena 1 People and
Leadership

2018-19
$000
Evaluation

1

AgriFutures

TM

Horizon Scholarships

392
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Expenses

Arena 3 Growing Profitability

2018-19
$000
All Levied Industries
Buffalo

People and Leadership

529

Chicken Meat

AgriFuturesTM Rural Women's Award

409

Deer
Export Fodder

Total Arena 1 - People and Leadership

1,331

Ginger
Goat Fibre

Arena 2 National Challenges
and Opportunities 		

Ag Vet Chemical

500

Biomass for Bioenergy

546

Climate Change Research Strategy
evokeAG
ExtensionAUS
Honey Bee Genetic Improvement
Improved Use of Seasonal Forecasting to Increase Farmer
Profitability

Rice

6
63

1,870

Total Arena 2 - National Challenges and Opportunities

Ratite

239

New Biological Solutions for Sustainable Management of Weed
Impacts to Agricultural Profitability

Taking the Q (Query) out of Q Fever: Developing a Better
Understanding of the Drivers of Q Fever Spread in Farmed
Ruminants

Pasture Seeds

2,028

1,540

Secure Pollination for More Productive Agriculture: Guidelines
for Effective Pollinator Management and Stakeholder Adoption

Kangaroo

44

National Rural Issues

Primary Industries Health & Safety Partnership

Honey Bee and Pollination

239
1,978

24
4,726
6
1,159
288
3
932
69
488
8
5,304

Tea Tree Oil

426

Thoroughbred Horses

905

Total Arena 3 - Growing Profitability

Arena 4 Emerging Industries

6

Alpaca
New and emerging rural industries

Total Arena 4 - Emerging Industries

14,344

41
1,217
1,258

51
Corporate
9,104

Board

117

Communications

595

Finance

1,604

Human Resource management

391

Information Communications Technology

487

Salaries

1,817

Total Corporate

5,011

Total expenses

31,048
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Figure 1
Annual Undiscounted Cash Flows for Estimated Total Net Benefits and Total R&D Investment
Costs for the AgriFutures Pasture Seeds R&D Program

Evaluation

Total Benefit

Total Cost

3.00

The nature and extent of impacts realised and/or
anticipated was used to determine projects with significant
impact. An economic evaluation of the significant impacts
against not only the cost of those projects but also the
costs of all projects in the population was conducted.
The present value of benefits (PVB) and the present value
of costs (PVC) were used to estimate investment criteria
of net present value (NPV) and benefit-cost ratio (BCR) at
a discount rate of 5%. The PVB and PVC are the sums of
the discounted streams of benefits and costs. The internal
rate of return (IRR) was estimated from the annual net
cash flows. The modified internal rate of return (MIRR)
was estimated using a re-investment rate of 5%. All costs
and benefits were expressed in 2017-18 dollar terms and
discounted to 2017-18. Investment criteria were estimated
for 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30 years from the year of last
research investment for the Program. However, the 30-year
benefit time frame was used in summary performance
reporting and in all sensitivity analyses. Cost for each
project included the cash contributions of the Program
(including both AgriFutures and industry investment), as
well as any other resources contributed by third parties (e.g.
researchers, both as cash and in-kind).
Analyses were undertaken for total impacts that included
future expected impacts. Conservative assumptions were
used to avoid overstating future expected positive impacts

1.00
0.50
0.00

or benefits. Sensitivity analyses were undertaken for
variables with significant uncertainty and for variables that
were key drivers of the investment criteria.
Two analyses and corresponding investment criteria were
reported, both at a Program level.  The first analysis refers
to the projects where significant impacts were identified
and valued. In this analysis, the PVB was compared to
the investment in the particular projects generating the
benefits.  This process estimates an upper bound set of
investment criteria.
The second analysis refers to the same set of valued
impacts but compares this to the total investment in the
Program population. As there are expected to be positive
benefits from the projects where impacts were not
explicitly valued, the results from the second analysis are
likely to represent lower bound estimates of investment
criteria for the Program.
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-0.50
2019

A logical framework was used to identify and briefly
describe project objectives, outputs, outcomes, impacts
and benefits. Project information was assembled from
original project proposals, final reports, and any progress
reports or other relevant publications and materials.
Assistance was provided by AgriFutures Australia
personnel, project principal investigators, industry
personnel and others.

1.50

2017

The impact assessment used cost-benefit analysis
(CBA) as its primary tool, incorporating both qualitative
and quantitative approaches. Initially, 35 R&D project
investments were defined, however, once evaluation criteria
were applied, the scope of the assessment encompassed
17 projects. These projects received funding between
30 September 2014 and 6 August 2018, had sufficient
information and documentation available, and had not
been included in any previous program evaluations.

2.00

2015

Methods

2013

In December 2018, an economic
evaluation was carried out on the
Honey Bee and Pollination Program
Five Year RD&E Plan 2015-2019 by
Michael Clarke, in accordance with
the Council of Rural Research and
Development Corporations’ guidelines
and to guide the development of the
new five year strategic RD&E plan.
Qualitative summaries of all program
investments within the 2014-2018
timeframe were compiled, which
included the identification of project
outputs, outcomes and impacts.
Project impacts were categorised
in a triple bottom line context,
in terms of delivery of economic,
environmental and social benefits.
Some of the most significant project
impacts were quantitatively valued
as part of the assessment.

$’ Million

2.50

When the benefits for the impacts valued were compared
to the total investment in all 17 projects in the population,
this lowered the investment criteria. Funding for all
projects in the population totalled approximately $6.9
million (present value terms). When compared to the same
value of benefits from the five projects ($11.7 million), the
investment produced an estimated net present value of
$1.8 million (present value terms), a benefit-cost ratio of
approximately 1.7 to 1, an internal rate of return of 8.8%,
and a modified internal rate of return of 6.7%.
Given the assumptions made, it can be concluded that the
benefit-cost ratio for the investment in the Honey Bee and
Pollination RD&E program lies between 1.7 and 4.1 to 1.0.
Figure 1 illustrates the undiscounted cash flows for the
estimated total benefits from the five projects valued and
the total RD&E investment costs for the Honey Bee and
Pollination RD&E Program.

Results/key findings

Conclusions

Total funding for the five projects where impacts were
valued totalled approximately $2.8 million (present value
terms) and produced aggregate total expected benefits
of approximately $11.7 million (present value terms). This
gave an estimated net present value of $8.9 million, a
benefit-cost ratio of 4.1 to 1.0, an internal rate of return of
15.9% and a modified internal rate of return of 9.5%. The
five projects valued represented approximately 41.3% of
total funding for the 17 projects in the project population.

The positive results in terms of the type of impacts
identified and valued indicate that the program is
delivering value for the resources invested. Based on
these overall findings, AgriFutures Australia is confident
that the Honey Bee and Pollination RD&E investments are
worthwhile.
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Qualitative summaries of program
investments within the 2013-2018
timeframe were compiled, and
included identification of project
outputs, outcomes and impacts.
Project impacts were categorized
in a triple bottom line context,
in terms of delivery of economic,
environmental and social benefits.
Some of the most significant project
impacts were quantitatively valued
as part of the assessment.
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Table 7
Number and Total Investment in Projects in the Population by NEPI RD&E Plan Objective

Evaluation

In 2018, an economic evaluation of
AgriFutures’ investment in the New
and Emerging Plant (2015-2018)
and New and Emerging Animal
Industries Program (2013-2018),
was conducted by Agtrans Research
in accordance with the Council of
Rural Research and Development
Corporations’ guidelines.

Annual Report 2018-19

Strategic Objective as in the NEPI RD&E Plan:
2015-2018

No. of Projects

Total Investment
($ Normal)(a)

Percentage of
Total Value

Objective 1: Feasibility studies and industry
literature reviews

7

4,591,996

38.4%

The AgriFutures Australia New & Emerging Plant &
Animal Research, Development and Extension (RD&E)
Programs invest in projects targeted at a broad range
of new, emerging and developing Australian plant and
animal industries.

Objective 2: Incubate new and emerging plant
industries, support breakthrough projects

8

2,132,748

17.8%

Objective 3: Industry building and connectivity

6

904,139

7.6%

The purpose of the impact assessment of AgriFutures’
investments is to assist with portfolio management. In
that regard, AgriFutures conducts impact assessments
of its programs as they near the end of their three to
five-year RD&E plans. This process not only provides
accountability to the AgriFutures Board, its levy paying
industries and Government, but also can be used as an
input into the development of the next RD&E plan should
program investment be continued.

Objective 4: RD&E to generate benefit across
several plant industries

13

4,324,903

36.2%

Total

34

11,953,786

100%

Purpose

A second purpose of the AgriFutures’ impact
assessments is to contribute to a process being
undertaken for the Council of Rural Research &
Development Corporations. This process aims to
demonstrate, through examples, the impacts and
benefits that have emerged or are likely to emerge from
the 15 Rural Research and Development Corporations
(RDCs) (including industry owned companies). Valuation
of these impacts, along with identification of investment
expenditure, is required to demonstrate the RDCs’
contribution to Australian rural industry as well as
environmental and social impacts to Australia.

Source: Project Documentation, AgriFutures Australia
(a) AgriFutures and Other funding (cash and in-kind) over the life of the projects

Methods

New and Emerging Plant Industries (NEPI)

The impact assessment process addressed a population
of 64 projects funded under the New and Emerging Plant
Industries (NEPI) RD&E Plan (2015-2018), and the Animal
Industries – New, Developing and Maturing RD&E Plan
(2013-2018) in alignment with AgriFutures Corporate
Plan 2012 to 2017.

The number of, and total investment in, the 34 projects
included in the analysis is shown in Table 7 classified
and aggregated according to the four strategic
objectives of the NEPI RD&E Plan.

Two analyses were conducted at a NEPI Program level.
In the first analysis, the present value of the benefits
for the seven projects valued was compared to the total
investment in the Program population (investment in all
34 projects). The second analysis refers to the same set
of valued benefits (estimated present value of benefits
(PVB) of $19.03m at a 5% discount rate, 30 years from
the last year of investment), but compared them to the
specific investment costs of only the seven projects
generating the benefits. This second analysis is likely to
estimate an upper bound set of investment criteria for
the NEPI Program investment, as the analysis focused on
the highest impact projects.

Results/ key findings
New & Emerging Plant & Animal Research,
Development and Extension (RD&E) Programs
Total funding from all sources for all 64 projects
totalled $26.7 million (present value terms). Of the
64 projects, the impacts from 17 of the projects were
valued. Funding for the 17 projects where impacts were
valued totalled $10.0 million (present value terms) and
produced aggregate total expected benefits of $35.8
million (present value terms). This gave an estimated
net present value of $25.7 million, and a benefit-cost
ratio of approximately 3.6 to 1. The 17 projects valued
represented approximately 38% of total funding for the
64 projects in the project population.
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Figure 1
Annual Undiscounted Cash Flows for Estimated Total Expected Benefits and Total RD&E
Investment Cost for the AgriFutures NEPI Program
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Figure 2
Annual Undiscounted Cash Flows for Estimated Total Net Benefits and Total RD&E
Investment Cost for the AgriFutures NEAI Program

Figure 1

Total Expected Benefits
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Figure 2
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New and Emerging Plant Industries
When the benefits for the impacts valued ($35.8
million) were compared to the total investment in
all projects in the population ($26.7 million), this
lowered the investment criteria. The total investment
in the 64 projects produced an estimated net present
value of $9.0 million (present value terms), and a
benefit-cost ratio of 1.3 to 1. It was concluded, given
the assumptions made in valuing the impacts, that
the benefit-cost ratio for the investment in the New
& Emerging Plant and Animal RD&E Programs lies
somewhere between 1.3 and 3.6 to 1.

Across the 34 projects, there was a wide range of
impacts and/or potential impacts identified with most
being economic in nature. A number of these impacts
were valued. Two sets of analyses and corresponding
investment criteria were reported for the investment in
the AgriFutures’ NEPI RD&E Program. One analysis refers
to the seven projects where significant impacts were
identified and valued. These projects were:
1.

To investigate closed production systems for
ornamental ginger production

Figure 3 illustrates the undiscounted cash flows for
the estimated total expected benefits from the 17
projects valued and the total RD&E investment costs
for the overall New & Emerging Industries (Plant &
Animal) Program.

2.

Hazelnuts in Australia: Opportunities for
long term development

3.

Improving the capacity of Primary Industries
to withstand cyclonic winds

4.

Myrtle Rust screening in lemon myrtle
provenance plantings (part two)

approximately 31.0% of total funding (present value
terms) for the 34 projects in the evaluation population.

5.

Monitoring quality and bioactivity of Kakadu
Plum in the NT

6.

Australian Native Foods Information and
Extension Project

7.

The Australian Truffle Growers Guide

When the benefits for the impacts valued were
compared to the total investment in all 34 projects in the
population, this lowered the investment criteria. Funding
for all projects in the population totalled approximately
$16.0 m (present value terms). When compared to the
same value of benefits from the seven projects ($19.03
m), the investment produced an estimated NPV of $3.03
m (present value terms), a BCR of approximately 1.2 to 1,
an IRR of 5.9%, and a MIRR of 5.6%.

Total funding for the seven projects where impacts
were valued totalled approximately $4.96 million
(present value terms) and produced aggregate total
expected benefits of $19.03 million (present value
terms). This gave an estimated net present value
(NPV) of $14.07 million, a benefit-cost ratio (BCR) of
3.8 to 1, an internal rate of return (IRR) of 12.6% and
a modified internal rate of return (MIRR) of 9.4%. The
investment in the seven projects valued represented

Figure 1 illustrates the undiscounted cash flows for
the estimated total benefits from the seven projects
valued and the total RD&E investment costs for the NEPI
Program.
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Table 8
Number and Total Investment of Projects in the Population by NEAI RD&E Plan Objective
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Figure 3
Annual Undiscounted Cash Flows for Estimated Total Net Benefits and Total RD&E
Investment Cost for the Overall AgriFutures’ N&E Industries Program

Figure 3
Strategic Objective as in the NEAI RD&E Plan:
2013-2018

No. of Projects

Total Investment
($ Normal)(a)

Percentage of
Total Value

Objective 1: Provide new and developing animal industries
with regular and up-to-date market assessments

2

157,975

2.2%

Objective 2: Enhance industry success through
targeted industry-specific RD&E

14

Objective 3: Facilitate new industry growth through
multi-disciplinary approaches that potentially
advantage several industries

3

Objective 4: Improve capacity across new and
developing animal industries

2

Indigenous Pastoral Program(b)

9

680,991

9.6%

Total

30

7,083,854

100%

Total Expected Benefits

Total Investment Costs

4.50

426,486

102,852

4.00

80.7%

6.0%

1.5%

Undiscounted Cash Flow ($m)

5,715,550

3.50
3.00
2.50
2.00
1.20
1.00
0.50

The final NEAI Program project population for evaluation
consisted of 30 projects representing 98% of the value
of projects funded under the relevant five-year RD&E
Plan. The number of, and total investment in, the 30
projects that were included in the analysis is shown in
Table 8, classified and aggregated according to the four
strategic objectives of the NEAI RD&E Plan.
Figure 2 illustrates the undiscounted cash flows for the
estimated total benefits from the ten projects valued
and the total RD&E investment costs for the NEAI
Program.

The logical framework approach used in this evaluation
provided a qualitative description and assessment
of all the projects in the population for both the NEPI
Program and the NEAI Program (64 projects in total,
representing $26.7 million (present value terms) over
the period 2008/09 to 2017/18) and has provided useful
information for both demonstrating accountability for
past investment decisions as well as for the allocation
of Program resources in the future. All projects in
the population appeared to have delivered positive
outcomes for industry resulting in increased industry
productivity and profitability. Many projects have
delivered improved scientific and/or industry capacity
that can provide future potential gains.
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Conclusion

New and Emerging Animal Industries (NEAI)
The AgriFutures’ New and Emerging Animal Industries
(NEAI) Program covers a diverse range of new, emerging
and developing animal industries. Industries covered
by the NEAI RD&E Plan include:- alpaca, buffalo, deer,
fibre goat, kangaroo, crocodile, dairy goat & dairy
sheep, duck, ratite (emu), game bird, marron, mulloway,
rabbit, and redclaw. Four of the industries listed above
(buffalo, deer, fibre goat, and kangaroo) have statutory
levies in place and one (ratite) makes voluntary annual
industry contributions to fund RD&E. RD&E for other,
non-levied industries is funded by AgriFutures’ core
funding. The main objective of the NEAI Program was
to conduct RD&E for new, developing and maturing
animal industries that contribute to the profitability,
sustainability and productivity of regional Australia
(RIRDC, 2014a).

2010

2008

0.00

Source: AgriFutures Australia project documentation
(a) AgriFutures and Other funding (cash and in-kind) over the life of the projects in the evaluation of population
(b) AgriFutures’ undertook projects as part of the Indigenous Pastoral Program (IPP). The IPP is a multi-agency program assisting
Indigenous landholders, particularly in the NT, to develop sustainable pastoral enterprises. For more information see: https://www.ilc.
gov.au/Home/What-We-Do/Project-Profiles/Indigenous-Pastoral-Program
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Performance against the Australian
Government’s research priorities

Communicating
R&D results

Science and Research Priorities
Expenditure for 2018-19

AgriFutures Australia publishes
final reports and/or project
summaries to promote and make
publicly available the results and
outcomes of the research projects
it funds. During 2018-19, 106 final
reports or project summaries
were delivered.

Arena 1
($’000)

Arena 2
($’000)

Arena 3
($’000)

Arena 4
($’000)

Total
($’000)

Total
(%)

1. Food

-

7,411

11,902

1,124

20,438

78.49%

5. Energy

-

366

-

-

366

1.41%

6. Resources

-

80

-

-

80

0.31%

7. Advanced manufacturing

-

-

649

-

649

2.49%

415

200

-

-

615

2.36%

-

158

-

-

158

0.61%

916

889

1,792

134

3,731

14.33%

1,331

9,104

14,344

1,258

26,037

100.00%

8. Environmental change
9. Health
Unspecified*

Total

In 2018-19, AgriFutures Australia collected the third
full year of data about the additional communication
outputs produced by research projects. Figure 9 provides
the number of presentations (at field days, workshops
and conferences), scientific journal articles and industry
newsletter articles delivered, or that will be delivered, by
the 106 research projects completed in 2018-19.

Figure 9
Research project
communication outputs
(in addition to reports and
factsheets)

Rural Research and Development Priorities
Expenditure for 2018-19

354
Arena 1
($’000)

Arena 2
($’000)

Arena 3
($’000)

Arena 4
($’000)

Total
($’000)

Total
(%)

1. Advanced technology

297

211

8,927

1,014

10,449

40.13%

2. Biosecurity

117

5,639

2,560

23

8,340

32.03%

3. Soil, water and managing natural resources

-

2,229

624

87

2,940

11.29%

4. Adoption of R&D

-

137

441

-

578

2.22%

916

889

1,792

134

3,731

14.33%

1,331

9,104

14,344

1,258

26,037

100.00%

Unspecified*

284
No. of projects

Presentations
Scientific journal articles
Industry newsletter articles

Total

* Unspecified includes ancillary expenses incurred in the completion of research projects

167
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People and Governance
AgriFutures Australia Board

Mrs Kay Hull AM (Chair)

Mr Ian Henderson (Deputy Chair)

Mr John Harvey (Managing Director)

Dr Kathryn Andrews

Mrs Kay Hull is a Riverina personality, award-winning
businesswoman, much lauded community leader and
former Federal Member of Parliament, representing the
Riverina for 12 years.

Mr Ian Henderson is the founder, CEO and principal vinegar
maker at Australian Vinegar and has a desire to help
new and emerging industries evolve into self-sustaining,
productive and profitable industries.

Dr Kathryn Andrews has a diverse professional background
which spans Natural Resource Management (NRM),
stakeholder engagement and research into policy and
practice.

She has led, contributed to and been influential in a broad
range of sectors in the community – from motor vehicles
trades and services to local council, tourism, education,
health, cancer support, and alcohol and drugs initiatives.

With degrees in Mathematics and Physics, in addition
to Winegrowing, Mr Henderson has had a varied career.
Initially specialising in IT management, data security, data
matching and fraud detection in the public service, he made
the move to wine production and focussed on domestic
and export sales, which led to an opportunity to become a
vinegar maker.

Mr John Harvey joined AgriFutures Australia in May 2016
as Managing Director. He accepted the challenge to set a
new, more commercial direction for AgriFutures Australia
and aims to make it a change agent for transforming
existing industries with new technologies and seeding new,
high value industries that ensure Australian agriculture
continues to grow.

Having grown up in regional Australia, Mrs Hull has a
passion for food and fibre production, and during her time
in parliament ensured the agriculture sector had a strong
voice particularly in relation to water access for irrigation.
Today she continues her staunch support of regional
Australia’s agricultural sector as Chair of the AgriFutures
Australia Board.
Taking on the role in 2016, Mrs Hull believes AgriFutures
Australia is uniquely positioned to lead the way for
Australian agriculture and deliver benefits to the entire
nation by investing in people, forging new frontiers
of learning, fostering an environment that prizes
collaboration, entrepreneurship and real commercial
outcomes, and investing in new and emerging industries to
ensure the productive and competitive future of Australia’s
rural industries.
Appointed on 02/08/16
until 01/08/19

A career highlight was receiving a prestigious Winston
Churchill Fellowship in 2006 to study vinegar making in
Europe. This allowed him to understand the possibilities in
emerging industries, and how regulation and industry unity
is essential to success.
Mr Henderson is excited about the future for AgriFutures
Australia and wants to unite the various rural industries to
build a community that shares research outcomes, inspires
one another and adds value to each other through collective
investment in R&D.
B.Sc. Mathematics, Physics (Griffith), Assoc. Degree
Winegrowing (CSU), GAICD, Professional Member Australian
Institute of Food Science and Technology.
Appointed on 01/10/17
until 30/09/20

Prior to this appointment, Mr Harvey held various positions
at the Grains Research and Development Corporation
(GRDC) spanning 18 years, including five years as Managing
Director.
A graduate member of the Australian Institute of Company
Directors, Mr Harvey was a Director of Australian Crop
Accreditation System Limited and a Director of the Value
Added Wheat Cooperative Research Centre.

Her experience in rural industries is personal and
professional. When she was young, Dr Andrews’ father
developed the first export standard buffalo abattoir in the
Northern Territory. Her family was also involved in tea tree
production.
Dr Andrews has held a variety of roles across Australia,
many focussing on NRM. She is currently the Executive
Officer for NRM Regions Australia, a consultant and a
visiting lecturer at the ANU Fenner School for Environment
and Society.

BSc (Rural) Hons (UNE), GAICD.

Prior to this, she worked to establish the Lake Eyre
Basin Coordinating Group (Australia’s only community
designed and managed cross-border NRM organisation),
and became its first CEO. She was also Chair of Territory
Natural Resource Management while based in Darwin
and has participated in national committees including
the Australian Landcare Council and CSIRO Sustainable
Agriculture Flagship Advisory Committee.

Appointed on 03/05/16

BSc Hons (ANU), PhD (ANU).

He has served on the boards of Pulse Breeding Australia,
Barley Breeding Australia and the National Soybean
Breeding Program. He was also a member of the Australian
Winter Cereals Pre-Breeding Alliance and the CRC for Plant
Based Management of Dryland Salinity.

Appointed on 01/10/17
until 30/09/20
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Mr Richard Clark

Dr Katrina (Kate) Fairley-Grenot

Dr Anthony Hamilton

Dr William Ryan

Mr Richard Clark is an information and communications
technology (ICT) leader who has spent his career building
bridges between industry, research and application.

Dr Kate Fairley-Grenot brings to the AgriFutures Australia
Board strong stakeholder engagement experience and a
background in strategic planning for rural research and
development.

Dr Anthony Hamilton was a farmer from Forbes, NSW,
and is currently a non executive director of a diversified
cropping and livestock business.

Dr William Ryan has worked professionally in agriculture
for more than 40 years with a varied career in research and
commercial agribusiness

A farmer all his life, Dr Hamilton has a passionate interest
in all things rural and sees the importance of holistic farms
and the pursuit of opportunities for new rural industries.

He describes successfully implementing early weaning on
extensive cattle stations in northern Australia as one of his
proudest moments.  The program significantly increased
branding rates and also illustrated to him the tremendous
impact that both research and development can have in a
commercial cattle production system.

He has had a diverse career in Australia and abroad,
working with high profile ICT companies including Nokia/
Alcatel-Lucent, NICTA, Ericsson and Philips, in senior
manufacturing, strategy, R&D, business development, CTO
and CMO roles.
Mr Clark has had extensive experience across the
Australian science, technology and innovation sector,
contributing to ICT public policy, R&D investment incentives,
ICT start-ups and university syllabus.
He has a strong belief that strategy is only as good as
its implementation and that ICT is an enabler across all
industries.
Bachelor of Production Engineering (Swinburne University);
Centenary Medal for contributions to ICT R&D policy;
Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
Appointed on 01/10/17
until 30/09/20

She is stakeholder-oriented with more than 20 years’
experience in management consulting, initially with
Coopers & Lybrand then as a business owner. Former roles
with grants selection and audit committees, as a startup CEO, research institute COO and industry analyst, in
addition to a strong interest in the relationship between
finance and research systems in agriculture, underpin Dr
Fairley-Grenot’s commitment to the prosperity of rural
industries.
An experienced director, Dr Fairley-Grenot sat on the board
of Grape and Wine Research and Development Corporation
(now Wine Australia) and Wirra Wirra Vineyards. She has
also served as Chair of Australia’s Rural Research and
Development Council and on the Prime Minister’s Science
Engineering and Innovation Council’s Carbon-Energy-Water
Intersections Working Group.
BSc Hons (USyd); PhD Biophysics (USyd); MSc Science &
Technology Policy (Sussex); FAICD and Fellow, Australian
Academy of Technological Sciences and Engineering.
Appointed on 01/10/17
until 05/01/19
Resigned on 5/1/19

Rural Industries Research & Development Corporation

Dr Hamilton has been involved in AgriFutures Australia
for a number of years, having started with the New Plant
Products Committee off the back of his experience growing
new crops such as jojoba and azuki beans.
He also gained his PhD researching the agronomy and
physiology of azuki and kintoki beans.
BSc in Agriculture Hons; PhD (USyd)
Appointed on 11/10/14
until 30/09/17
Reappointed on 01/10/17
until 30/09/20

Dr Ryan joined the Board in 2014 with a professional
record that includes revitalising and leading Kondinin, one
of Australia’s largest independent research groups. He is
currently Chair of the Agricultural Produce Commission
of Western Australia as well as being an independent
agricultural consultant.
BSc in Agriculture (UWA); PhD (UWA) GAICD
Appointed on 11/10/14
until 30/09/17
Reappointed on 01/10/17
until 30/09/20

Mrs Kay Hull AM
(Chair)
Mr Ian Henderson
(Deputy Chair)
Dr William Ryan

Dr Anthony Hamilton

Mr John Harvey
(Managing Director)

Mr Richard Clark
Dr Kathryn Andrews
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Organisation structure – as of 30 June 2019

Board of Directors

AgriFutures Australia is a government agency,
with 18 staff as at 30 June 2019 and an annual
operating budget of around $34 million.

AgriFutures Australia endeavours to create
opportunities so that it attracts and retains skilled
and experienced staff.

Performance reviews are formally conducted
every six months, with an annual performance
assessment in June.

AgriFutures Australia staff are employed under
Section 87 of the PIRD Act 1989. This legislation
requires AgriFutures Australia to determine
appropriate terms and conditions of employment for
its staff. AgriFutures Australia’s Enterprise Agreement
2018–21 sets out the terms and conditions of
employment. Executive staff (including the Managing
Director) are employed on individual contracts.

Indigenous employment at AgriFutures Australia

AgriFutures Australia is committed to a credible,
equitable and aligned performance management system.
AgriFutures Australia’s performance management
system includes a formal process and an ongoing
informal process that encourages staff to plan, review
and recognise performance. Performance agreements
are agreed annually between staff and their
supervisors and include a comprehensive training
and development component.

For the period 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019, AgriFutures
Australia did not employ any Indigenous staff.

Executive Coordinator
Bek Farrugia (C)

General Manager,
Corporate
Louise Heaslip

General Manager,
Business Development
Michael Beer

General Manager,
Research
John Smith

Senior Manager,
Corporate
David Heazlewood

Senior Manager,
Business Development
National Rural Issues
Jen Medway

Manager, Research
Thoroughbred Horses,
Honey Bees &
Pasture Seeds
Annelies McGaw

Manager,
Human Resources
Corporate
Ericka Burgun (C) (PT)

Senior Manager,
Business Development
Emerging Industries
Tom McCue

Manager,
Corporate
Nicole Legovich

Coordinator, Business
Development
Kirsty McKee (C)

Manager,
Legal Services
Corporate
Erin Hulm (C) (PT)

Executive Services,
Business Development &
Research Coordinator
Laura Harley (C)

Accountant,
Corporate
Erin Kean (C)

Coordinator,
Corporate
Kristy Middlebrook (C)

Executive Service,
Corporate Coordinator
Jessica Grant (C)

Manager, Performance
& Partnerships
Lily Wilson (PT)

Managing Director
John Harvey

Manager, Research
Chicken Meat
Georgie Townsend

Manager, Export
Fodder, Ginger & Rice
Vacant (c )

Manager, Research
Tea Tree Oil
Gae Plunkett (C) (PT)

General Manager,
Communications &
Capacity Building
Belinda Allitt

Manager,
Communications
Levied Industries,
Emerging Industries,
National Rural Issues
Lauren Sharkey (C)

Manager,
Corporate Communications
Jo Mazzocchi (C)

Manager,
Capacity Building
Vacant

Coordinator,
Capacity Building
Petri Swart (C)

Senior Manager,
evokeAG.
Pip Grant

Manager, evokeAG.
Special Projects
Dallas Pearce

Manager, evokeAG.
Communicatons
Georgie Davies

Coordinator,
evokeAG.
Jenny Martin (C)

Coordinator,
Research
Felicity Gamble (C)

Coordinator,
Research
Vacant

Coordinator,
Research
Vacant

Systems Coordinator,
Corporate
Gerard McTaggart (C)

C= Contractor PT= Part Time
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Governance and
accountability
Governance

Board appointments

Maintaining ethical standards

The AgriFutures Australia Board is committed to
governance systems that enhance performance and
compliance. Each Annual Report includes a description of
how strategic directions, policies and processes have been
applied during the year. During the year, the Board reviewed
policies and processes concerning all major areas of Board
operations, including Director and Board performance, risk
management, conflicts of interest, Board subcommittees,
and the Managing Director’s performance. AgriFutures
Australia’s management policies and procedures will
continue to be refined and updated as standard practice
within the organisation.

The Minister for Agriculture appoints Directors
other than the Managing Director, who is appointed
by the Board.

All members of the Board agree to be bound by the
principles contained in the Board Code of Conduct. The
Board Code of Conduct is provided to all Directors as part
of the induction process and provides guidance on their
responsibilities, including how to act ethically, honestly,
and with due care and diligence. Ethical standards at
AgriFutures Australia are upheld with its values in mind:
connectedness, networking, innovation, approachability,
positive, professionalism, confidence and future-thinking.

The Board provides strong leadership and requires that
AgriFutures Australia’s staff have their qualifications,
skills and experience enhanced with formal and on-thejob training each year. An Audit Committee and other
committees of the Board are established from time to time
to support the Board. Appropriate advisory panels with
relevant skills to AgriFutures Australia research programs
are established to ensure that projects are properly guided,
and that industry and government funds are spent wisely.

Board charter
The AgriFutures Australia Board Charter sets out the
function, duties and responsibilities of the Board in order
to facilitate Board and management accountability for
AgriFutures Australia’s performance and strategic direction.
The Board is committed to fulfilling its duties, abiding by
all relevant laws and regulations and providing employees
with a safe and rewarding working environment. The Board
considers the broader community, external and internal
stakeholders, and industry partners in its deliberations.

Board composition
As at 30 June 2019, AgriFutures Australia’s Board
comprised seven Directors: a Chairperson, an Executive
Director (titled Managing Director) and five other
nominated Directors. One of the nominated Directors is the
Deputy Chair.

The Chair is appointed by the Minister and is not a
nominated Director.
Five of the Directors are nominated by a selection
committee established by the Minister in consultation
with the National Farmers’ Federation and the
Australian Chicken Meat Federation (nominated
Directors).
The Minister appoints a nominated Director as the
Deputy Chair.
The Board appoints the Managing Director and may
appoint an Acting Managing Director.

Board terms
Directors other than the Managing Director are
appointed by the Minister and hold office for a
specified term not exceeding three years. The
Managing Director is appointed by AgriFutures
Australia for a specified term. An Acting Managing
Director may be appointed for a specified term.

Board expertise
The Directors are selected from a wide crosssection of the rural business community and offer
expertise in production, processing, marketing,
R&D administration, business management, social
sciences, technology transfer, environmental and
ecological matters.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee from 1 July 2018 to 30 June
2019 comprised:
Chair: Dr William Ryan
Members: Dr Katrina Fairley-Grenot (from 1 July
2018 until resignation 21 November 2018), Mr
Richard Clark, Mr Ian Henderson (from 5 December
2018 until 30 June 2019).
Audit Committee charter

Directors’ reports
Accountability to industry
For the purposes of reporting on operations in 2018-19,
AgriFutures Australia had two organisations prescribed
by Section 7 of the Primary Industries Research
and Development Act 1989 (PIRD Act). This requires
AgriFutures Australia to report annually on its activities
each financial period. This accountability runs parallel
to AgriFutures Australia’s Annual Report to the Minister
and the Parliament. Separately, it is relevant to note that
the deer, honey bee and rice industries are nominated as
representative bodies for the Primary Industry (Excise)
Levies Act 1999.
Formal reporting during 2018-19 occurred as follows:
• 		 National Farmers’ Federation, 5 March 2019
and 11 June 2019
• 		 Australian Chicken Meat Federation,
27 February 2019.
AgriFutures Australia reported to these prescribed bodies
during industry meetings being held for their own purposes.
AgriFutures Australia made no payments towards the costs
of these meetings.
Board committees
During 2018-19, the Board operated one committee, the
Audit Committee. The record of meetings is taken by the
Coordinators or General Manager, Corporate.

The objective of the Audit Committee is to provide
independent assurance and assistance, and to
make appropriate recommendations to the Board on
AgriFutures Australia’s risk, control and compliance
framework and its external accountability.
The Managing Director and the General Manager,
Corporate, have a standing invitation to attend these
meetings but are not members of the Committee.
During 2018-19, the Audit Committee had oversight
of the completion of the statutory financial
statements and annual compliance statement,
reviewed the Fraud Control and Risk Management
plans, reviewed the Accountable Authority
Instructions, the Conflict of Interest Policy, and
the Audit Committee Charter, directed the internal
audit function, and monitored the development
and implementation of new business systems and
policies.
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Performance review
The Board is committed to continuous improvement and
undertakes an evaluation of the Board’s performance
and other Board responsibilities in each Board term, in
accordance with the Board Performance Policy.
The last evaluation process was completed in June 2019.
The performance review for the Managing Director is
conducted annually by the Board in accordance with the
Managing Director Performance Management Policy.

Board remuneration
Directors’ fees are set by the Remuneration Tribunal. As
at 30 June 2019, these fees were $59,780 a year for the
Chairperson and $35,870 for Directors (other than the
Managing Director, whose remuneration arrangements are
determined by the Board).

In recognition of the additional responsibilities of Audit
Committees, the Remuneration Tribunal has approved
additional fees for members of AgriFutures Australia’s Audit
Committee. The fees are $9,680 a year for the Committee
Chair and $4,840 for Committee members.

Board meetings
During 2018-19, the Board held four meetings:
•

Canberra ACT: 11 and 12 September 2018

•

Wagga Wagga NSW: 5 and 6 December 2018

•

Wagga Wagga NSW: 6 and 7 March 2019

•

Ballina NSW: 5 and 6 June 2019

Table 9
AgriFutures Australia Board Director attendance for 2018-19
Board
Meetings held

Audit
Meetings
attended

Meetings held

Meetings
attended

Meetings
attended as
observer

K. Andrews

4

4

-

-

-

R. Clark

4

4

4

4

-

K. Fairley-Grenot*

2

2

2

2

-

T. Hamilton

4

4

-

-

-

J. Harvey

4

4

-

-

4

I. Henderson

4

4

2

2

-

K. Hull AM

4

4

-

-

1

W. Ryan

4

4

4

4

-

*The Director resigned from the AgriFutures Board on 05 January 2019.
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Inductions and continuing education
of Directors
During the year, Directors participated in various industry
conferences and workshops to further their knowledge of
stakeholder issues and emerging sector issues. The Board
also develops an annual program of briefings for Directors
that are usually held in tandem with a Board meeting.
Individual Directors may also participate in professional
development programs with the Australian Institute of
Company Directors and other entities as required.

Independent professional advice
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The Board has determined that the Managing Director
shall, in accordance with the Accountable Authority
Instructions and pursuant to Section 76(2) of the PIRD Act,
conduct the affairs of AgriFutures Australia, subject to
the following Managing Director limitations where Board
approval is required:
• 		 Approval of the Strategic R&D Plan, Annual Operational
Plan and Budget, and Capital Budget
•

Approval of all notifications to the Minister as
required under section 19 of the Public Governance,
Performance and Accountability Act 2013 (PGPA Act)

• 		 Purchases of capital items in excess of the total
budget limit

Board members may seek independent professional advice
at AgriFutures Australia’s expense as considered necessary
to discharge their duties and responsibilities. Directors
must obtain the approval of the Chair (which may not be
unreasonably withheld) and the advice received made
available to all Board members as appropriate.

• 		 Write-off of non-recoverable debts above $50,000 for
any given financial year

Potential conflict of interest

• 		 Any contract where the total AgriFutures Australia
commitment exceeds $650,000 other than a variation
to a Board-approved contract where the variation is less
than 20 per cent of the approved commitment and the
variation does not materially affect expected contract
outputs

The Board manages the potential for conflict of interest for
Directors and senior management by an annual declaration
of potential conflicts and by a standing agenda item at
each Board meeting that requires Directors who may have
a conflict of interest in any matter to discuss it at that
meeting. Where a material potential conflict is identified,
the Director leaves the meeting during discussion of
the matter. Potential conflicts are recorded in the Board
minutes and are available for consideration by AgriFutures
Australia’s auditors.
Members of the Audit Committee also provide an annual
written declaration to the Board stating they do not have
any conflicts of interest that would preclude them from
being members of the Committee.

• 		 Agreements that commit AgriFutures Australia to
arrangements with other organisations/people in
the nature of joint ventures, partnerships, being
an essential participant in a CRC, shareholdings in
corporations or joining in the formation of a company

• 		 The commitment of AgriFutures Australia through
contractual obligation for the commercial use of, or
exploitation of, its intellectual property
• 		 Material changes in accounting policy within the control
of AgriFutures Australia and consistent with Finance
Minister’s orders
• 		 Material changes to AgriFutures Australia’s standard
research agreement or other legally binding agreements
approved by the Board
•

Related entity transactions
The decision-making process for AgriFutures
Australia’s financial transactions, including related
entity transactions, is guided by AgriFutures Australia’s
Accountable Authority Instructions and Financial Policy
and Procedures.
The Board and the Managing Director have powers
conferred on them by the PIRD Act.

Any other limitations notified in writing to the Managing
Director by the Board.

All AgriFutures Australia staff are bound by its Financial
Policy and Procedures and related Accountable Authority
Instructions.
The Accountable Authority Instructions detail powers
delegated to AgriFutures Australia staff under sections 90
and 91 of the PIRD Act 1989. The instrument limits financial
authority as follows:
•

The financial liability into which AgriFutures Australia is
entering must be consistent with strategic, operational
and capital plans
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• 		 The limits designated by approved budgets for which
delegates are responsible (for example, program/ cost
centre budget, etc.).
AgriFutures Australia’s Conflict of Interest Policy
applies to all staff.

Agreements to conduct research
for the organisation
AgriFutures Australia uses a standard form contract for
R&D projects (research agreement), which sets out the
terms on which AgriFutures Australia will engage successful
applicants to carry out the project. The research agreement
has been developed to reflect AgriFutures Australia’s
statutory and other responsibilities in funding projects.
AgriFutures Australia will generally not negotiate substantive
amendments to any clauses of the agreement unless:

•

It is satisfied that exceptional circumstances exist
that require amendment to the standard form

• 		 The applicant completes a statement of noncompliance for each of those clauses.

Consultancy services
and selection of suppliers
The consultancies used by AgriFutures Australia during
2018-19, the nature of their work, and the cost of their
services are listed in Table 10.
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Purchasing procedures

Risk management

AgriFutures Australia procures goods and services ranging
from low-value petty cash items to high-value goods
and services that may involve complex tendering and
contracting processes. Therefore, purchasing procedures
will vary according to the value and complexity involved in
each particular purchase. AgriFutures Australia expects
its staff to adopt a simple, straightforward approach to the
purchase of low-value goods and services and use more
complex methods to manage the risks involved in major
purchases.

AgriFutures Australia’s Risk Management Plan 2017-2020
is reassessed annually by the Audit Committee and Board
to ensure all risks are reviewed where there have been
changes in internal or external operating environments
and to consider any emerging risks. The control framework
comprises a risk assessment methodology and a risk
register with relevant mitigation strategies. Management
also reports to each Board and Audit Committee meeting
on the status and progress of the management of any key
risks.

The following principles are applied for all transactions:

In 2018-19, AgriFutures Australia conducted a formal
enterprise risk assessment review. The process identified
key risks facing AgriFutures Australia at both strategic and
operational levels using best practice methodology. The risk
register was revised to address the key risks raised during
the risk assessment process.

• 		 Expenditure is to be appropriate for the purpose
(AgriFutures Australia funds must be used solely
for the purposes of AgriFutures Australia, in line
with the AOP)
• 		 Purchases should represent value for money

Table 10
Name of consultancy

Nature of consultancy

Cost of services ($)

Initiated in 2018-19
or ongoing

Banki Haddock Fiora

Legal Services

$74,995.16

Ongoing

Myer Vanderberg

Legal Services

$300.00

Ongoing

Australian Government Solicitor

Legal Services

$7,485.50

Ongoing

HWL Ebsworth

Legal Services

$41,980.45

Ongoing

Hulm Lawyers Pty Ltd

Legal Services

$15,953.46

Initiated in 2018-19

Synchronicity Consulting

Project Work

$4,977.10

Ongoing

Betzner Consulting Pty Ltd

Project Work

$62,299.90

Initiated in 2018-19

Dr Margaret MacKenzie

Project Work

$1,825.00

Initiated in 2018-19

John R Oliver

Project Work

$9,550.00

Initiated in 2018-19

ACS Engineers

Project Work

$700.00

Initiated in 2018-19

Rae Professional Services Pty Ltd

Project Work

$1,928.00

Initiated in 2018-19

ITS Global (Asia Pacific)

Project Work

$1,000.00

Initiated in 2018-19

Glasshouse Consulting

Project Work

$7,500.00

Initiated in 2018-19

Rob McInnes IP Advisory Pty Ltd

Project Work

$800.00

Initiated in 2018-19

Cumbre Consultants

Project Work

$17,600.00

Initiated in 2018-19

Seedbed Media Pty Ltd

Project Work

$1,050.00

Initiated in 2018-19

DK IT Consulting

Project Work

$780.00

Initiated in 2018-19

Rural Analytics Pty Ltd

Project Work

$26,056.12

Initiated in 2018-19

Matthew O'Callaghan

Project Work

$10,745.45

Initiated in 2018-19

Purple Pyjamas

Project Work

$105,250.00

Initiated in 2018-19

Forest Hill Consulting

Project Work

$128,080.00

Initiated in 2018-19

Australian Business Class

Project Work

$12,600.00

Initiated in 2018-19
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• 		 Procurement processes should be conducted in an
efficient, effective and ethical manner. They should be
transparent and publicly defensible
• 		 Staff must not improperly use their position to gain
an advantage for themselves or someone else. Staff
must declare any real or perceived conflict of interest
• 		 Procurement should be conducted in accordance with
the procedures outlined in the AgriFutures Australia’s
Procurement Procedure, with particular attention
paid to the requirements associated with various
procurement thresholds and methods.

Indemnities and insurances
for Directors and officers
Since February 1999, AgriFutures Australia has been a
member of Comcover, the Australian Government’s selfmanaged fund for insurance cover. The insurance covers
Directors and officers against various liabilities they may
incur in their capacity as officers of AgriFutures Australia.
The Comcover insurance contract prohibits disclosure
of the nature and limit of the liabilities covered and the
amount of AgriFutures Australia’s membership premium.
No insurance claims were made during 2018-19. During
August 2018, the Board executed an Access and Indemnity
Deed. The Deed enables new Directors as they are
appointed and designated senior officers to be indemnified
from liabilities they may incur as Directors and officers of
AgriFutures Australia, as permitted by the PGPA Act.

The Audit Committee oversees preparation and
implementation of AgriFutures Australia’s risk management
initiatives.

Fraud control
AgriFutures Australia’s Fraud Control Plan is approved by
the Audit Committee and Board.
The Managing Director is satisfied that:
• 		 A fraud risk assessment and fraud control plan
have been prepared in compliance with the
Commonwealth’s Fraud Control Guidelines as set out
in AgriFutures Australia’s Fraud Control Plan 2018–20
• 		 Appropriate fraud prevention, detection, investigation
and reporting procedures and processes are in place
as specified in AgriFutures Australia’s Fraud Control
Plan 2018–20
• 		 No incidents of fraud have been reported.
Accordingly, the Board is satisfied that AgriFutures
Australia’s fraud control policies, procedures and initiatives
are in accordance with the Commonwealth’s Fraud Control
Guidelines.
The Audit Committee oversees preparation and
implementation of AgriFutures Australia’s Fraud Control
Policy.
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AgriFutures Australia actions under the
Work Health and Safety Act 2011
Table 11

Ministerial reporting

Compliance with general policies of government

Act requirement

AgriFutures Australia action

The Australian Government is a key stakeholder.
It provides the legislative framework under which
AgriFutures Australia operates, a core appropriation
through the Department of Agriculture and matching
Commonwealth funds to those AgriFutures Australia
industries with a statutory levy.

AgriFutures Australia is not required to comply with the
Commonwealth Procurement Rules 2014. However, the
AgriFutures Australia Procurement Policy aligns with the
Commonwealth Procurement Guidelines where practicable.

Details of work health and safety
arrangements

•	AgriFutures Australia’s Work Health and Safety Policy was updated to meet
the requirements of the Work Health and Safety Act 2011

In addition to the specific linkages of Board appointments
and corporate documentation such as the Corporate
Plan, the Annual Operational Plan and this Annual Report,
AgriFutures Australia also writes to the responsible
Minister outlining the key outcomes of Board meetings.

Public Governance, Performance
and Accountability Act 2013

Ministerial directions
Under Section 143 of the PIRD Act, the Minister may
give written directions to AgriFutures Australia as to the
performance of its functions and the exercise of its powers.
No such directions were given in 2018-19.
Under Section 22 of the PGPA Act, the Minister may give
written directions to AgriFutures Australia regarding
complying with the general policies of the Government. No
such directions were given in 2018-19.

Judicial decisions
No judicial decisions were recorded for 2018-19.

Significant events
On 15 October 2018, AgriFutures Australia hosted the
AgriFuturesTM Rural Women’s Award Gala at Parliament
House, Canberra.
On 19 and 20 February 2019, AgriFutures Australia hosted
evokeAG., the Asia Pacific region’s largest agrifood tech
event at the Royal Exhibition Building, Melbourne.

•	Staff were consulted and the Policy was circulated and published on the
intranet

Compliance with legislative requirements

AgriFutures Australia has no instance of non-compliance
with the Public Governance, Performance and
Accountability Act 2013 for the period 2018-19.
Work Health and Safety Act 2011

• Related policies were also reviewed and updated.

Initiatives undertaken during the
year to ensure the health, safety and
welfare at work of employees and
contractors

Part 14, Schedule 2, Part 4 Other Persons

•	Work health and safety is a standing item on the meeting agendas of
the Workplace Consultative Committee (WCC), staff meetings, executive
meetings, and Audit Committee and Board meetings
•	Policy awareness sessions were conducted on all reviewed and updated
work health and safety policies
•	Managers were briefed on their roles and responsibilities under the
legislation

Table 11 summarises the requirements under the Work
Health and Safety Act 2011 and the AgriFutures Australia’s
related actions.

•	New staff undertook workplace assessments to ensure that any reasonable
workplace adjustments were made (ergonomic equipment, furniture, etc.
was provided as required)

The Environment Protection
and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999

• T
 he annual influenza vaccination program was offered to all staff during
2018-19, and occurs each year

AgriFutures Australia is required to report against two
criteria. The first is how AgriFutures Australia’s activities
accord with and contribute to ecologically sustainable
development (see Table 12). The second is to report on
AgriFutures Australia’s environmental performance, and
measures being taken to mitigate the impact activities have
on the natural environment.

• F
 irst aid officers and fire wardens have been appointed and are
appropriately trained
•	Work health and safety information is displayed prominently in the
workplace.

Health and safety outcomes (including
the impact on injury rates of employees
and contractors achieved as a result of
initiatives mentioned above)

Health and safety outcomes remain comparable to previous years.

Statistics of any accidents or
dangerous occurrences during the year
arising out of conduct or undertakings
by AgriFutures Australia that required
the giving of notice

Nil

Details of any investigations
conducted during the year that relate
to undertakings carried on by the
employer, including details of all
notices given to the employee

Nil
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The effect of AgriFutures Australia’s
actions on the environment
Table 12
Program

Environmental issue

Outcomes

Program

Environmental issue

Outcomes

Rice

The AgriFuturesTM Rice Program
continues to fund the Rice Breeding
project that has a goal to develop
rice varieties with enhanced
adaptation, e.g. improved cold
tolerance, salinity tolerance, drought
tolerance and water productivity, to
cope with an evolving production
environment

Further advancement towards the development of coldtolerant rice varieties has continued and new research into
heat tolerance for adaption to northern Australia opens up
opportunity to grow rice under a variety of climatic zones.

New and
emerging rural
industries

Water

The program includes projects that are aimed at finding or
improving knowledge on alternative, low-water-use crops
including:

Energy recovery from litter

Research continues into the recovery and energy value of
litter with several different bioenergy production techniques,
producing bioenergy and valuable fertiliser products. These
technologies range from mature to prototype, and very few
have been applied in the Australian chicken meat industry to
date.

Chicken Meat

Litter reuse

Capacity building

• Quinoa, a drought-tolerant super-grain

Improved temperature tolerance, remote crop sensing and
precision farming will lead to greater potential for reducing
irrigated water use, managing seasonal variation and crop
inputs.

Litter reuse (raising multiple batches of chickens on the
same litter) is a safe and environmentally beneficial practice
when managed correctly. Innovative business models for
litter management and reducing the impact of stable fly are
new areas of investigation. Research has been completed to
address concerns around pathogens, dust and odour.
Contribution to Poultry Hub Australia that has formed strong
research associations for national investment. Support
continues for Nuffield Australia Farming Scholarships and
higher degree research scholarships that foster emerging
industry leaders and innovators.

• Date palm pollination improvements
• Development of chinese date (jujube) industry.
Overcoming soil loss, salinity
and acidity

Several saline research projects including:
•	Studies towards the development of a chinese date
(jujube) industry
• Research on quinoa, a salt-tolerant super-grain
•	Rejuvenation of the new crops website and carob industry
development studies
• Date palm R&D
• Developing options for the carob industry.

Sustainable use of Australia’s
biodiversity

Research projects on the sustainable use of Australia’s
biodiversity including kakadu plums.

Responding to climate change
and variability

Projects in whole or part, aimed at addressing issues of
climate change or food security, including:
• Quinoa research
• Characterising Wild Rice varieties

Management practices

Honey Bee
and Pollination

RD&E investments to assist the
interception of exotic bee pests and
pest bees at Australia’s border

Investment continues in methods to improve bird comfort
through sprinkler cooling systems, environmental
enrichments (such as perches, hay bales), nutritional
strategies, lighting, management practices and optimising
free-range conditions.
Investment has supported the National Bee Pest Surveillance
Program for a transition period until the industry can
independently fund the program.

• Date research
• Development of chinese date (jujube) industry
•	Cultivating Australian seaweeds for health and
nutritional markets
•	Evaluating options to improve the capacity of industries to
withstand cyclonic winds.

Section 3

Measures being taken to minimise the
impact of actions by AgriFutures Australia
on the environment
AgriFutures Australia continued initiatives to minimise the
impact of its actions on the environment by:
•		 Continued electronic distribution of Board and Audit
Committee papers
• 		 Continued electronic distribution of Advisory Panel
meeting papers
• 		 Availability of electronic versions of a majority of
internal policies, forms and administrative documents
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Freedom of Information

AgriFutures Australia documents

The broad objective of the Freedom of Information Act 1982
(FOI Act) is to give the Australian community access to
information held by the Commonwealth Government.

AgriFutures Australia publishes or holds corporate
documents such as the Annual Report, Corporate Plan and
Annual Operational Plan. These are free while stocks are
available.

Reforms to the FOI Act, which came into effect on 1 May
2011, are aimed at promoting a pro-disclosure culture
across government and building a stronger foundation
for greater openness and transparency in government
operations. AgriFutures Australia is committed to a
proactive approach to publishing information that it holds
for the benefit of the rural and rural research communities
and the broader Australian public.

• 		 Encouraging teleconferencing whenever possible

This information is accessible through AgriFutures
Australia’s website at agrifutures.com.au.

• 		 Developing a risk assessment framework for project
proposals to reduce the risk of funding plants and
animals that may become invasive.

AgriFutures Australia operates under the direction of a
Board of Directors. Its headquarters are in Wagga Wagga,
NSW and contact details are:

AgriFutures Australia continued to promote the use of
print-on-demand services for its publications by:

Freedom of information
AgriFutures Australia
Building 007
Tooma Way
Charles Sturt University
Wagga Wagga NSW 2650

• 		 Electronically distributing corporate documents to
clients and stakeholders
•

Encouraging the use of electronic files in place of
hardcopy items, e.g. the Annual Operational Plan and
other corporate documents

• 		 Encouraging distribution of electronic research
reports for stakeholders rather than printing hard
copies.

Postal address:
c/o Charles Sturt University
Locked Bag 588
Wagga Wagga NSW 2678
agrifutures.com.au

Mechanisms for reviewing and increasing
the effectiveness of above measures

How to make a request for access to
documents under the FOI Act

• 		 AgriFutures Australia closely monitored its paper
usage and postage costs during the year to quantify
the effectiveness of these measures

Requests made under the FOI Act must:

• 		 More generally, AgriFutures Australia has a regular
program of evaluating the impact of its R&D
investments using a triple bottom line approach,
assessing economic, environmental and social
impacts

• 		 State that the request is an application for the
purposes of the FOI Act

• 		 The AgriFutures Australia project application process
specifically requires an applicant to address the
environmental implications of their project in addition
to the economic and social impacts.

Annual Report 2018-19

• 		 Be in writing

They are also available for free download from AgriFutures
Australia’s website at agrifutures.com.au.
AgriFutures Australia’s extensive research library is
available for viewing, free downloading or purchasing
from its print-on-demand portal at agrifutures.com.au/
publications-resources/publications/
Purchases can also be made by phoning 1300 634 313 for
the cost of a local call.

Accessing information
Formal requests for information under the FOI Act must
be made in writing to: The FOI Coordinator AgriFutures
Australia at the appropriate postal address.
In many cases, an application under the FOI Act may
not be required as information or documents may be
readily available. An up-to-date listing of projects funded
by AgriFutures Australia is detailed on the AgriFutures
Australia website. Funding information on individual
projects is available on request.

Processing of FOI requests
Upon receipt of a FOI request, AgriFutures Australia will
provide an acknowledgement of receipt within 14 days. In
accordance with the FOI Act, a decision must be notified
to the FOI applicant within 30 days of receipt. However,
as some documents may be subject to a third-party
consultation process, the FOI Act provides agencies
with the right to extend the applicable timeframe by an
additional 30 days. If consultation is required, applicants
will be informed accordingly.
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may be imposed for processing requests (except where
applicants are seeking documents containing their own
personal information). Should the FOI request incur any
charges, applicants will be provided with an estimate of
the applicable charges. Requests will not proceed until
applicants provide a response to the estimate. AgriFutures
Australia may decide to remit, reduce or not impose
processing charges under certain circumstances.

Review rights
Following receipt of the decision on access, applicants are
entitled to seek an internal review of the decision by writing
to the FOI Coordinator within 30 days of being notified of
the decision.
Alternatively, applicants may write to the Office of the
Australian Information Commissioner (OAIC) seeking a
review of AgriFutures Australia’s decision. This can be
done as a result of either the initial decision or the internal
review decision.
Subsequent review options after internal review and OAIC
review are also available. The complete process for seeking
a review on access is provided in the decision letter sent to
applicants at the completion of the request.

Further information
The FOI Coordinator can be contacted to discuss any
prospective request to the organisation. Since 1 May 2011,
agencies have been required to provide public access to
documents released in accordance with the FOI Act.
Documents released under the FOI Act can be obtained
by accessing AgriFutures Australia’s FOI Disclosure Log at
agrifutures.com.au.
AgriFutures Australia’s FOI information can be found by
accessing agrifutures.com.au.

Information Publication Scheme

• 		 Provide such information concerning the document
that will allow AgriFutures Australia to identify it

Fees and charges

• 		 Provide detail of how notices provided by AgriFutures
Australia in relation to the FOI request can be sent to
the applicant.

FOI requests made to AgriFutures Australia on or after
1 November 2010 no longer require an application fee
to be paid. However, the FOI Act provides that charges

Agencies subject to the FOI Act are required to publish
information to the public as part of the Information
Publication Scheme.
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Auditor’s report and
Director’s statement

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of the financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Minister for Agriculture
Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements of the Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation (‘the
Entity’) for the year ended 30 June 2019:
(a) comply with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Public
Governance, Performance and Accountability (Financial Reporting) Rule 2015; and
(b) present fairly the financial position of the Entity as at 30 June 2019 and its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended.
The financial statements of the Entity, which I have audited, comprise the following statements as at 30 June
2019 and for the year then ended:







Statement by Directors, Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer;
Statement of Comprehensive Income;
Statement of Financial Position;
Statement of Changes in Equity;
Cash Flow Statement; and
Notes to the financial statements, comprising a Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my report. I am independent
of the Entity in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements for financial statement audits conducted by
the Auditor‐General and his delegates. These include the relevant independence requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
Code) to the extent that they are not in conflict with the Auditor‐General Act 1997. I have also fulfilled my other
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards, I exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;
 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Entity’s internal control;
 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Accountable Authority;
 conclude on the appropriateness of the Accountable Authority’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern; and
 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
I communicate with the Accountable Authority regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify
during my audit.
Australian National Audit Office

Accountable Authority’s responsibility for the financial statements
As the Accountable Authority of the Entity, the directors are responsible under the Public Governance,
Performance and Accountability Act 2013 (the Act) for the preparation and fair presentation of annual financial
statements that comply with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the rules
made under the Act. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Peter Kerr

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Entity to
continue as a going concern, taking into account whether the Entity’s operations will cease as a result of an
administrative restructure or for any other reason. The directors are also responsible for disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
assessment indicates that it is not appropriate.

Canberra

GPO Box 707 CANBERRA ACT 2601
19 National Circuit BARTON ACT
Phone (02) 6203 7300 Fax (02) 6203 7777

Executive Director
Delegate of the Auditor‐General

12 September 2019
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STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the period ended 30 June 2019

Notes

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Original budget
$’000

Notes

NET COST OF SERVICES

Net cost of services

Expenses

Revenue from Government

Employee Benefits

1.1A

2,966

2,670

3,588

Research Projects

1.1B

21,048

21,414

22,807

Suppliers

1.1C

6,923

4,049

3,596

105

104

160

6

10

-

31,048

28,247

30,151

Depreciation and Amortisation
Write-Down and Impairment of Assets
Total expenses

Surplus/(Deficit)

2018
$’000

Original budget
$’000

14,302

14,154

24,017

17,777

15,050

20,365

3,475

896

(3,652)

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,475

896

(3,652)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not subject to subsequent reclassification to net cost of services
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
The above statement should be read in conjunction with
the accompanying notes.			

Own-Source Income
Own-source revenue
Industry Levies

1.2A

5,265

5,723

-

External Contributions

1.2B

10,441

7,081

3,832

10

25

-

Sale of Goods and Rendering of Services
Interest

1.2C

625

565

550

Royalties

1.2D

239

430

387

Other Revenue

1.2E

166

269

1,365

16,746

14,093

6,134

Total own-source revenue

1.2F

2019
$’000

Budget Variances Commentary
Statement of Comprehensive Income
The original budget is the 2018-19 Portfolio Budget
Statement (PBS). The surplus of $3.5m is $7.1m
over budget due primarily to additional own source
revenue of $10.6m, partially offset by a decrease in
Revenue from Government of $2.6m, and increased
expenditure of $0.9m.

Revenue from Government was $2.6m under
budget due to:
•

The reclassification of Industry Levies to own
source revenue and Northern Rice funding to
Revenue from Government. 		

The additional $10.6m own source revenue is
comprised of: 				

•

Additional funding of $2m for the new
GrowAG program.		

•

Total expenses were over budget by $0.9m.

•

•

External contributions $6.6m, consisting of $2m
for new Rural Research and Development for
Profit (RnD4P) programs, $0.6m for existing RnD4P
programs, $1.6m in ticket sales and sponsorship
income for the evokeAG program and $2.2m in
industry contributions.		
Industry levies were $5.2m above budget as levies
were included with Revenue from Government in
the PBS Budget. 			
Other Revenue is $1.2m under budget as funding
for the Northern Rice program of $1m was included
under Other Revenue in the PBS Budget rather than
Revenue from Government.			
				

•

Employee benefits were $0.6m lower than the
budget as a result of fewer staff being recruited
than planned. Suppliers expense was $3.3m over
budget, primarily due to expenses for the new
evokeAg program not being included in the 201819 PBS Budget and the engaging of additional
contractors when necessary.		

•

Research Expense was below the budget estimate
by $1.8m. The major variance was in the Rice
program - down $0.4m due to seasonal conditions
with variances across a number of other programs.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
as at 30 June 2019

Notes

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Original budget
$’000

ASSETS
Financial assets
4,718

Cash and Cash Equivalents

2.1A

Trade and Other Receivables

2.1B

Investments

2.1C

28,284

Total financial assets

4,280

8,649

3,566

3,116

2,400

20,000

17,000

6,980

24,396

18,029

Budget Variances Commentary
Statement of Financial Position
¹Note: Retained surplus and Total equity have been
published incorrectly in the PBS Budget. Retained surplus
and Total equity should be $17.184m.
Total Equity of $26.5m was above budget by $9.3m due
to a positive variance of $7.1m in 2018-19 (made up of an
operating surplus of $3.47m plus the budgeted deficit of
$3.65m) and the opening equity balance in the PBS Budget
not being updated to reflect the 2017-18 audited financial
statements.

invested from Cash and Cash Equivalents. Trade and
Other Receiveables were also $1.1m over budget due to
invoices for Industry Contributions being issued in June
with payment due in July of $0.4m and a payment for an
Industry Contribution of $0.5m to the Secure Pollination
program remaining outstanding as at the end of June.
Total Liabilities of $2.3m were $1.1m over budget due to:
•

Accrued research projects being over budget by $1.3m
as it was expected that all research commitments
would be fully expensed by June 30.

•

The remaining $0.2m variance was comprised of
differences in Suppliers Payables, Other Payables and
Employee Provisions.				

Total Assets of $26.5m were $10.3m above budget due to:

Non-financial assets
128

133

104

2.2A

45

81

133

2.2B

372

88

203

545

302

440

28,829

24,698

18,469

280

162

893

Plant and Equipment

2.2A

Computer Software
Prepayments
Total non-financial assets
Total assets

Investments were $13m over budget as additional income
received as reported in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income was invested in term deposits, and $3.9m was

LIABILITIES
Payables
Suppliers
Research Projects

2.3A

1,351

932

-

Other Payables

2.3B

267

192

5

1,898

1,286

898

Total payables

STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the period ended 30 June 2019
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Balance carried forward from previous period

23,016

22,120

20,799

Adjusted opening balance

23,016

22,120

20,799

Surplus/(Deficit) for the period

3,475

896

(3,652)

Total comprehensive income

3,475

896

(3,652)

-

-

-

26,491

23,016

17,147

Provisions
Employee Provisions

3.1

428

384

387

Other Provisions

2.4

12

12

-

440

396

387

Total provisions
Total liabilities
Net assets

2,338

1,682

1,285

26,491

23,016

17,184

Original budget
$’000

RETAINED EARNINGS
Opening balance

Comprehensive income
EQUITY
-

-

-

Retained surplus

26,491

23,016

17,1471

Total equity

26,491

23,016

17,147

Reserves

The above statement should be read in conjunction with
the accompanying notes.			

Transfers between equity components
Closing balance as at 30 June
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CASH FLOW
STATEMENT
for the period ended 30 June 2019
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Original budget
$’000

2018
$’000

Original budget
$’000

Cash received

Opening balance
Balance carried forward from previous period

23,016

22,120

17,147

Adjusted opening balance

23,016

22,120

17,147

Receipts from Government
Industry levies
External contributions

18,080

15,050

20,365

5,265

5,723

-

10,773

7,081

-

10

25

-

1,558

1,323

-

Sale of goods and rendering of services

Comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income

2019
$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

TOTAL EQUITY

Surplus/(Deficit) for the period

Notes

3,475

896

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income

3,475

896

-

Closing balance as at 30 June

26,491

23,016

17,147

Net GST received
Interest

612

582

550

Other

405

1,024

5,584

36,703

30,808

26,499

Total cash received
Cash used

The above statement should be read in conjunction with
the accompanying notes.

22,614

22,996

22,807

Employees

2,922

2,656

3,588

Suppliers

7,667

4,397

3,596

Total cash used

33,203

30,049

29,991

3,500

759

(3,492)

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment

-

-

-

Recognition of maturity of term deposit in less
than 3 months from 1 July

-

-

-

Total cash received

-

-

-

62

30

67
-

Research projects

Budget Variances Commentary
Retained Earnings

Net cash from operating activities

The opening balance of $23m was $2.2m above budget
as the original PBS Budget was not updated to reflect
the 2017-18 audited financial statements.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

The closing equity balance of $26.5m was above
budget by $9.4m due to the combination of the opening
balance variance and the positive budget variance of
$7.1m for 2018-19.

Cash used
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

-

5

3,000

7,000

-

3,062

7,035

67

(3,062)

(7,035)

(67)

Purchase of intangibles
Investments
Total cash used
Net cash from/(used) by investing activities
Net increase in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the reporting period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
reporting period

2.1A

438

(6,276)

(3,559)

4,280

10,556

12,208

4,718

4,280

8,649

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Overview
Budget Variances Commentary
Cash Flow Statement
Cash received
Total cash received of $36.7m was $10.2m over budget
due to additional income received as reported in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income in addition to GST
funds received of $1.6m and matching funds of $0.3m.
Cash used
Total cash used was $3.2m above budget due to
additional payments to Suppliers was $4.1m over budget,
primarily due to expenses for the new evokeAg program
not being included in the 2018-19 PBS Budget, the
engaging of additional contractors when necessary and
a decrease in accounts payable due to payments made
late in June.

Objective of Rural Industries Research
and Development Corporation
The Rural Industries Research and Development
Corporation, trading as AgriFutures Australia, (Corporation)
is an Australian Government controlled entity defined as a
corporate commonwealth entity in the Public Governance,
Performance and Accountability Act 2013. The objective
of AgriFutures Australia is to contribute to the productivity
and sustainability of Australia through rural innovation
by working with industry and government. In doing this
we generate the knowledge to help rural industries
and communities to capture opportunity and manage
change. Growing the productivity and sustainability of
rural industries through innovation is a key driver of the
prosperity and resilience of rural Australia.
AgriFutures Australia is structured to meet a
single outcome:
Increased knowledge that fosters sustainable,
productive and profitable new and existing rural
industries and furthers understanding of national
rural issues through research and development in
government-industry partnership.		
The continued existence of AgriFutures Australia in
its present form and with its present programmes is
dependent on Government policy and on continuing
funding by Parliament for AgriFutures Australia’s
administration and programs.			

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual
basis and in accordance with the historical cost convention,
except for certain assets and liabilities at fair value. Except
where stated, no allowance is made for the effect of
changing prices on the results or the financial position.
The financial statements are presented in Australian
dollars and values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars unless otherwise specified.

New Accounting Standards		
No accounting standard has been adopted earlier than
the application dates as stated in the standard.
The new standards, revised standards, interpretations
and amending standards that were issued prior to the
sign-off date and are applicable to the current reporting
period did not have a material impact on the 2018-19
financial statements.
AASB 16 (Leases), AASB 15 (Revenue from Contracts with
Customers) and AASB 1058 (Income of Not-for-Profit
Entities) will apply from the 2019-20 financial year.

Taxation		
The entity is exempt from all forms of taxation except
fringe benefits tax (FBT), payroll tax and the goods and
services tax (GST).

The Basis of Preparation
The financial statements are general purpose financial
statements and are required by section 42 of the Public
Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013.
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with:				
a) Public Governance, Performance and Accountability
(Financial Reporting) Rule 2015 (FRR); and
b) Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations
- Reduced Disclosure Requirements issued by the
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that
apply for the reporting period.		

Events after the reporting period
There are no events to report.
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This section analyses the financial performance of the Rural Industries
Research & Development Corporation for the year ended 2019.

Goods supplied

1,792

739

2018
$’000

Services rendered

4,996

3,191

Total goods and services supplied or rendered

6,788

3,930

2,470

2,206

Other suppliers
116

114

274

253

43

43

Total other suppliers

44

55

Total suppliers

2019
$’000
1.1A: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Wages and salaries

Operating lease rentals

Superannuation
Defined contribution plans
Defined benefit plans
Leave and other entitlements

33

-

Other employee benefits

102

113

Total employee benefits

2,966

2,670

Separation and redundancies

ACCOUNTING POLICY
Accounting policies for employee related expenses is contained in the People and relationships section.

1.1B: RESEARCH PROJECTS

Workers compensation expenses

19

5

135

119

6,923

4,049

Leasing commitments
Rural Industries Research & Development Corporation in its capacity as lessee leased premises at Charles Sturt
University (CSU) (Building 007, CSU, Boorooma Street, Wagga Wagga, NSW) for a five year lease term commencing on
19 September 2016. Ministerial approval for the lease has been obtained.				
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable
operating leases are payable as follows:

Public sector
Australian Government entities (related entities)

1,554

2,964

Within 1 year

122

132

State and Territory Governments

5,790

6,223

Between 1 to 5 years

143

312

Total operating lease commitments

265

444

Private sector
147

107

Tertiary institutions

6,808

6,807

Commercial entities

6,749

5,313

Total research projects

21,048

21,414

Non-profit organisations

ACCOUNTING POLICY
The Corporation manages research project expense through project contracts which require research partners
to perform services in accordance with scheduled milestones. Research project expenses are recognised when
the contracted milestone payments are due.

ACCOUNTING POLICY
Operating lease payments are expensed on a straight-line basis which is representative of the pattern of
benefits derived from the leased assets.
Contingent rent (CPI) is excluded from the recognition of minimum lease payments in 2019.
Note comparatives are incl GST.

1.2: Own-source revenue and gains

1.1C: SUPPLIERS
Goods and services supplied or rendered

2018
$’000

5,260

5,711

OWN-SOURCE REVENUE

Conferences

1,200

87

1.2A: Industry levies

Consultants

393

45

Industry levies

Contractors

1,776

1,085

Information and communication

932

777

Legal services

141

106

Learning and development

135

111

1.2B: External contributions

Travel

812

822

Other

1,399

897

6,788

3,930

Total goods and services supplied or rendered

2019
$’000

5

12

5,265

5,723

Industry contributions

4,325

4,032

Grants Australian Government

4,396

2,874

Industry levy penalties
Total industry levies

Sponsorships

998

-

Ticket Sales

677

63

Other
Total external contributions

45

112

10,441

7,081
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ACCOUNTING POLICY

ACCOUNTING POLICY

Industry Levies
Under Section 30(1)(a) of the Primary Industries Research and Development Act 1989 (PIRD Act), each program
to which a levy is attached receives industry levies. These contributions to the Corporation are collected and
distributed by the Australian Government under the various Levy Collection Acts. Industry levies revenue is
recognised when the amounts are paid or payable by the Government to the Corporation.

Interest Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method as set out in AASB 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
Royalties
Royalties are recognised when the royalty is entitled to be received by the Corporation. The Corporation
receives a portion of the total royalties paid under the commercialisation agreements.

External Contributions
External contributions consist of:
•

Industry contributions, which are contributions from industry organisations to projects. These
contributions are recognised as revenue on receipt; and

•

Other contributions to a program managed by the Corporation (eg. grants). These contributions are
recognised as revenue on receipt.

Project Refunds
From time to time the Corporation receives project refunds, typically where a provider delivers the project for
less than the funds received. Project refunds relating to prior years expenditure are recognised as revenue
upon receipt.
Revenue from Government
Funding received or receivable from non-corporate Commonwealth entities (appropriated to the noncorporate Commonwealth entity as a corporate Commonwealth entity payment item for payment to this
entity) is recognised as Revenue from Government by the Corporation unless the funding is in the nature of an
equity injection or a loan.

Goods and Services
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when:
a) the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer; and
b) the Corporation retains no managerial involvement or effective control over the goods.

Under Section 30(1)(b) of the Primary Industries Research and Development Act 1989 (PIRD Act), the
Australian Government provides matching payments, within certain parameters, equal to one half of the
amount expended by each leviable program. Matching payments are recognised as Revenue from Government
when the necessary expense is recognised.

The stage of completion of contracts at the reporting date is determined by reference to services performed to
date as a percentage of total services to be performed.
Receivables for goods and services, which have 30 day terms, are recognised at the nominal amounts due
less any impairment allowance account. Collectability of debts is reviewed at end of the reporting period.
Allowances are made when collectability of the debt is no longer probable.

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Deposits

625

565

Total interest

625

565

Research project royalties

239

430

Total royalties

239

430

Project refunds

166

269

Total other revenue

166

269

12,479

10,342

1.2C: Interest

1.2D: Royalties

1.2E: Other revenue

1.2F: Revenue from Government
Amounts from portfolio department
PIRD Act 1989 Contribution
Total revenue from Government

5,298

4,708

17,777

15,050
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This section analyses the Rural Industries Research & Development Corporation
assets used to conduct its operations and the operating liabilities incurred as a result.
Employee related information is disclosed in the People and Relationships section.

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

2.1A: Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank

4,718

4,280

Total cash and cash equivalents

4,718

4,280

2.1C: Investments
Term Deposits

20,000

17,000

Total investments

20,000

17,000

ACCOUNTING POLICY

2.1B: Trade and other receivables

Term Deposits
The Corporation retains sufficient funds in cash to meet immediate working capital requirements.
Amounts over this requirement are invested in term deposits usually on three month terms.

Goods and services receivables
Goods and services

1,711

923

34

40

1,745

963

Department of Agriculture

1,487

1,790

Total receivables for Commonwealth contributions

1,487

1,790

Other
Total goods and services receivables

Interest revenue is recognised on an accrual basis.

Commonwealth contributions

2.2A: Reconciliation of the Opening and Closing Balances of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangibles

Other receivables
GST receivable from the Australian Taxation Office
Interest
Total other receivables
Total trade and other receivables (gross)
Less impairment allowance
Total trade and other receivables (net)

2.2: Non-financial assets

313

350

26

13

339

363

3,571

3,116

(5)

-

3,566

3,116

Credit terms for goods and services were within 30 days (2018: 30 days).

Office
Equipment
$’000

Financial Assets
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that are held for the purpose of collecting the contractual cash
flows where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, that are not provided at below-market
interest rates, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method adjusted for
any loss allowance.

Computer
Equipment
$’000

Leasehold
Improvements
$’000

Computer
Software2
$’000

Total
$’000

As at 1 July 2018
Gross book value

25

11

136

62

597

831

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation
and impairment

(9)

(2)

(79)

(13)

(516)

(619)

Total as at 1 July 2018

16

9

57

49

81

212

10

55

1

66

Additions
Purchase

ACCOUNTING POLICY

Furniture
& fittings1
$’000

Revaluations and impairments recognised
in other comprehensive income
Depreciation and amortisation

(5)

(2)

(49)

(12)

(37)

-

-

-

-

-

-

11

17

63

37

45

173

Disposals
Other
Total as at 30 June 2019

(105)
-

Total as at 30 June 2019 represented by
Gross book value

25

21

191

62

598

897

Accumulated depreciation, amortisation
and impairment

(14)

(4)

(128)

(25)

(553)

(724)

Total as at 30 June 2019 represented by

11

17

63

37

45

173

A rounding error of $2,000 in the Total as at 1 July 2018 for Furniture and fittings from 2017-18
has been corrected in this note.
2
The carrying amount of computer software comprises purchased software.
1

Section 4

ACCOUNTING POLICY
Assets are recorded at cost on acquisition except as stated below. The cost of acquisition includes the
fair value of assets transferred in exchange and liabilities undertaken. Financial assets are initially
measured at their fair value plus transaction costs where appropriate.					
Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration are initially recognised as assets and income
at their fair value at the date of acquisition unless acquired as a consequence of restructuring of
administrative arrangements. In the latter case, assets are initially recognised as contributions by
owners at the amounts at which they were recognised in the transferor’s accounts immediately prior to
the restructuring.					
Asset Recognition Threshold
Purchases of property, plant and equipment are recognised initially at cost in the statement of financial
position, except for purchases costing less than $300, which are expensed in the year of acquisition
(other than where they form part of a group of similar terms which are significant in total).
The initial cost of an asset includes an estimate of the cost of dismantling and removing the item and
restoring the site on which it is located. This is particularly relevant to ‘make good’ provisions in the
property leases taken up by the Corporation where there exists an obligation to restore the property to
original condition. These costs are included in the value of the Corporation’s leasehold improvements
with a corresponding provision for the ‘make good’ recognised.					
Revaluations
Following initial recognition at cost, property, plant and equipment is carried at fair value less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Valuations are conducted
with sufficient frequency to ensure that the carrying amounts of assets do not differ materially from
the assets’ fair values as at the reporting date. The regularity of independent valuations depends upon
the volatility of movements in market values for the relevant assets.					
Revaluation adjustments are made on a class basis. Any revaluation increment is credited to equity
under the heading of asset revaluation reserve except to the extent that it reversed a previous
revaluation decrement of the same asset class that was previously recognised in the surplus/deficit.
Revaluation decrements for a class of assets are recognised directly in the surplus/deficit except to the
extent that they reversed a previous revaluation increment for that class.
All plant and equipment assets were reviewed and assessed for fair value as at 30 June 2019.
Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset and the asset restated to the revalued amount.					
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Depreciation								
Depreciable plant and equipment assets are written-off to their estimated residual values over their
estimated useful lives to the Corporation using, in all cases, the straight-line method of depreciation.
Depreciation rates (useful lives), residual values and methods are reviewed at each reporting date and
necessary adjustments are recognised in the current, or current and future reporting periods, as appropriate.
Depreciation rates applying to each class of depreciable asset are based on the following useful lives:

Asset Class

2018-19

2017-18

Office Equipment

5 years

5 years

Furniture & Fittings

10 years

10 years

Computer Equipment

3 years

3 years

Leasehold Improvements

Lease term

Lease term

Impairment
All assets were assessed for impairment at 30 June 2019. Where indications of impairment exist, the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment adjustment made if the asset’s recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Where the
future economic benefit of an asset is not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate future
cash flows, and the asset would be replaced if the Corporation were deprived of the asset, its value in use
is taken to be its depreciated replacement cost.
Derecognition
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Intangibles
The Corporation’s intangibles comprise purchased software. These assets are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its anticipated useful life. The useful life of the
Corporation’s software is 5 years (2018: 5 years).
All software assets were assessed for indications of impairment as at 30 June 2019.			
					

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Prepayments

372

88

Total other non-financial assets

372

88

2.2B: Other non-financial assets

No indicators of impairment were found for other non-financial assets.				
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This section describes a range of employment and post
employment benefits provided to our people and our
relationships with other key people.

2.3: Payables
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Leave

Public sector
State and Territory Governments

2018
$’000

428

384

3.1: Employee provisions

2.3A: Research projects
Australian Government entities (related entities)

2019
$’000

16

45

442

110

-

37

Separations and redundancies
Total employee provisions

-

-

428

384

Private sector
Non-profit organisations
Tertiary institutions

530

69

Commercial entities

363

671

1,351

932

Total research projects

All research projects are expected to be settled in no more than 12 months.				
Research project creditors are recognised at their nominal amounts, being the amounts at which the liabilities will be
settled. They relate to payments approved on achievement of agreed milestones, but which were unpaid at the end of the
period. Settlement is usually made within 60 days.				

Superannuation

20

20

2

3

1

-

13

19

Income received in advance

231

150

Total other payables

267

192

Paid Parental Leave
Lease incentive

Liabilities for ‘short-term employee benefits and termination benefits expected within twelve months of the
end of reporting period are measured at their nominal amounts.
Other long-term employee benefits are measured as net total if the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period minus the fair value at the end of the reporting period of plan
assets (if any) out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.
Leave
The liability for employee benefits includes provision for annual leave and long service leave.
The leave liabilities are calculated on the basis of employees’ remuneration at the estimated salary rates that
will be applied at the time the leave is taken, including the entity’s employer superannuation contribution
rates to the extent that the leave is likely to be taken during service rather than paid out on termination.

2.3B: Other payables
Salaries and wages

ACCOUNTING POLICY

The liability for long service leave has been determined by reference to the shorthand method as per the FRR
and Commonwealth Entity Financial Statements Guide. The estimate of the present value of the liability takes
into account attribution rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation.
Superannuation
Employees of the Corporation are members of the Public Sector Superannuation Scheme (PSS), or the PSS
accumulation plan (PSSap), or other superannuation funds held outside the Australian Government.
The PSS is a defined benefit scheme for the Australian Government. The PSSap is a defined contribution
scheme.
The liability for defined benefits is recognised in the financial statements of the Australian Government and
is settled by the Australian Government in due course. This liability is reported in the Department of Finance’s
administered schedules and notes.

2.4: Other provisions

As at 1 July 2018
Amounts provided for
Amounts reversed
Total as at 30 June 2019

Provision for
restoration
$’000

Total
$’000

12

12

-

-

The liability for superannuation recognised as at 30 June represents outstanding contributions.

-

-

12

12

Accounting Judgements and Estimates
The liability for long service leave has been estimated using present value techniques in accordance with
the shorthand method as per FFR 24. This takes into account expected salary growth, attrition and future
discounting using Commonwealth bond rates.

The Corporation currently has 1 (2018:1) commitment for the leasing of premises which have provisions requiring the
Corporation to restore the premises to their original condition at the conclusion of the lease. The entity has made a
provision to reflect the present value of this obligation.				

The Corporation makes employer contributions to employee’s defined benefit superannuation scheme at
rates determined by an actuary to be sufficient to meet the current cost to the Government. The Corporation
accounts for the contributions as if they were contributions to defined contribution plans.
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3.2: Key management personnel remuneration

Termination
benefits

Total
remuneration

Position title

Bonuses

Other benefits
and allowances

Superannuation
contributions

Long service
leave

Other long-term
benefits

John Harvey

Managing Director

329,223

-

-

20,488

33,555

-

-

383,266

Michael Beer

General Manager,
Business
Development

175,746

-

-

16,633

18,695

-

-

211,074

Louise Heaslip

General Manager,
Corporate

174,177

-

-

26,823

19,103

-

-

220,103

Belinda Allitt

General Manager,
Communications &
Capacity Building

174,220

-

-

16,504

20,133

-

-

210,857

John Smith

General Manager,
Research

47,538

-

-

4,543

4,845

-

-

56,926

Related party relationships:

Kathryn Andrews

Director

35,883

-

-

3,408

-

-

-

39,291

The Corporation is an Australian Government controlled entity. Related parties to this entity are Directors and Executive
and other Australian Government entities.

Richard Clark

Director & Audit
Committee Member

40,725

-

-

3,868

-

-

-

44,593

Katrina
Fairley-Grenot

Director

20,971

-

-

1,992

-

-

-

22,963

Tony Hamilton

Director

35,877

-

-

3,408

-

-

-

39,285

Ian Henderson

Director & Audit
Committee Member

38,638

-

-

3,670

-

-

-

42,308

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term employee benefits
Termination benefits
Total key management personnel remuneration expenses

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

1,178

1,094

111

114

96

85

-

-

1,385

1,293

The total number of key management personnel that are included in the above table are 12 individuals
(2018: 16 individuals).
The above key management personnel remuneration excludes the remuneration and other benefits of the
Portfolio Minister. The Portfolio Minister’s remuneration and other benefits are set by the Remuneration Tribunal
and are not paid by the entity.				

Short-term
benefits
Name

Base salary

Other long-term
benefits

Post-employment
benefits

Executive remuneration reporting

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the Corporation, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the
Corporation. The Corporation has determined the key management personnel to be the Managing Director, seven
Directors and four General Managers. Key management personnel remuneration is reported in the table below:

3.3: Related party disclosures

Transactions with related parties:
Given the breadth of Government activities, related parties may transact with the government sector in the same capacity
as ordinary citizens. Such transactions include the payment or refund of taxes, receipt of a Medicare rebate or higher
education loans. These transactions have not been separately disclosed in this note.
The directors and key management personnel of the Corporation during the year were:
Mrs K Hull AM (Chair)

Dr K Andrews

Kay Hull

Chair

59,802

-

-

5,681

-

-

-

65,483

Mr I Henderson (Deputy Chair)

Mr J Harvey (Managing Director)

William Ryan

-

-

4,328

-

-

-

49,887

Mrs L Heaslip

Director & Audit
Committee Chair

45,559

Dr T Hamilton
Dr W Ryan

Ms B Allitt

1,178,359

-

-

111,346

96,331

-

- 1,386,036

Mr R Clark

Mr M Beer

Dr K Fairley Grenot (ceased 5 January 2019)

Mr J Smith (appointed 20 March 2019)

There were no transactions with related parties during the financial year which require disclosure in this note.

Total

Remuneration for the Chair and Directors is in accordance with the Remuneration Tribunal
(Remuneration and Allowances for Holders of Part-time Public Office) Determination 2018.
The Managing Director and General Managers are employed via an Executive Services Agreement with
remuneration grades approved by the Board.
There are no Senior Executives or Other Highly Paid Staff.
This disclosure has been prepared on an accruals basis.

Section 4

4. Managing uncertainties
4.1: Contingent liabilities and assets

182

Annual Report 2018-19

183

This section analyses how the Rural Industries Research
& Development Corporation manages financial risks
within its operating environment.

Quantifiable contingencies
As at 30 June 2019, the Corporation had no quantifiable contingencies (2018: nil).

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Financial liabilities

Unquantifiable contingencies

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:

As at 30 June 2019, the Corporation had no unquantifiable contingencies (2018: nil).

280

162

Research projects

1,351

932

Total financial liabilities

1,631

1,094

625

565

Suppliers

ACCOUNTING POLICY
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are not recognised in the statement of financial position but are
reported in the notes. They may arise from uncertainty as to the existence of a liability or asset or represent an
asset or liability in respect of which the amount cannot be reliably measured. Contingent assets are disclosed
when settlement is probable but not virtually certain and contingent liabilities are disclosed when settlement
is greater than remote.

4.2B: Net gains or losses on financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
Interest revenue
Impairment
Net gain from financial assets at amortised cost

(5)

-

620

565

4.2C: Net gains or losses on financial liabilities

4.2: Financial instruments

There is no gains or losses on financial liabilities for the period ending 30 June 2019 (2018: nil).
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

4.2A: Categories of financial instruments
Financial assets under AASB 139

ACCOUNTING POLICY

Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

4,280

Trade receivables

2,766

Total Loans and receivables

7,046

Held to maturity
Term deposits

17,000
17,000

Total financial assets under AASB 139

24,046

Financial assets under AASB 9

Financial assets
With the implementation of AASB 9 Financial Instruments for the first time in 2019, the Corporation
classifies its financial assets in the following categories:
a) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
b) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income; and
c) financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on both the Corporation’s business model for managing the financial assets
and contractual cash flow characteristics at the time of initial recognition. Financial assets are recognised
when the entity becomes a party to the contract and, as a consequence, has a legal right to receive or a legal
obligation to pay cash and derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire or are transferred upon trade date.
Comparatives have not been restated on initial application.

Financial assets at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents

4,718

Financial Assets at Amortised Cost

Trade receivables

3,253

Financial assets included in this category need to meet two criteria:

Term deposits

20,000

Total financial assets at amortised cost

27,971

Total financial assets

27,971

There were no changes to the carrying amounts of financial assets on the date of
initial application of AASB 9.

1. the financial asset is held in order to collect the contractual cash flows; and
2. the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal outstanding amount.
24,046

Amortised cost is determined using the effective interest method.
Effective Interest Method
Income is recognised on an effective interest rate basis for financial assets that are recognised at amortised cost.

Section 4

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are held with the objective of
both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets and the cash flows meet the SPPI test.
Any gains or losses as a result of fair value measurement or the recognition of an impairment loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income.
Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss where the financial
assets either doesn’t meet the criteria of financial assets held at amortised cost or at FVOCI (i.e. mandatorily
held at FVTPL) or may be designated.
Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest earned on the financial asset.
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4.3: Fair value measurement
ACCOUNTING POLICY
All property, plant and equipment are measured at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position.
When estimating fair value, market prices were used where available. Where market prices were not available,
depreciated replacement cost was used (ie level 3).
Level 3 measurements use inputs to estimate fair value where there are no observable market prices for the
assets being valued.
Valuations are conducted with sufficient frequency to ensure that the carrying amounts of assets do not differ
materially from the asset’s fair values as at the reporting date. The regularity of independent valuations depends
upon the volatility of movements in market values for the relevant assets.

Impairment of Financial Assets
Financial assets are assessed for impairment at the end of each reporting period based on Expected Credit
Losses, using the general approach which measures the loss allowance based on an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses where risk has significantly increased, or an amount equal to 12-month expected
credit losses if risk has not increased.
The simplified approach for trade, contract and lease receivables is used. This approach always measures the
loss allowance as the amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event where the write-off directly reduces the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ or other
financial liabilities. Financial liabilities are recognised and derecognised upon ‘trade date’.
Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent fair value
adjustments are recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any
interest paid on the financial liability.
Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost
Financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. These
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest
expense recognised on an effective interest basis.
Supplier and other payables are recognised at amortised cost. Liabilities are recognised to the extent that the
goods or services have been received.

Fair value measurements at
the end of the reporting period
4.3A: Fair value measurement

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

4,718

4,280

Trade and other receivables

3,253

2,766

20,000

17,000

128

133

Financial assets

Held-to-maturity investments
Non-financial assets
Plant and Equipment
Financial liabilities
Suppliers
Research projects

280

162

1,351

932

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

28,626

24,455

5.1: Aggregate assets and liabilities

Assets expected to be recovered in:
No more than 12 months
More than 12 months
Total assets

203

243

28,829

24,698

2,260

1,609

Liabilities expected to be settled in:
No more than 12 months
More than 12 months
Total liabilities

78

73

2,338

1,682
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Appendix 1:
Annual Performance
Statement

Appendix 2:
Environmental Performance
(including WH&S accountability)

Annual Performance Statement

Result against performance criterion

The Annual Performance Statements fulfil Section 39(1) (a)
of the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability
Act 2013 (PGPA Act) for the 2018-19 financial year and
accurately presents the entity’s performance in accordance
with Section 39(2) of the PGPA Act.

The Public Governance, Performance and
Accountability (PGPA) Rule 2014 and Department of
Finance Direction require entities to report against all
measures listed in the Research & Development Plan
and the Portfolio Budget Statements.

Our vision is to grow the long-term
prosperity of Australian rural industries

AgriFutures Australia delivered a suite of outcomes
that have fostered sustainable and productive new and
existing rural industries, and provided understanding of
national rural issues.

The development of this Strategic R&D Plan 2017-2022
involved an extensive stakeholder consultation process
during 2016-17 that considered:

Other outcomes are summarised in the Highlights &
Achievements of this Annual Report.

Annual Report 2018-19

Appendix 3:
RD&E Portfolio
(Statutory levy and industry sub-accounts)

Buffalo
2018-19
$

2017-18
$

4,433

17,605

34,371

52,445

193

206

13,795

2,674

52,792

72,930

15,929

30,000

-

-

Program management fees

2,666

5,028

Other expenses

5,370

3,672

Total expenses

23,965

38,700

28,827

34,230

Income

Commonwealth contributions
Statutory industry levies
Industry levy penalties

Analysis and insights on research achievements and
impacts

•

Current and past performance of the organisation

Total revenue

•

How the current and likely future rural industry
operating environment might influence research and
development investment

Expenses

Research priorities and preferences

•

Organisational structure, approaches and systems.

Revenue
Revenues from government

•

•

189

Other income

Research projects
External research management

In developing this revised Strategic R&D Plan 2017-2022,
AgriFutures Australia engaged in additional consultation,
including:
•

A series of seven face-to-face Regional Innovation
Conversations around Australia targeting
emerging leaders

•

Face-to-face meetings with our two declared
Representative Organisations – National Farmers’
Federation and the Australian Chicken Meat
Federation

Surplus/(deficit)
Retained surplus at beginning
of reporting period

103,206

68,976

Face-to-face meetings with a number of our other
key stakeholders.

Retained surplus at
end of reporting period

132,033

103,206

•

Section 5

190

Chicken Meat
2017-18
$

Revenue

Income

Revenues from government

2017-18
$

Revenue
Revenues from government

2,360,795

2,064,173

Commonwealth contributions

2,236

5,654

Statutory industry levies

1,296,895

1,321,058

Statutory industry levies

6,099

5,940

Industry levy penalties

777

192

8

17

External contributions

355,801

193,916

23,267

10,950

Other income

115,510

332,334

31,610

22,561

4,129,778

3,911,673
-

-

Program management fees

4,472

11,265

Other expenses

1,284

367

5,756

11,632

25,854

10,929

Retained surplus at beginning
of reporting period

401,079

390,150

Retained surplus at
end of reporting period

426,933

401,079

Industry levy penalties
Other income
Total revenue

Expenses
Research projects

4,335,152

3,858,332

33,045

43,245

-

-

Program management fees

220,653

190,000

Other expenses

145,350

105,325

4,734,200

4,196,902

Reference panel expenses
External research management

Total expenses

2018-19
$

Commonwealth contributions

Total revenue

Expenses

191

Deer
2018-19
$

Income

Annual Report 2018-19

Surplus/(deficit)

(604,422)

(285,229)

Retained surplus at beginning
of reporting period

2,657,296

2,942,525

Retained surplus at
end of reporting period

2,052,874

2,657,296

Total expenses

Surplus/(deficit)

External research management

Section 5
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Export Fodder
2017-18
$

Revenue

Income

Revenues from government

Retained surplus at beginning
of reporting period
Retained surplus at
end of reporting period

Revenue

569,815

470,613

Commonwealth contributions

134,760

159,095

Statutory industry levies

620,565

619,960

Statutory industry levies

268,873

331,877

Industry levy penalties

1,201

6,956

1,186

1,889

External contributions

150,000

140,000

11,898

5,831

Other income

278,578

314,424

416,717

498,692

1,620,159

1,551,953
221,200

280,809

Research projects

Industry levy penalties
Other income
Total revenue

Research projects

1,008,475

655,965

Reference panel expenses

10,132

2,318

Reference panel expenses

13,967

29,013

Program management fees

25,379

28,062

Program management fees

101,270

86,290

Other expenses

31,715

17,683

35,756

20,531

Total expenses

288,426

328,872

1,159,468

791,799
Surplus/(deficit)

128,291

169,820

Retained surplus at beginning
of reporting period

280,267

110,447

Retained surplus at end
of reporting period

408,558

280,267

Other expenses

Surplus/(deficit)

2017-18
$

Revenues from government

Expenses

Total expenses

2018-19
$

Commonwealth contributions

Total revenue

Expenses

193

Ginger
2018-19
$

Income

Annual Report 2018-19

460,691

2,286,948

2,747,639

760,154

1,526,794

2,286,948
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Goat Fibre
2017-18
$

Revenue

Income

Revenues from government
Commonwealth contributions
Statutory industry levies
Other income
Total revenue

Expenses

External research management
Program management fees
Other expenses

Total expenses

Surplus/(deficit)

195

Honey Bee and Pollination
2018-19
$

Income
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2018-19
$

2017-18
$

Commonwealth contributions

455,880

300,095

Statutory industry levies

290,539

288,745

Revenue
Revenues from government

1,179

940

12,290

21,100

7,696

4,584

Industry levy penalties

1,262

1,989

21,165

26,624

External contributions

20,000

75,000

Other income

59,224

34,300

826,905

700,129

745,539

474,470

Reference panel expenses

34,828

18,373

Program management fees

82,274

94,153

Other expenses

69,415

33,600

932,056

620,596

(105,151)

79,533

Retained surplus at beginning
of reporting period

399,728

320,195

Retained surplus at end
of reporting period

294,577

399,728

-

-

2,175

2,000

345

129

2,520

2,129

18,645

24,495

Retained surplus at beginning
of reporting period

183,209

158,714

Retained surplus at end
of reporting period

201,854

183,209

Total revenue

Expenses

Total expenses

Surplus/(deficit)

Research projects

Section 5
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Pasture Seeds

Kangaroo
2018-19
$
Income

Annual Report 2018-19

2017-18
$
Income

Revenue

Revenue

Commonwealth contributions

32,438

62,402

Commonwealth contributions

213,892

241,102

Statutory industry levies

48,112

52,578

Statutory industry levies

133,652

143,679

91

414

Industry levy penalties

118

-

16,999

10,873

External contributions

-

-

97,640

126,267

65,767

52,348

413,429

437,129

381,203

367,369

Industry levy penalties
Other income
Total revenue

Other income
Total revenue

Research projects
External research management
Program management fees
Other expenses

Total expenses

Surplus/(deficit)
Retained surplus at beginning
of reporting period
Retained surplus at end
of reporting period

2017-18
$

Revenues from government

Revenues from government

Expenses

2018-19
$

49,781

113,029

-

-

10,038

10,270

Reference panel expenses

21,154

25,393

8,856

5,818

Program management fees

56,984

47,746

68,675

129,117

Other expenses

28,651

24,083

Total expenses

487,992

464,591

Surplus/(deficit)

(74,563)

(27,462)

Retained surplus at beginning
of reporting period

570,172

597,634

Retained surplus at end
of reporting period

495,609

570,172

28,965

(2,850)

394,521

397,371

423,486

Expenses

Research projects

394,521
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Ratite
2017-18
$

Revenue

Income

Revenues from government
Commonwealth Contributions
Other income
Total revenue

Expenses
Total expenses
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Rice
2018-19
$

Income
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Research projects

2017-18
$

874,753

1,098,796

1,884,697

2,414,306

Revenue
Revenues from government

1,828

-

456

682

Statutory industry levies

2,284

682

External contributions

350,000

350,000

Other income

288,960

181,962

3,398,410

4,045,064

3,430,768

3,347,527

Reference panel expenses

37,219

19,621

Program management fees

199,170

201,561

12,001

106,912

Total expenses

3,679,158

3,675,621

Surplus/(deficit)

(280,748)

369,443

Retained surplus at beginning
of reporting period

3,926,055

3,556,612

Retained surplus at end
of reporting period

3,645,307

3,926,055

8,000

8,000

8,000

8,000

Commonwealth contributions

Total revenue

Expenses
Surplus/(deficit)

(5,716)

(7,318)

Retained surplus at beginning
of reporting period

18,543

25,861

Research projects

Other expenses
Retained surplus at end
of reporting period

2018-19
$

12,827

18,543
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Tea Tree Oil
2017-18
$

Revenue

2018-19
$

2017-18
$

449,514

158,195

-

-

Statutory industry levies

440,850

327,220

External Contributions

150,000

150,000

83,070

11,059

1,123,434

646,474

782,528

219,405

Reference panel expenses

20,967

17,050

Program management fees

85,938

90,000

Other expenses

15,499

15,734

Total expenses

904,932

342,189

Surplus/(deficit)

218,502

304,285

Retained surplus at beginning
of reporting period

506,031

201,746

Retained surplus at
end of reporting period

724,533

506,031

Income

Revenues from government
Commonwealth contributions

180,360

-

-

223,270

132,484

Industry levy penalties

424

258

External contributions

-

225,000

9,254

75,897

429,011

613,999

Statutory industry levies

Other income
Total revenue

Commonwealth contributions
Commonwealth appropriations

Other Income
Total revenue

Expenses

Total expenses

Surplus/(deficit)
Retained surplus at beginning
of reporting period
Retained surplus at
end of reporting period

Research projects

Revenue
Revenues from government

196,063

Commonwealth appropriations

Expenses
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Thoroughbred Horses
2018-19
$

Income
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337,797

385,460

Reference panel expenses

12,737

7,381

Program management fees

20,233

24,068

Other expenses

55,041

26,905

425,808

443,814

3,203

230,116

233,319

170,185

59,931

230,116

Research projects
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Appendix 5:
AgriFutures Australia
R&D Advisory Panels

Appendix 4:
Glossary

ABARES 			
Australian Bureau of Agricultural and
				
Resource Economics and Sciences
ABBA 			Australian Biomass for Bioenergy
Assessment
ACMF 			
Australian Chicken Meat
				
Federation Inc.
AECL 			
Australian Egg Corporation Limited
AFIA 			
Australian Fodder Industry
				
Association
AME 			
Apparent metabolisable energy
AOP 			
Annual Operational Plan
APL 			
Australian Pork Limited
APVMA 			
Australian Pesticides and Veterinary
				
Medicines Authority
AWI 			
Australian Wool Innovation
B/C
Benefit–cost
CCRSPI 			
Climate Change Research Strategy for
				
Primary Industries
CRC 			
Cooperative Research Centre
CRDC 			
Cotton Research and Development
				
Corporation
CSIRO
Commonwealth Scientific and
				
Industrial Research Organisation
DA 			
Dairy Australia
DAWR			
Department of Agriculture and
				
Water Resources
DEDJTR			Department of Economic
Development, Jobs, Transport and
Resources
DPI			
Department of Primary Industries
FSANZ 			
Food Standards Australia
				
New Zealand
ESD 			
Ecologically sustainable development
FOI Act 			
Freedom of Information Act 1982
FRR 			
Public Governance, Performance and
				
				
GIS 			
GRDC 			
				
GST 			
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Accountability (Financial Reporting)
Rule
Geographic information system
Grains Research and Development
Corporation
Goods and services tax

GVP 			
Gross value of production
IRR 			
Internal rate of return
MCV 			
Managing climate variability
MIRR
Modified internal rate of return
MLA 			
Meat & Livestock Australia
MOU 			
Memorandum of understanding
NFF 			
National Farmers’ Federation
NPV 			
Net present value
NRM 			
Natural resource management
OAIC
Office of the Australian Information
				
Commissioner
OECD 			
Organisation for Economic
				
Cooperation
				
and Development
PGPA Act 			
Public Governance, Performance and
				
Accountability Act 2013
PIRD Act 			
Primary Industries Research and
				
Development Act 1989
PSR 			Pythium soft rot
PVB
Present value of benefits
PVC 			Present value of costs
R&D 			Research and development
RD&E 			Research, development and extension
RD4P
R&D for Profit program
RDC 			 Research and development
				 corporation
RGA 			 Ricegrowers’ Association
RIRDC 			 Rural Industries Research and
				 Development Corporation
RWA			 Rural Women’s Award

Panels and Chairs at 30 June 2019
Chicken Meat
				
				
				
				
				
				

Sheridan Alfirevich
Katherine Balding
Peter Chrystal
Guy Hebblewhite (Chair)
Anthony Keyburn
Susy Klein
Greg Underwood

Export Fodder		
				
				
				
				
				

Peter Baker (Chair)
Sean Blechynden
Pat Guerin
Andrew Hayward
Munro Patchett
Steve Woods

Ginger
		
				
				
				
				
				

Nicole Christodoulou (Chair)
Jason Keating
Scott Kirkwood
Mike Smith
Henricus Stevens
Ethan Graham

Honey Bee 			
and Pollination
				
				
				
				
				
				

Dr Doug Somerville (Chair)
Tiffane Bates
Prof. Saul Cunningham
James Kershaw
Dr Diana Leemon
Danny Le Feuvre
Sam Malfroy
Ashley Zamek

Pasture Seeds
				
				
				
				

Lisa Anderson (Chair)
David Brown
Brian Field
Joe Cook
Dr Mary-Jane Rogers

Rice 			
				
				
				
				
				
				
				
				
				
				

Drew Braithwaite (Chair)
Michele Groat
Brian Dunn
Russell Ford
Laura Kaylock
Barry Kirkup
Garry Knagge
Dr Laurie Lewin
Dr Ben Ovenden
Antony Vagg
Dr Vito Burtardo

Tea Tree Oil			
				
				
				
				

Michael Flanagan (Chair)
Philip Butlin
Digby Gowns
Dee-Ann Prather Seccombe
Jerry Vanclay

Thoroughbred 		
Horses			
				
				
				

Nigel Perkins (Chair)
Catherine Chicken
Derek Field
Tas Rielley
Jacqueline Stewart
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Appendix 6:
Annual reporting requirements
(Legislative requirements)

AgriFutures Australia’s Annual Report complies with the
requirements of the Australian Government’s legislation,
which are set out below. The Acts are the:
•		 Primary Industries Research and
Development Act 1989
•		 Public Governance, Performance and
Accountability Act 2013
•		
Environment Protection and Biodiversity
Conservation Act 1999.

The Primary Industries Research
and Development (PIRD) Act 1989

Section 7: Representative organisations
1. T
 he Minister may, by notice published in the Gazette,
declare one or more specified organisations to be
representative organisations in relation to an R&D
Corporation or an R&D Council.
2. A
 declaration may be made in respect of an R&D
Corporation or an R&D Council at any time after the
making of regulations under Section 8 establishing
AgriFutures Australia or Council, even if the regulations
concerned are not in force at that time.
3. T
 he Minister must, in relation to each R&D Corporation
and each R&D Council, declare at least one organisation
to be a representative organisation.

Section 3: Objects

4.	
A declaration must be published on the Department’s
website as soon as practicable after it is made.

The objects of this Act are to:

Section 9: Establishment of AgriFutures Australia

a) 	Make provision for the funding and administration
of research and development relating to primary
industries with a view to:

1. AgriFutures Australia is established.

i.	increasing the economic, environmental and social
benefits to members of primary industries and to the
community in general by improving the production,
processing, storage, transport or marketing of the
products of primary industries
ii. 	Achieving the sustainable use and sustainable
management of natural resources
iii. 	Making more effective use of the resources and
skills of the community in general and the scientific
community in particular
iv. S
 upporting the development of scientific and
technical capacity
v. 	Developing the adoptive capacity of primary
producers
vi. 	Improving accountability for expenditure on research
and development activities in relation to primary
industries.
b)	Make provision for the funding and administration of
marketing relating to products of primary industries.

2.	
The regulations may specify the primary industries
or class of primary industries in respect of which
AgriFutures Australia is established.
Section 11: Functions
The functions of a R&D Corporation are:
a) 	To investigate and evaluate the requirements for
research and development in relation to the primary
industry or class of primary industries in respect of
which it was established and, on the basis of such
investigation and evaluation:
i. to prepare an R&D plan under Section 19
ii. to review and revise the plan
b) 	To prepare an Annual Operation Plan under Section 25
for each financial year.
c) 	To coordinate or fund the carrying out of R&D activities
that are consistent with the Annual Operational Plan
prepared by AgriFutures Australia and in force at the
time.
ia. has, during the period, contributed to the attainment
		 of the objects of this Act as set out in Section 3.
d) In respect of the grain industry or such other primary
industry or class of primary industries as is prescribed in
the regulations, particulars of sources and expenditure
of funds, including:
i. Commodity, cross commodity and regional 		
classifications
ii. Funds derived from transfer of assets, debts, 		
		 liabilities and obligations under Section 144.

The Public Governance, Performance and
Accountability Act 2013
The PGPA Act is the main legislation that specifies content
and standards for presentation of statutory authorities’
Annual Reports for parliamentary scrutiny.
Section 46 of the PGPA Act requires AgriFutures Australia
Directors to prepare an Annual Report each financial year
and to give it to the responsible Minister by 15 October.
d) To:
i. Monitor
ii. Evaluate
iii. 	Report to the Parliament, the Minister and its
representative organisations on: R&D activities
that are coordinated or funded, wholly or partly, by
AgriFutures Australia.
e) 	To disseminate and commercialise, and facilitate the
dissemination, adoption and commercialisation of the
results of research and development in relation to the
primary industry or class of primary industries in respect
of which AgriFutures Australia was established; and if a
levy attached to AgriFutures Australia has a marketing
component – to carry out marketing activities for the
benefit of the primary industry or class of primary
industries in respect of which the AgriFutures Australia
was established.
f)	Such other functions as are conferred on AgriFutures
Australia by this Act or any other Act.
Section 28: Annual Report

iv.	The entering into of agreements under Sections
13 and 14 during the period and its activities
during the period in relation to agreements
entered into under that section during or prior
to the period
v.	Its activities during the period in relation
to applying for patents for inventions,
commercially exploiting patented inventions
and granting licences under patented
inventions
vi.	The activities of any companies in which
AgriFutures Australia has an interest
vii.	Any activities relating to the formation of a
company
viii. Significant acquisitions and dispositions of real
		
property by it during the period.
b) 	An assessment of the extent to which its operations
during the period have:
i. 	Achieved its objectives as stated in its R&D plan
ii.	Implemented the Annual Operation Plan
applicable to the period.
c)	An assessment of the extent to which AgriFutures
Australia has, during the period, contributed to the
attainment of the objects of this Act as set out in
Section 3.
d)	In respect of the grain industry or such other
primary industry or class of primary industries as is
prescribed in the regulations, particulars of sources
and expenditure of funds, including:

1.	The Directors must include in each report on an R&D
Corporation prepared under Section 46 of the PGPA Act:

i.	Commodity, cross commodity and regional
classifications

a) Particulars of:

ii. F
 unds derived from transfer of assets, debts,
liabilities and obligations under Section 144.

i.	The R&D activities that it coordinated or funded,
wholly or partly, during the period
ia. 	If a levy attached to AgriFutures Australia has a
marketing component during the period – the
marketing activities that it coordinated or funded,
wholly or partly, during the period
ii. 	The amount that it spent during the period in
relation to each of those activities
iib.	The impact of those activities on the primary
industry or class of primary industries in respect
of which AgriFutures Australia was established
iii.	Revisions of its R&D plan or Annual Operation Plan
approved by the Minister during the period

The Public Governance, Performance
and Accountability Act 2013
The PGPA Act is the main legislation that specifies
content and standards for presentation of statutory
authorities’ Annual Reports for parliamentary scrutiny.
Section 46 of the PGPA Act requires AgriFutures
Australia Directors to prepare an Annual Report each
financial year and to give it to the responsible Minister
by 15 October.

Section 5
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Index of Annual Report requirements
Reference

Contractual/Legislation details

Yes

No N/A

Page

RDCs Funding Agreement 2015-19

Clause 11.10(a)

Contribution to the implementation of relevant Industry sector and cross-sectoral
strategies under the RD&E Framework

Reference

•

The rationale for the mix of projects included in the Balanced Portfolio

•

121

Clause 11.10(c)

Report on research extension activities

•

44, 45, 76, 80

Clause 11.10(d)

Collaboration with industry and other research providers

•

64

•

Clause 11.10(e)

Identify sources of income including separate identification of R&D Payments,
Commonwealth Matching Payments, other forms of income and Marketing Payments
and Voluntary Contributions

Clause 11.10(f)

Full cost of R&D and Marketing programs allocated in accordance with the Cost
Allocation Policy

•

Clause 11.10(g)

Progress in implementing R&D Plan including progress against KPIs and the
achievement of key deliverables and associated outcomes.

•

Clause 10.2(b)(iii)

For each program bring the KPIs in the R&D plan and AOP together and demonstrate
how the deliverables funded advanced the outcomes.

•

Clause 11.10(h)

Assessment of the efficiency and effectiveness of investments

•

8,9, 120, 121

Clause 11.10(i)

Progress in implementing the Guidelines1

•

121, 134, 135

Clause 11.10(j)

Consultation with the RO(s) on plans and activities

•

74, 208

Clause 11.10(k)

Other relevant matters notified to RDC by the Commonwealth

N/A

•

s17BB
s17BC

Report must comply must comply with the guidelines for presenting documents to
the Parliament.

•
•

s17BD

Report must be constructed having regard to the interests of the Parliament and
other users. Information included in the report must be relevant, reliable, concise,
understandable and balanced

s17BE (a) & (b)

Report must specify the enabling legislation and include a summary of its objects and
functions and the purpose of the entity (from R&D Plan)

•

s17BE (c)

Report must specify the name of the responsible Minister(s)

•
•

s17BE (d) & (e)

Report must provide details of:
- Directions issued under legislation by the responsible Minister, or other Minister
- General policy orders (GPO) that apply to the RDC under s22 (PGPA Act)-

s17BE (f)

Report must provide particular of any non compliance of a direction or GPO

•

s17BE (g)

Include a copy of relevant years annual performance statement (PGPA Act s39(1)(b)
and section 16F of PGPA Rule 2014)

s17BE (h)& (i)

Include a statement of any significant issue, and remedy action taken, reported to the
responsible Minister under s 19(1)(e) of the PGPA Act that relates to non compliance
with the finance law in relation to the entity.
•

s17BE (j)

Must include information about the directors including names, qualifications,
experience, attendance of board meetings, and whether the director is an executive or
non-executive director

s17BE (k) & (l)
(and s17BE (s))

Must provide an outline of the organisational structure, including subsidiaries*,
location of major activities and facilities and information on the main corporate
governance practices. (*Or an explanation on any missing information and how this
affects the annual report)

•

s17BE (m)

Must include information on the main corporate governance practices

•

s17BE (n) & (o)

Disclose the decision-making process undertaken by the board for related entity
transactions

•

s17BE (p)

Highlight significant activities and changes that affected the operations or structure
during the financial year

•

s17BE (q)

Include particulars of judicial decisions and, decisions of administrative tribunals

•

s17BE (r)

Include particulars of any report on the entity

•

s17BE (s)

Unable to obtain information from a subsidiary

s17BE (t)

Must include details of any indemnity given to the accountable authority, any member
of accountable authority or  officer against a liability, including premiums paid, or
agreed to be paid, for insurance against the authority, member or officer’s liability for
legal costs

S17BE (ta)

Must include information about the executive remuneration in accordance with
Subdivision 17C.

•

s17BE (u)

Must include an index identifying where the requirements of s17BE are to be found.

•

s17CA, s17CB,
s17CC

Must include a table each of the key management personnel, senior executive and
other highly paid staff of the entity with the following information: name; position tile;
base salary; bonuses; other benefits and allowances; superannuation contributions
(made by the entity); long service leave; other long-term benefits; termination
benefits; total remuneration, which must be the sum of the amounts included for the
purposes of paragraph (c) to (j).

s17CD

Must include the policies and practices of the entity regarding the remuneration of
key management personnel, senior executives and other highly paid staff, setting out
the governance arrangements under which they operate; and the basis on which the
remuneration has been determined.

s17CE

Must calculate executive remuneration amounts on an accrual basis for reporting,
unless found to be exempt.

123
121-133
9, 18-22, 188
18-25

•

s28(a)(i)

Report the particulars of the R&D activities that RDC co-ordinated or funded, wholly or
partly, during the period

s28(a)(ia)

Report the particulars of the marketing activities that RDC coordinated or funded, wholly
or partly, during the period

s28(a)(ii)

Report the amount spent in relation to R&D and marketing activities

s28(a)(iib)

Report the particulars of the impact of R&D and marketing activities on industry

s28(a)(iii)

Include particulars of revisions of the R&D Plan that have been approved by the Minister

s28(a)(iv)

Any agreements entered into under s13 and 14 of the PIRD Act and the activities in
relation to the agreements entered into during or prior to the period

s28(a)(v)

Activities in relation to applying for patents for inventions, commercially exploiting
patented inventions and granting licences under patented inventions

•

s28(a)(vi)

Activities of any companies in which the Corporation has an interest

•

S28(a)(vii)

Activities relating to the formation of a company

•

s28(a)(viii)

Significant acquisitions and dispositions of real property (land and buildings)

•

s28(b)

Include an assessment of the extent to which RDC’s operations during the period have
achieved its objectives as stated in its R&D plan; and implemented the AOP

•

28-185
•
120-126

•

120, 128-133
•

•

148

205

6, 145, 147,
202

•

s28(d)

Particulars of sources and expenditure of funds, including commodity, cross commodity
and regional classifications; and funds derived from transfer under s144

s141(1A)

Subject to agreement between the Presiding Member of the Selection Committee and the
RDC Chair include committee’s annual report as a discrete part of RDC’s annual report

•

S 143(2)

Particulars of any directions given by the Minister in a financial year must be included in
the annual report

•

121 - 133

150

Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013
s39(1)(b)

Include a copy of the annual performance statements

•

161, 188

s43(4)

Include a copy of the annual financial statements and the Auditor General’s report

•

158-201

s46(3)

The annual report must comply with any requirements prescribed by the rules

‘‘Guidelines’ for the 2018-19 Annual Report are the Rural RD&E Priorities, the Science and Research Priorities and the Levy Principles and
Guidelines in relation to the introduction of new levies or changes to existing levies (if applicable).
1

No

Report must be approved and signed by accountable authority and include details of
how and when approval was given and state that accountable authority is responsible
for the preparation and contents of the Annual Report (as required in section 46 of the
PGPA Act and in accordance with the Finance Minister’s Orders)

Primary Industries Research and Development Act 1989

An assessment of the extent to which RDC has, contributed to the attainment of the
objects of the PIRD Act.

Yes

Page

Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Rule 2014
14, 24, 25, 40,
41, 66, 106,
121

Clause 11.10(b)

s28(c)

Contractual/Legislation details

6, 160
All

All
6, 204-205
9

•

136-147

142-143
146-151
147

149
181
206-207

181
•
181
181

Section 5

208

Appendix 7:
Service charter

Notes

Enabling legislation and the Board

Primary clients

AgriFutures Australia’s enabling legislation is the Primary
Industries Research and Development Act 1989 (the PIRD
Act 1989). The AgriFutures Australia Board is accountable
to the Parliament of Australia through the Minister for
Agriculture. It:

•		 For AgriFutures Australia-related industries, all
participants in the marketing chain (producers,
processors, distributors and consumers)

•		 Sets strategic direction and establishes policies for
AgriFutures Australia
•		Oversees operational and functional performance
against budget and other key performance indicators
on behalf of stakeholders.

Core business
To facilitate a more profitable, dynamic and sustainable
rural sector by maximising the knowledge outcomes
from our R&D investments for Australian industries and
government in:
•		 New and emerging industries
•		 Established rural industries

•		 On AgriFutures Australia’s strategic cross-sectoral
program, the National Farmers’ Federation on behalf
of all rural industries.

Industry consultations
Communications channels between AgriFutures Australia
and rural industries meet two essential functions:
accountability and bringing industry influence to bear on
the research agenda. At the peak industry level, AgriFutures
Australia is accountable to the:
•		 National Farmers’ Federation
•		 Australian Chicken Meat Federation
AgriFutures Australia is committed to working with industry
to deliver research and development outcomes. We work
in partnership with Advisory Panels to decide on research
priorities and to make RD&E investment decisions.

•		 National rural issues.
Core principles in AgriFutures Australia’s approach to its
mandate are:
•		 Collaboration – AgriFutures Australia consults widely
with its industry and government stakeholders to
determine investment strategies and priorities and
seeks strong collaborative arrangements with other
funding partners and research providers where this
can enhance outcomes
•		 Facilitation – AgriFutures Australia facilitates more
effective use of community and scientific expertise in
the creation of new knowledge and its adoption
•		Innovation – AgriFutures Australia invests in
innovative solutions to the problems and constraints
facing its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders
•		 The Australian Government on behalf of rural
industries and taxpayers
•		Industry funders
•		The Australian community.

Reporting to stakeholders
There are four key accountability documents for
stakeholders:
•  A five-year Corporate Plan that sets out strategies,
directions and performance indicators for
AgriFutures Australia
•		Five-year RD&E plans for each industry program
within new and emerging industries, established rural
industries and national rural issues
•		An Annual Operational Plan that sets out yearly
objectives to give effect to the five-year Corporate
Plan, five-year industry plans, the annual budget and
annual research priorities
•		The Annual Report, which sets out achievements
against objectives, budgets and administration costs.

Notes

AgriFutures Australia
Building 007
Tooma Way
Charles Sturt University
Locked Bag 588
Wagga Wagga NSW 2650

02 6923 6900
info@agrifutures.com.au

agrifutures.com.au

